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or
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Commission File Number 000-15006
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefAct:

Title of Class: Name of Each Exchange on Which Registere

Common Stock, par value $.0 NASDAQ Global Marke'

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghe”ct:None
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Indicate by check mark whether the regidthas submitted electronically and posted ocdtporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedigribnths
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(Do not check if a
smaller reporting compan
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The aggregate market value of the regisg@ommon stock held by non-affiliates as of J80e2012 was $303.2 million. Exclusion of
shares held by any person should not be constouedicate that such person possesses the powett di indirect, to direct or cause the
actions of the management or policies of the reyist or that such person is controlled by or urid@nmon control with the registrant.
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Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:  This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains
forward-looking statements made pursuant to the lsafbor provisions of the Private Securities latign Reform Act of 1995 under
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as ameelndnd Section 21E of the Securities ExchangeofAt934, as amended. Forward-looking
statements include statements with respect to eliefb, plans, objectives, goals, expectationscgations, assumptions, estimates, intentions
and future performance, and involve known and umkngdsks, uncertainties and other factors, whicly to@ beyond our control, and which
may cause our actual results, performance or aeirients to be materially different from future résuberformance or achievements expre
or implied by such forward-looking statements. gthtements other than statements of historicaldi@cstatements that could be forward-
looking statements. You can identify these forwlmimking statements through our use of words sucimay," "will," "can," "anticipate,"
"assume," " would," "believegontemplate,” "expect,” "seek," "estimate," "dgooe," "plan,” "point to," "project,"”
"predict," " " "potentiabind other similar words and expressions of tharéut

should,"” "indicate,

could," "intend," "target,

There are a number of important factors toald cause the actual results to differ matrfabm those expressed in any forward-looking
statement made by us. These factors include, butatrlimited to:

. our ability to raise sufficient capital to fund oelinical studies to meet our long-term liquiditgads, on terms acceptable to us,
or at all;
. our ability to successfully complete researct amther development, including animal, preclihiaad clinical studies, and

commercialization of rindopepimut, CDB&t1 and other drug candidates and the growth ofitwdxets for those drug candidal
. our ability to manage multiple clinical trials farvariety of drug candidates at different stagedeselopment, including our
Phase 3 trial for rindopepimut;

. the cost, timing, scope and results of ongoafgty and efficacy trials of rindopepimut, CDX-0414d other preclinical and
clinical testing;

. our ability to fund and complete the developmernt e@mmercialization of rindopepimut for North Anmeiinternally;

. the ability to negotiate strategic partnershipserghappropriate, for our programs which may inclidéopepimut outside of
North America;

. our ability to adapt our proprietary antibody-tasgktechnology, or APC Targeting Technology™, teedep new, safe and
effective therapeutics for oncology and infectidisease indications;

. our ability to develop technological capabilitiend expand our focus to broader markets for tedgenmunotherapeutics;

. the availability, cost, delivery and quality dinical and commercial grade materials producediryown manufacturing facility

or supplied by contract manufacturers and partners;

. the availability, cost, delivery and quality ofrdlial management services provided by our clinieséarch organization partne
. the timing, cost and uncertainty of obtaining regotty approvals for our drug candidates;
. our ability to develop and commercialize produstfore competitors that are superior to thersdtres developed by such

competitors;
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the validity of our patents and our ability to adantellectual property litigation, which can bestg and divert management tii
and attention; and

the factors listed under "Risk Factors" in this AahReport on Form 10-K.

All forward-looking statements are exprgsglalified in their entirety by this cautionarytioe. You are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on any forward-looking statements, whisbak only as of the date of this report or the datbe document incorporated by reference
into this report. We have no obligation, and exgiyedisclaim any obligation, to update, revise orrect any of the forwartboking statement:
whether as a result of new information, future ésem otherwise. We have expressed our expectati@iefs and projections in good faith ¢
we believe they have a reasonable basis. Howewecanwnot assure you that our expectations, bargisojections will result or be achievec

accomplished.
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PART |
ltem 1. BUSINESS
Overview
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., which we reéeas "Celldex," "we," "us," "our" or the "Compahjs a biopharmaceutical company focused

on the development and commercialization of severalunotherapy technologies for the treatment oteaand other difficult-to-treat
diseases. Our drug candidates are derived fromadtset of complementary technologies which hagaliility to utilize the human immune
system and enable the creation of therapeutic agdére are using these technologies to developteEdgmmunotherapeutics comprised of
antibodies, adjuvants and monotherapies and antidngy conjugates that prevent or treat cancercdinelr diseases that modify undesirable
activity by the body's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepi(f@DX-110), a targeted immunotherapeutic in afEl/Phase 3 study for the treatment of
front-line glioblastoma and a Phase 2 study fortteatment of recurrent glioblastoma and CDX-0Xlaatibodydrug conjugate which recen
completed a randomized Phase 2b study for themiegdtof advanced breast cancer. In addition, we bawmber of earlier stage candidate
clinical development, including CDX-1135, a moleztiat inhibits a part of the immune system calfedcomplement system, CDX-1127, a
therapeutic fully human monoclonal antibody for @anindications, CD>X301, an immune cell mobilizing agent and dendad&tt growth facto
and CDX-1401, an APC Targeting Technology™ progfantancer indications. Our drug candidates addresket opportunities for which
we believe current therapies are inadequate oreméstent.

We are building a fully integrated, commakstage biopharmaceutical company that develogoitant therapies for patients with unmet
medical needs. Our program assets provide us hatistrategic options to either retain full econongbts to our innovative therapies or seek
favorable economic terms through advantageous caoomh@artnerships. This approach allows us to méze the overall value of our
technology and product portfolio while best ensgtine expeditious development of each individuabpct.

The following table includes the prograimattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
CDX-110 Front-line glioblastoma —  Phase 3
(rindopepimut)
CDX-011 Metastatic breast cancer and melanoma — Phase 2b
(glembatumumab vedotil
CDX-110 Recurrent glioblastoma —  Phase 2
(rindopepimut)
CDX-1135 Renal diseas —  Pilot
CDX-1127 Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc —  Phase:
CDX-301 Cancer, autoimmune disease and trans| —  Phase:
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors —  Phase:
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc — Preclinical

Our success has depended and will contmdepend upon many factors, including our abikiyd that of our licensees and collaborators
to successfully develop, obtain regulatory appréeabnd commercialize our drug candidates. We lieateno commercial revenues from s:
of our drug candidates and we have had a histoopefating losses. It is possible that we may eatlile to

1
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successfully develop, obtain regulatory approvabfocommercialize our drug candidates, and wesabgect to a number of risks that you
should be aware of before investing in us. Thedesrare described more fully in "ltem 1A. Risk feast"

We are incorporated in Delaware. Our wehisilocated attp://www.celldextherapeutics.co@n our website, investors can obtain, free
of charge, a copy of our Annual Report on Form J@karterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repantg-orm 8-K, and other reports filed
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(dhefExchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soorassrably practicable after we file such
material electronically with, or furnish it to, ti8ecurities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Nétieeanformation posted on our website is
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Our lead clinical development program, dpepimut, is a targeted immunotherapeutic thaetarthe tumor-specific molecule, epidermal
growth factor receptor variant Ill, or EGFRvIII. E@VIII is a mutated form of the epidermal growthtfa receptor, or EGFR, that is only
expressed in cancer cells and not in normal tiasecan directly contribute to cancer cell grov&&FRVIII is expressed in approximately 3
of glioblastoma, or GB, tumors, also referred tgksblastoma multiforme, or GBM, the most commandl aggressive form of brain cancer.
Rindopepimut is composed of the EGFRVIII pepticddid to a carrier protein called Keyhole Limpet Heyanin, or KLH, and administered
together with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDxdministration, or FDA, and the European Medisidgency, or EMA, have both
granted orphan drug designation for rindopepimutte treatment of EGFRvIII expressing GB. The Fb&s also granted Fast Track
designation.

In April 2008, we and Pfizer Inc. enteratbia License and Development Agreement under whifider was granted an exclusive
worldwide license to rindopepimut. This agreemeant/med for reimbursement by Pfizer of all costsurred by us in connection with the
collaboration since the effective date. In Noveni@t0, the agreement was terminated and all rightsiddopepimut were returned to us. Si
the termination of this agreement, Pfizer is ngkmfunding the development of rindopepimut.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetweats ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investiget at the Brain Center at Duke
Comprehensive Cancer Center in Durham, North Gaaaind at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houstera$ and enrolled 18 evaluable
GB patients. An extension of the Phase 2a studyned to as ACT Il evaluated 22 additional GB p#tdreated in combination with the
current standard of care, maintenance temozolorordéMZ, at the same two institutions.

We initiated ACT lll, a Phase 2b/3 randoadistudy of rindopepimut combined with standardaske, TMZ, versus standard of care alone
in patients with GB in over 30 sites throughout theted States. In December 2008, we announcedn@m@ment to convert the ACT Il study
to a single-arm Phase 2 clinical trial in whichtients were to receive rindopepimut in comboratvith TMZ. The decision, which followed
the recommendation of the Independent Data Momigo@ommittee, was based on the observation thah#jerity of patients randomized to
the control (standard of care) arm withdrew froiis thpen-label study after being randomized to thatrol arm. Patients participating in the
control arm of the study were offered the optiomgceive treatment with rindopepimut. Under thissadment, the ACT Il study provided for
a multi-center, non-randomized dataset for rindapepin patients with newly diagnosed GB.

2
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In November 2012, we announced three-ya@aisal data for each of our three Phase 2 studiemdopepimut, ACT IIl, ACT Il and
ACTIVATE. The median overall survival, or OS, in AGIl was 24.6 months from diagnosis (21.8 montiest study entry) and OS was 26%
at three years. The median OS in ACT Il was 24.4thfrom diagnosis (20.5 months from study erdinyd OS was 23% at three years. The
median OS in ACTIVATE was 24.6 months from diagsd&0.4 months from study entry) and OS was 33%rae years. In addition we also
announced data from a retrospective analysis of lBEFexpression status and associated clinicat@mie in the Phase 3 Radiation Therapy
Oncology Group's, or RTOG, 0525 study. This analysis conducted by The University of Texas MD AsdarCancer Center in cooperation
with RTOG to provide an assessment of the progrfosigatients with EGFRvIII-positive disease conpamary with the ACT Ill data. Across
three Phase 2 studies of rindopepimut, surviva danains consistent and suggests a continuingvalibenefit in comparison to independent
control datasets (see chart below) at the medidraathree years.

Rindopepimut Overall Survival (OS) in EGFRuvIII-Positive Glioblastoma vs Independent Control Datasets

Rindopepimut Phase 2 Studies (all data from studyrgry)

Medium OS at

(months) 3 years
ACT Il (n=65) 21.¢ 26%
ACT Il (n=22) 20.5 23%
ACTIVATE (n=18) 20.4 33%

Independent Control Datasets (all data from study etry)

MD Anderson EGFRuvIII-positive patients matched@MCTIVATE patient

population (n=17(contemporary with ACTIVATE 12.2(2) 6%
Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 0525 study-=EGFRuvIII-

positive patients (n=14‘(contemporary with ACT III 15.1 18%
RTOG 0525 study—all EGFRvIII-positive patients texzhwith standard dos

temozolomide (n=62(contemporary with ACT Il 14.2 7%
RTOG 0525 study—EGFRVIlI-positive patients matcigdo ACT 1I/IV

patient population (n=2¢contemporary with ACT llI 16 13%

Q) Controls are closely matched to rindopepimut patieiteria including gross total resection of patimimor and
~3 months without disease progression at timeumfysentry

(2) In order to provide comparable timeframes acrosssgiés, data have been estimated assuming stugya¢three months
from diagnosis

In December 2011, we initiated ACT IV, &qil, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phastu8ly of rindopepimut in patients with
surgically resected, EGFRvIII-positive GB. Patieaits randomized after the completion of surgerystaddard chemoradiation treatment. The
treatment regime includes a rindopepimut priminggghpost-radiation followed by an adjuvant TMZ ghasd a rindopepimut maintenance
therapy phase. Patients are treated until diseagggssion or intolerance to therapy. The primdnjgctive of the study is to determine whethel
rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-CSF improves the allesurvival of patients with newly diagnosed EGHRyositive GB after Gross Total
Resection, or GTR, when compared to treatment WillZ and a control injection of KLH. KLH is a compent of rindopepimut and was
selected due to its ability to generate a simit@gdtion site reaction to that observed with ringleimut. ACT 1V will enroll up to 440 patients
over 150 centers worldwide to recruit approximat@fy patients with GTR to be included in the

3
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primary analysis. We expect to complete patientwaddy the end of 2013 and anticipate receivingd8 to 24 months after completing
accrual. We anticipate ACT IV to cost over $60 roill during its duration.

In December 2011, we also initiated ReA&Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witastin® in patients with recurrent
EGFRuvIlI-positive GB. ReACT will enroll approximately 95 patts in a first or second relapse of GB follownegeipt of standard therapy ¢
will be conducted at approximately 20 sites actbesUnited States. Approximately 70 patients wheehget to receive Avastin will be
randomized to receive either rindopepimut and Awmast a control injection of KLH and Avastin in éifded fashion. Another 25 patients who
are refractory to Avastin having received Avastireither the frontline or recurrent setting witbsequent progression will receive
rindopepimut plus Avastin in a single treatment aWie expect data from this study to be availablénénsecond half of 2013.

In addition, researchers at Stanford Ursiitgrare conducting an investigator sponsoredt pilal of rindopepimut in pediatric patients
with pontine glioma. Patient enrollment is ongofogthis trial.

Glembatumumab Vedotin (CDX-011)

CDX-011 is an antibody-drug conjugate, @@ that consists of a fully-human monoclonal amdiyp, CR011, linked to a potent cell-
killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin E, or MMAE. Ti&R011 antibody specifically targets glycoproteib B, referred to as GPNMB, that is
expressed in a variety of human cancers includiegdi cancer and melanoma. The ADC technology, asathof MMAE and a stable linker
system for attaching it to CR011, was licensed f@mattle Genetics, Inc. The ADC is designed totdlels in the bloodstream. Following
intravenous administration, CDX-011 targets andlbito GPNMB and upon internalization into the téedecell, CDX-011 is designed to
release MMAE from CRO11 to produce a cell-killinffeet. The FDA has granted Fast Track designatioBDX-011 for the treatment of
advanced, refractory/resistant GPNMB-expressingdireancer.

Treatment of Breast Cancer: In June 2008, an open-label, multi-center PA&3atudy was initiated of CDX-011 administered
intravenously once every three weeks to patientls cally advanced or metastatic breast cancer latbreceived prior therapy (median of
seven prior regimens). The study began with a brgighase to confirm the maximum tolerated dos®&)®D, and then expanded into a
Phase 2 open-label, multi-center study.

The study confirmed the safety of CDX-011h& pre-defined maximum dose level (1.88 mg/kdfj patients. An additional 28 patients
were enrolled in an expanded Phase 2 cohort (fotahof 34 treated patients at 1.88 mg/kg, thesBladose) to evaluate the PFS rate at
12 weeks. As previously seen in melanoma pati¢éimts].88 mg/kg dose was well tolerated in thisgratpopulation with the most common
adverse events of rash, alopecia, and fatigue pfilary activity endpoint, which called for at Ie&sof 25 (20%) patients in the Phase 2 study
portion to be progression-free at 12 weeks, wasané& of 26 (35%) evaluable patients were progmassee at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximumedesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/2@)raedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of
10 patients had "triple negative disease," a mgggessive breast cancer subtype that carries arisiglf relapse and reduced survival as well
as limited therapeutic options due to lack of oeepression of HER2/neu, estrogen and progestesmaptors. In these patients, 78% (7/9) ha
some tumor shrinkage, 12-week PFS rate was 709%)(7hd median PFS was 17.9 weeks. Tumor samplesdrsubset of patients across all
dose groups were analyzed for GPNMB expressiontiimer samples from most patients showed evidehsgamal and/or tumor cell
expression of GPNMB.

In December 2011, we completed enrollmé@MERGE, a randomized, multi-center Phase 2b stfdyDX-011 in 122 patients with
heavily pre-treated, advanced, GPNMB positive kireascer.
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Patients were randomized (2:1) to receive eitheK@D1 or single-agent Investigator's Choice, ordliemotherapy. Patients randomized to
receive IC were allowed to cross over to receiveXdIll following disease progression. Activity endyse include response rate, PFS and OS

In December 2012, we announced final resakt shown below, from the EMERGE study which sstgy that CDX-011 induces
significant response rates compared to currenijl@ve therapies in patient subsets with advanedthctory breast cancers with GPNMB
over-expression (expression in greater than 258mbr cells) and in patients with triple negativedst cancer. The overall survival, or OS,
and progression free survival, or PFS, of patitnested with CDX-011 was also observed to be gs¢atepatients with triple negative breast
cancer who also over-express GPNMB and all patieitts GPNMB over-expression.

EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldba

On target effect clearly demonstratec
in targeted patient populations
Triple Negative

GPNMB and GPNMB
All Patients Triple Negative Over-Expression Over-Expression
CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC
(n=81) (n=36) (n=27) (n=9) (n=25) (n=8) (n=12) (n=4)
Responsi 16% 114% 19% 0% 32% 13% 33% 0%
Disease
Control
Rate 57% 53% 67% 33% 64% 38% 75% 25%

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's GhdxDX-011 arm includes 15 patients who crossed toveeceive CDX-011
treatment after progression on IC. Analysis of lmesponse excludes patients who discontinued ftody svithout evaluable
pos-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for C[-011 arm; n=5 for IC arm)

EMERGE: Overall Survival (OS) and Progression FreeSurvival (PFS) Data

On target effect clearly demonstratec
in targeted patient populations
Triple Negative

GPNMB and GPNMB
All Patients Triple Negative QOver-Expression Over-Expression
CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC
Median OS
(months) 7.5 7.4 6.9 6.5 10.0 5.7 10.0 55
p=0.24 p=0.30 p=0.18 p=0.003
Median PFS
(months) 2.1 2.C 2.3 1.€ 2.7 1.t 3.0 15
p=0.38 p=0.43 p=0.14 p=0.008

Analyses include all treated patients. Patients iitially received Investigator's Choice (IC) asdbsequently crossed over to
receive CDX-011 (n=15) are included in the PFS gni for each treatment. These patients, with aiame@S of 12.5 months,
are assigned to the IC arm only for OS analysisdislie OS for the remaining IC patients who did naiss over is 5.4 months.
When cross over patients are removed, median @8&tients with GPNMB over-expression is 10.0 mofdh€DX-011 vs

5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and median OS in tripkgative patients with GPNMB over-expression i§ b@onths for CDX-011
vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.00¢

In December 2012, we had our end of Phhsa&eting with the FDA for our CDX-011 program. Bd®n this meeting, we intend to
initiate a randomized study of CDX-011 suitable docelerated
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approval in patients with triple negative breastaza that also over-express GPNMB in the seconfdoi@013.

One lot of our CDX-011 product candidatesvageptically filled in 2009 by Formatech, a thpedty contract manufacturer. At the end of
January 2012, we were notified by the FDA that beeasignificant Good Manufacturing Practice, or d&Miolations were uncovered during
inspection of Formatech, our Phase 2b study for @RX was being placed on partial clinical hold. Eheical hold did not significantly
impact the conduct or analysis of the Phase 2lydtrdourposes of determining next steps in ouneiidevelopment of CDX-011. In March
2013, we received written confirmation from the FEWat the clinical hold was removed following thesview of our clinical hold response
regarding reprocessing of the CDX-011 manufactatedebrmatech.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: In 2009, we completed enrollment of 117 paénta Phase 1/2 open-label, multi-center, dose
escalation study to evaluate the safety, tolettgdind pharmacokinetics of CDX-011 for patientdwmih-resectable Stage Il or Stage IV
melanoma who had failed no more than one priordingytotoxic therapy. The MTD was determined toll@8 mg/kg administered
intravenously once every three weeks. The studieaet its primary activity objective with an ORRthe Phase 2 cohort of 15% (5/34).
Median PFS was 3.9 months. CDX-011 was generallytalerated, with the most frequent treatmeelfated adverse events being rash, fati
hair loss, pruritus, diarrhea and neuropathy. éndibset of patients with tumor biopsies, highlleweétumor expression of GPNMB appeared
to correlate with favorable outcome. In the sevatiepts whose tumors were found to express highuatsmf GPNMB, and who were treated
at the maximum tolerated doses across all dosingdsdes, median PFS was 4.9 months. The developsheasgh, which may be associated
with the presence of GPNMB in the skin also seetoembrrelate with greater PFS.

We intend to initially focus our resoura@sadvancing CDX-011 for the treatment of breasteawhile pursuing further development of
CDX-011 in melanoma and other indications thatkan@wvn to express GPNMB.

CDX-1135

CDX-1135 is a molecule that inhibits a pErthe human immune system called the complemestés. The complement system is a
series of proteins that are important initiatorshaf body's acute inflammatory response againetdes infection and injury. Excessive
complement activation also plays a role in somsip@nt inflammatory conditions. CDX-1135 is a $téuform of naturally occurring
Complement Receptor 1 that has been shown to trthibiactivation of the complement cascade in ahinwalels and in human clinical trials.
In preclinical studies, CDX-1135 has been showimhdbit both the classical and alternative pathwafysomplement activation.

Dense Deposit Disease, or DDD, is a ratedmvastating disease that is caused by uncordratigvation of the alternative pathway of
complement and leads to progressive kidney dammagkildren. There is currently no treatment foriguats with DDD and about half progress
to end-stage renal disease within 10 years. BedaD&erecurs in virtually all patients who receivé&idney transplant, transplantation is not a
viable option for these patients. In animal mod€l®DD, CDX-1135 treatment showed evidence of reakof kidney damage.

Initial experience under an investigatasrsgored IND indicated that CDX-1135 limits complerhabnormalities in DDD. In 2011, we
completed process development activities and irl 20 2012 we manufactured multiple runs of cGMRal drug product at our Fall River
manufacturing facility in preparation for our Ph&spilot study. We are planning to initiate a pgbdidy of CDX-1135 in a small number of
DDD patients to determine the appropriate doseraginen for further clinical development based afety, tolerability and biological activity
with data expected by the end of 2013.
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CDX-1127

CDX-1127 is a human monoclonal antibody thegets CD27, a potentially important targetifomunotherapy of various cancers. We
have entered into license agreements with the Wsityeof Southampton, UK for intellectual propersgtated to uses of anti-CD27 antibodies
and with Medarex (now a subsidiary of the Bristojévls Squibb Company) for access to the UltiMabretdgy to develop and commercialize
human antibodies to CD27. CD27 acts downstream f£@40 and may provide a novel way to regulate tm@iine responses. CD27 is a co-
stimulatory molecule on T cells and is over-expedss certain lymphomas and leukemias. CDX-112hisgonist antibody designed to have
two potential therapeutic mechanisms. CDX-1127H®en shown to activate immune cells that can tangételiminate cancerous cells in
tumor-bearing mice and to directly kill or inhiltite growth of CD27 expressing lymphomas and leukenmi vitro and in vivo. Both
mechanisms have been seen even at low doses iopajape preclinical models.

In November 2011, we initiated an open lath@ese-escalating Phase 1 study of CDX-1127 ireptt with selected malignant solid tumors
or hematologic cancers at multiple clinical siteshie United States. The Phase 1 study is desigrtedt five escalating doses of CDX-1127 to
determine a Phase 2 dose for further developmesgichan safety, tolerability, potential activity antmunogenicity. The study will accrue
approximately 30 patients in each of the two amither selected refractory or relapsed solid tunsolgmphomas or leukemias known to
express CD27. Patients will have received all appate prior therapies for their specific disea®®e trial design incorporates both single
dosing and multiple dosing regimens at each dos#.IEnrollment has completed in the Phase 1 podfdhe solid tumor arm and CDX-1127
was determined to be well tolerated to date, inoly@t the highest dose level. Following a reviduwhe clinical data from these patients, an
expansion cohort will be enrolled in 2013. We coué to enroll patients in the dose escalation pomif the lymphoma and leukemia arm and
also plan the initiation of an expansion cohorthig arm in 2013. We anticipate reporting data ftbm CDX-1127 program in the second half
of 2013.

CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3aligl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendritidl ggowth factor. We licensed CDX01 from
Amgen in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hematajpoizytokine that stimulates the expansion ancedéffitiation of hematopoietic
progenitor and stem cells. CDX-301 has demonstrat@tique capacity to increase the number of @tind dendritic cells in both laboratory
and clinical studies. In addition, CDX-301 has shampressive results in models of cancer, infectidiseases and inflammatory/autoimmune
diseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold significguastunity for synergistic development in combioativith other proprietary molecules in
our portfolio.

In February 2013, we announced final resuim our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDXH#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration
with Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study aa&dd seven different dosing regimens of CDX-30det@rmine the appropriate dose for
further development based on safety, tolerabidityd biological activity. The data from the studyr@veonsistent with previous clinical
experience and demonstrated that CDX-301 was wiktdted and can effectively mobilize hematopoistém cell populations in healthy
volunteers. Based on the safety profile and theeames observed for CD34+ stem cells and dendetis, we plan to initiate a pilot study in
hematopoietic stem cell transplant by the end 4320
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CDX-1401

CDX-1401, developed from our APC Targefireghnology, is a fusion protein consisting of dyflluman monoclonal antibody with
specificity for the dendritic cell receptor, DEC80inked to the NY-ESO-1 tumor antigen. In humad¥;ESO-1 has been detected in 20 -
30% of all melanoma, lung, esophageal, liver,rgggtrostate, ovarian and bladder cancers, thugsenting a broad opportunity. This proc
is intended to selectively deliver the NY-ESGntigen to dendritic cells for generating rokimghune responses against cancer cells expre
NY-ESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the treatneémalignant melanoma and a variety of solid tusn@hich express the proprietary
cancer antigen NY-ESO-1, which we licensed fromlLthdwig Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Bn@al studies have shown that CDX-
1401 is effective for activation of human T celbpenses against NY-ESO-1.

In October 2012, we announced results facioese-escalating, multi-center, Phase 1 studyetreduiated three different doses of CDX-
1401 in combination with toll-like receptor agosigioly-ICLC or Hiltonol™ and/or R848 or resiquimdd.total, the study enrolled 45 patients
with advanced malignancies that had progressedafieavailable curative and/or salvage theraj®i@%o of patients had confirmed NY-ESO
expression in archived tumor sample. Thirteen ptieaintained stable disease for up to 13.4 monithsa median of 6.7 months. Treatment
was well-tolerated and there were no dose limitogcities. Humoral responses were elicited in g¥ESO-1 positive and negative patients.
NY-ESO-1-specific T cell responses were absent orablaseline, but increased post-vaccination in 68&valuable patients, including both
CD4 and/or CD8 T cell responses. Robust immuneoresgs were observed with CDX-1401 with resiquimad Boly ICLC alone and in
combination. The study has identified a well-toledhand immunogenic regimen to take forward intofthiure studies and we expect that a
study sponsored by the Cancer Immunotherapy Tats/ork of the National Cancer Institute will betiated in 2013.

Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC thargets TIM-1, a molecule that is highly exprasea renal and ovarian cancers with
minimal expression in normal tissues. The antib@ziyX-014, is linked to MMAE using Seattle Genetigsdprietary technology. The ADC is
designed to be stable in the bloodstream, butié@se MMAE upon internalization into TIM-1-exprasgitumor cells, resulting in a targeted
cell-killing effect. CDX-014 has shown potent adnin preclinical models of ovarian and renal candVe are conducting proof-of-concept
studies in 2013 to optimize the drug candidate dwerinto future manufacturing and IND-enabling $tsd

Development Strategy
Precision Targeted Immunotherapy Platfor

We believe there is untapped potentialimiunotherapy that can be captured through the cigimbination of therapeutic agents.
Immunotherapy approaches have encountered difisulthen following standard drug development. Tlemanisms of action are complex,
activity is generally not dependent on highestradksd dose and patient response is highly vari&ghle.understanding of the immune system,
cancer's effect on immune mediated mechanismsthenidhpact of conventional therapies on the immaystem provides a new rationale for
combining therapies that may lead to significaitical responses.

Our intent is to leverage this knowledgd #re availability of good, tested products thaymat be sufficiently effective to be
commercialized as a monotherapy, but which we belieay be very effective in combination approactas. goal is to design and develop
targeted products that maximize
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the efficacy of immunotherapy regimens through ciovations of therapeutic agents in significant analixgng markets. We establish
governmental and corporate alliances to fund deweént when appropriate and intend to commercializgoroducts either through our own
direct selling efforts or, for products which wenoat develop ourselves through to commercializatiorough corporate partners. This
approach allows us to maximize the overall valuewftechnology and product portfolios while bestuing the expeditious development of
each individual product.

Factors that may significantly harm our coencial success, and ultimately the market priceurfcommon stock, include but are not
limited to, announcements of technological innawadi or new commercial products by our competitisglosure of unsuccessful results of
clinical testing or regulatory proceedings and goweental approvals, adverse developments in patesther proprietary rights, public conc
about the safety of products developed by us andrgéeconomic and market conditions. See "ltemRi8k Factors."

Partnerships

Our current plans are to retain the rigbtdevelop and commercialize rindopepimut in N&therica. We may explore potential
development and commercialization collaboratiomsafoy of our programs where appropriate, which malude opportunities to
commercialize rindopepimut outside of North America

We have entered into collaborative partmeragreements with pharmaceutical and other compamd organizations that provided
financial and other resources, including capabgiin research, development, manufacturing, ames saeid marketing, to support our research
and development programs and may enter into motteeofi in the future.

Partnership agreements may terminate withenefit to us if the underlying products are fodity developed. If we fail to meet our
obligations under these agreements, they couldtiatmand we might need to enter into relationshiipls other collaborators and to spend
additional time, money, and other valuable resaincéhe process. We cannot predict whether odalootators will continue their
development efforts or, if they do, whether théiois will achieve success. Many of our collaboratface the same kinds of risks and
uncertainties in their business that we face. Aayler setback to a partner will, at a minimum, gdélee commercialization of any affected
products, and may ultimately prevent it. Moreowy partner could breach its agreement with ugheraise not use best efforts to promote
our products. A partner may choose to pursue atemtechnologies or products that compete withtechnologies or products. In either c:
if a partner failed to successfully develop onewf products, we would need to find another part@eir ability to do so would depend upon
our legal right to do so at the time and whethergtoduct remained commercially viable.

GlaxoSmithKline plc (Glaxo)

Rotavirus is a major cause of diarrheaanditing in infants and children. In 1997, we lised our oral rotavirus strain to Glaxo and
Glaxo assumed responsibility for all subsequemiadi trials and all other development activitidge licensed-in the rotavirus strain that was
used to develop Glaxo's Rotarix rotavirus vaccm&d95 and owe a license fee of 30% to Cincinnhtidfen's Hospital Medical Center, or
CCH, on net royalties received from Glaxo. In M®032, we entered into an agreement whereby anaafibf Paul Royalty Fund Il, L.P., or
PRF, purchased a 70% interest in the net royaiteseceived on worldwide sales of Rotarix.

In December 2012, a U.S. patent for ouaviotis strain that we licensed to Glaxo expirede Giaxo agreement terminates automatically
upon the expiration, lapse or invalidation of thstlrelevant patent right (patent or patent aptiopcovered by the Glaxo agreement. The
remaining relevant patent right is a patent appiboain Mexico with a projected final expiry dateiMay 2013
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which is under appeal. The PRF agreement provided fiormal expiry of the PRF agreement on DeceriPegP012 except that the PRF
agreement provides for an exclusive 120-day ridimegotiation for extension in certain circumstasice

Vaccine Technologies, Inc. (VTI)

In January 2009, we entered into a licexggeement with VTI under which we granted a worltkvexclusive license to VTI to develop
and commercialize our CholeraGarde and ETEC vaquiograms. We may receive milestones payments ¢d $0.8 million and royalties in
the low to mid teens with respect to developmendt@mmercialization of the technology licensed .V

TopoTarget A/S (TopoTarget)

Under our agreement with TopoTarget, wddoeceive up to $6 million in either potential corarcial milestone payments related to
future net sales of Belinostat or 10% of any sw@nige income received by TopoTarget. We have nodiahand operational responsibility for
the clinical development of Belinostat under oureggnent with TopoTarget. In February 2010, Topo&aemtered into a co-development and
commercialization agreement for Belinostat with @pen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. resulting in our receff$3 million of the $6 million potenti
payments under our agreement with TopoTarget.

Research Collaboration and License Agreements

We have entered into license agreementsaliljave have received licenses or options to liegeshnology, specified patents and/or
patent applications. These license and collabaratgyeements generally provide for royalty paymentgl to specified percentages of proc
sales, annual license maintenance fees, continatent prosecution costs and potential future maifesspayments to third parties upon the
achievement of certain development, regulatory@atdmmercial milestones.

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

We and Medarex, a former related partygheivered into the following agreements, each d€kvivas approved by a majority of its
independent directors who did not have an intaéretfte transaction. These agreements include:

. An Assignment and License Agreement, as amer{@dsdjgnment and License Agreement) that provideshtfe assignment of
certain patent and other intellectual property tSggnd a license to certain Medarex technologyedlto the Company's APC
Targeting Technology™ and an anti-mannose receggtmuct; and

. A Research and Commercialization Agreement, as datkr{Research and Commercialization Agreement)ptfoaides us with
certain rights to obtain exclusive commercial lieesito proprietary monoclonal antibodies raisedagaertain antigens
utilizing the Medarex UItiMAb technology platforneif generating antibodies until December 2015.

Under the terms of the Assignment and Lseeigreement, we may be required to pay royalti¢se low-single digits on any net product
sale of a Licensed Royalty-Bearing Product or Aéinnose Product to Medarex until the later oft{§ &xpiration of the last to expire
applicable patent and (ii) the tenth anniversartheffirst commercial sale of such licensed producder the terms of the Research and
Commercialization Agreement, we may be requiregday milestones of up to $7.0 million upon obtainfingt approval for commercial sale in
a first indication of a product containing a licedsantibody and royalty payments in the low- to4siitjle digits on any net product sales to
Medarex with respect to the development of any petsicontaining such licensed antibodies untilléiter of (i) the expiration of the last to
expire applicable patent and (ii) the tenth anrsaey
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of the first commercial sale of such licensed pridin September 2010, we exercised an option ungieResearch and Commercialization
Agreement, whereby we licensed from Medarex acimei®e UltiMab technology to develop and commerzegahuman antibodies to CD27,
including CDX-1127.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, we and Rockefeller emténéo a license agreement for the exclusive woidéwights to human DEC-205 receptor,
with the right to sublicense the technology. Tleeitise grant is exclusive except that Rockefeller use and permit other nonprofit
organizations to use the human DEC-205 receptenpaights for educational and research purposesmal be required to pay milestones of
up to $3.9 million upon obtaining first approvat fmommercial sale in a first indication of a protitargeting the licensed receptor and royalty
payments in the low- to mid-single digits on any m@®duct sales to Rockefeller with respect to tlgument and commercialization of the
human DEC-205 receptor.

Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, we and Duke enteredaitense agreement that gave us access andreddaiethe clinical data generated by Duke
and its collaborators in order for us to generatecwn filing with the FDA relating to rindopepimi/e may be required to pay milestones of
up to $1.0 million upon obtaining first approvat fmmmercial sale in a first indication and roygigyments in the low-single digits on any net
product sales to Duke with respect to developmedtcmmercialization of rindopepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, we and Ludwig entered aricagreement for the nonexclusive rights to aetancer tumor targets for use in
combination with our APC Targeting Technology. Teem of the agreement is for ten years. We mayefaired to pay milestones of up to
$1.0 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication and royalty payrteein the low-single digits on any net
product sales to Ludwig with respect to developnaart commercialization of the technology licengednf Ludwig.

Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, we completed the acquoisitif the assets of Alteris, including the EGFRwhiblecule. We may be required to pay
Alteris up to $5.0 million upon obtaining the figpproval for commercial sale of a product contagriEGFRuvlII, including rindopepimut.

Thomas Jefferson University (TJU)

In connection with our acquisition of thesats of Alteris, we obtained the rights to twolesive license agreements with TJU dated
February 2003 related to the EGFRvIII tumor antigénder these licenses, we may be required to peagtones of up to $3.0 million upon
obtaining first approval for commercial sale inratfindication and royalty payments in the lowgdendigits on any net product sales to TJU
with respect to development and commercializationnalopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, we entered into a licaag®ement with Southampton to develop human afigsdowards CD27, a potentially
important target for immunotherapy of various casc#/e may be required to pay milestones of up@imately $1.4 million upon
obtaining first approval for commercial sale inratfindication and royalty payments in the lowgdendigits on any net product sales to
Southampton with respect to development and comalimation of CDX-1127.
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Amgen Inc. (Amget

In March 2009, we entered into a licenseament with Amgen to acquire the exclusive right€ DX-301 and CD40 ligand, or CD40L.
CDX-301 and CD40L are immune modulating molecuted increase the numbers and activity of immunis deht control immune responses.
We may be required to pay milestones of up to $iilllon upon obtaining first approval for commercsale in a first indication and royalty
payments in the low-single digits on any net pradades to Amgen with respect to development amaheercialization of the technology
licensed from Amgen, including CDX-301.

Amgen Fremont (formerly Abgen

In connection with our acquisition of CuerGCorporation in 2009, we assumed the licenseeaggrt between CuraGen and Amgen
Fremont (successor in-interest to Abgenix) to dgwéllly-human monoclonal antibody therapeutics. In May 2@@9amendment to the licel
agreement was entered into related to CuraGenlsséxe rights to develop and commercialize CDX-0CDX-014 and 10 other licensed
antigens. Under the amendment, CuraGen and Amgendsit agreed to modify the terms of their existimass-license of antigens whereby
our amended license would be fully paid-up and Itgyfaee (except for any potentially required payteeto the original licensor of CDX-011).

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with our acquisition of Cuex we assumed the license agreement between Queaf@eSeattle Genetics whereby
CuraGen acquired the rights to proprietary ADC textbgy for use with its proprietary antibodies foe potential treatment of cancer. We may
be required to pay milestones of up to $7.5 millimon obtaining first approval for commercial sala first indication and royalty payments
the mid-single digits on any net product salesdattfe Genetics with respect to development anchoartialization of the ADC technology,
including CDX-011 and CDX-014.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical imiesiare intensely competitive and subject to rapid significant technological change. Many
of the products that we are attempting to devetap@mmercialize will be competing with existin@thpies. In addition, a number of
companies are pursuing the development of pharniaatuthat target the same diseases and condifiatsve are targeting. We face
competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnologmpanies both in the United States and abroadc@upetitors may utilize discovery
technologies and techniques or partner with coliafoos in order to develop products more rapidlgurcessfully than us or our collaborators
are able to do. Many of our competitors, partidyliEarge pharmaceutical companies, have substhngetater financial, technical and human
resources than we do. In addition, academic irigtitg, government agencies and other public anafriorganizations conducting research
may seek patent protection with respect to potiypttampetitive products or technologies and maalelish exclusive collaborative or
licensing relationships with our competitors.

We face intense competition in our develephactivities. We face competition from many conipa in the United States and abroad,
including a number of large pharmaceutical compgrfiems specialized in the development and pradoaif vaccines, adjuvants and vaccine
and immunotherapeutic delivery systems and majiveusities and research institutions. The competitor which we are aware have initiated
a Phase 3 study or have obtained marketing appfowval potentially competitive drug include Alexioigenus, Baxter, BMS, Dendreon, Eli
Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, ImmunoGen, Merck, PfizeroBhe, Sanofi-Aventis, Seattle Genetics, and Takigiday other companies are
developing or commercializing products in areas Wmhave targeted for product development. Sontkasfe products use therapeutic
approaches that may compete directly
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with our drug candidates. Most of our competitarsgess substantially greater financial, techniedlrauman resources than we possess. In
addition, many of our competitors have significamfteater experience than we have in conductingipieal and nonclinical testing and
human clinical trials of drug candidates, scalipgruanufacturing operations and obtaining regulagqprovals of drugs and manufacturing
facilities. Accordingly, our competitors may sucdée obtaining regulatory approval for drugs maapidly than we do. If we obtain regulatory
approval and launch commercial sales of our drunglickates, we also will compete with respect to nfiacturing efficiency and sales and
marketing capabilities, areas in which we currehtlye limited experience.

We also face competition from pharmacelfoa biotechnology companies, academic institgiggovernment agencies and private
research organizations in recruiting and retaitiiggnly qualified scientific personnel and consulsaand in the development and acquisition o
technologies. Moreover, technology controlled hiyctiparties that may be advantageous to our busimay be acquired or licensed by our
competitors, thereby preventing us from obtaineghhology on commercially reasonable terms, iflat"&e will also compete for the services
of third parties that may have already developeadcguired internal biotechnology capabilities odemaommercial arrangements with other
biopharmaceutical companies to target the disemseghich we have focused both in the U.S. and detsf the U.S.

Our competitive position will also deperubua our ability to attract and retain qualified gmwnel, obtain patent protection or otherwise
develop proprietary products or processes and seiificient capital resources for the often leggihriod between technological conception
and commercial sales. We will require substanagital resources to complete development of sonadl of our products, obtain the necess
regulatory approvals and successfully manufactndenaarket our products. In order to secure capsdurces, we anticipate having to sell
additional capital stock, which would dilute exigistockholders. We may also attempt to obtainduthdbugh research grants and agreement
with commercial collaborators. However, these tygieiindings are uncertain because they are alitoeetion of the organizations and
companies that control the funds. As a result, vag not receive any funds from grants or collaborati Alternatively, we may borrow funds
from commercial lenders, likely at high interedesa which would increase the risk of any investniems.

Manufacturing

We have limited experience in large scadaufacturing and we have relied upon collaboratoiontractors to manufacture some of our
proposed products for both clinical and commengiaposes to date. We have established our own raetowiing facility in Fall River,
Massachusetts, to produce our drug candidatesvihatay develop at scale for clinical trials. Oull Raver, MA manufacturing facility has up
to 1000L bioreactor capacity and is able to martufadn compliance with EMEA regulations. ImplemagtEMEA requirements along with
FDA cGMP allows us to distribute potential produtlinical sites in both the US and EU. In orétarus to establish a commercial
manufacturing facility, we will require substantadditional funds and will be required to hire aathin significant additional personnel and
comply with the extensive cGMP regulations applieab such facility. The commercial manufacturiagifity would also need to be licensed
for the production of our drug candidates by theAF/e intend to establish manufacturing arrangemeiith contract manufacturers that
comply with the FDA's requirements and other reguiastandards, although there can be no assuthatee will be able to do so.

We use rindopepimut drug product that wasufiactured by Pfizer in the ACT IV and ReACT atali studies. To date, we have utilized
contract manufacturers for the manufacture of clihirial supplies of CDX-011. We plan to establistelationship with a contract
manufacturer to support our clinical trials andtfee commercial manufacturing of rindopepimut amX3011 in 2013. We manufacture
clinical materials of CDX-1127, CDX-1401, CDX-113kd CDX301 in our Fall River facility for our current apthnned Phase 1 and Phas
clinical trials. We have initiated the
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manufacturing of the next lot of CDX-011 for whiale manufactured the CR011 antibody in our Fall Rfaeility.

The manufacturing processes for our druglickates and immunotherapeutic delivery systentigeitnown technologies. We believe that
the products we currently have under developmembeascaled up to permit manufacture in commedgiahtities. However, there can be no
assurance that we will not encounter difficultiescaling up the manufacturing processes.

While we believe that there is currentl§fisient capacity worldwide for the production afiopotential products through contract
manufacturers, establishing long-term relationshijil contract manufacturers and securing mult§garces for the necessary quantities of
clinical and commercial materials required can lobalenge. Qualifying the initial source of clinland ultimately commercial material is a
time consuming and expensive process due to theyhiggulated nature of the pharmaceutical/biofedustry. These costs are hopefully
mitigated in the economies of scale realized inm@ntial manufacture and product sale. The keyadiffy in qualifying more than one source
for each product is the duplicated time and exp@nsg®ing so without the potential to mitigate thepsts if the secondary source is never
utilized.

Use of third party manufacturers limits aantrol over and ability to monitor the manufagigrprocess. As a result, we may not be ak
detect a variety of problems that may arise and faeg additional costs in the process of interfgeiith and monitoring the progress of our
contract manufacturers. If third party manufactsifail to meet our manufacturing needs in an aed#etmanner, we would face delays and
additional costs while we develop internal manufeing capabilities or find alternative third parhanufacturers. It may not be possible to t
multiple third party manufacturers ready to supmywith needed material at all or without incurrsignificant costs.

Marketing

We have retained, and in the future intengktain, marketing rights to some of our drugdidates and immunotherapeutic delivery
systems in selected geographic areas and for gmkaitlications. We may seek marketing and distiiouagreements and/or co-promotion
agreements for the distribution of our productthigse geographic areas and for these indicatiorshéleve that these arrangements could
enable us to generate greater financial return thight be obtained from early stage licensing avithboration agreements. We currently have
limited marketing and sales staff and limited eigrae relating to marketing and distribution of coercial products. We plan to expand our
marketing staff in 2013. If we determine in theuliet to engage in direct marketing of our produstswill be required to recruit an experien
marketing group, develop a supporting distributtapability and incur significant additional expemdés. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to establish a successful marketirrgdo

We may choose or find it necessary to einterstrategic partnerships on uncertain, but mé#y unfavorable, terms to sell, market and
distribute our products. Under the terms of futpaetnership agreements, we may rely on the eftdrtar collaborators for the sale and
marketing of our products. There can be no assaertivat our collaborators will develop and markatanug candidates incorporating our
technologies, or, if marketed, that such effort @ successful. The failure of our collaborattrsuccessfully market products would harm
our business. Any delay in the marketing or disttitm of our products, whether it results from pgeobs with internal capabilities or with a
collaborative relationship, could harm the valuaofinvestment in us.
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Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Rights

In general, our intellectual property stmt is to protect our technology by filing patepplcations and obtaining patent rights covering
our own technology, both in the United States anfieign countries that we consider importantuo lousiness. In addition, we have acquirec
and will seek to acquire as needed or desiredusixd rights of others through assignment or lieelmscomplement our portfolio of patent
rights. We also rely on trade secrets, unpatemesvikhow and technological expertise and innovatiiodevelop and maintain our competitive
position.

Patents

The successful development and marketimyaducts by us will depend in part on our abitdycreate and maintain intellectual property,
including patent rights. We are the owner or exgluticensee to proprietary patent positions indheas of vaccine technologies, antibody
technologies and complement inhibitor technologifhdugh we continue to pursue patent protectioroforproducts, no assurance can be
given that any pending application will issue gsatent, that any issued patent will have a scopieviiil be of commercial benefit, or that we
will be able to successfully enforce our patentifpms against infringers. We routinely review owtent portfolio and adjust our strategies for
prosecution and maintenance of individual casesrdany to a number of factors including progranofties, stage of development, and paten
term.

We own or license rights under more thab @@nted patents and national and regional paggitcations in the U.S. and in major
international territories covering inventions relgtto our business. The key patents and paterticafipns owned by us or licensed to us that
we consider important to our business include dilewing (the indicated and estimated patent exgages do not include any possible Patent
Term Extensions or Supplementary Protection Cediis, if these may be secured in due course):

. Patents for the technology used in rindopepinave expiration dates through 2014 in the UnitedeStand through 2015 in the
United Kingdom, Germany and France. We also hayl@siunder patent applications in the major intéonal territories relatin
to uses of rindopepimut which are currently pendlhgsued and maintained to full term in a forrhi@h covers commercial u
of rindopepimut, the latter filings could potenlygbrovide additional patent protection for theerednt use in the relevant
territories to 2026. We also have patent applicatio the U.S. and major international territorielsiting to methods of
manufacture and formulation of rindopepimut, whi€lssued in a form which covers manufacture anttéanulation
rindopepimut and maintained to full term in due rs& would have estimated patent expiry dates 8020

. Our patent portfolio for CDX-011 includes an issyrdent in Europe and pending patent applicatinrike U.S. and Japan. If
issued and maintained to full term in due coutsesé¢ would have estimated patent expiry dates26.26 addition, patent rigt
relating to the toxin and conjugation technologgdi;y CDX-011 have been licensed from Seattle Genet

. We have licensed pending patent applications irutlg, Europe and Japan relating to the technalisgy in CDX-1127. If
issued and maintained to full term in due coutsesé would have estimated patent expiry dates2ii.20e have filed further
patent applications in the U.S. and major inteoratl territories which, if issued and maintaineduibterm in due course, wou
have estimated patent expiry dates in 2031.

. We have pending patent application relatinghtotechnology used in CDX-1401 which, if issued araintained to full term in
due course, would have estimated patent expirysdat2028.
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. Patents for the technology used in CDX-1135 haygration dates that range from 2013 to 2016. Funpla¢ent applications are
also pending.

. Patents for the technology used in CDX-301 haveetirexpiration dates that range from 2016 in tlagomEuropean territories
to 2020 in the US.

. Our patent portfolio for CDX-014 includes perglipatent applications in the U.S., Europe and Jdp&sued and maintained to
full term in due course, these would have estimptdnt expiry dates in 2024.

. Patents for the technology used in the choleratypiibid vaccines expire between 2013 and 2016.patent portfolio for ETE!
includes an issued U.S. patent and pending papgtications in the major international territorighich, if issued and
maintained to full term in due course, would hastneated patent expiry dates in 2028.

. In December 2012, a U.S. patent for our rotavgtiain that we licensed to Glaxo expired. ThexGlgreement terminates
automatically upon the expiration, lapse or invatiidn of the last relevant patent right (patenpaient application) covered by
the Glaxo agreement. The only remaining relevatergaight is a patent application in Mexico witlpjected final expiry date
in May 2013 which is under appeal.

There can be no assurance that patentcagiplis owned by or licensed to us will result iarged patents or that, if granted, the resultant
patents will afford protection against competitawith similar technology. It is also possible thiaitd parties may obtain patents or other
proprietary rights that may be necessary or ugefuk. In cases where third parties are first @i a particular product or technology, it is
possible that those parties will obtain patents with be sufficiently broad to prevent us from mgiimportant technology or from further
developing or commercializing important drug camdés and immunotherapeutic systems. If licenses fhird parties are necessary but
cannot be obtained, commercialization of the cav@m@ducts might be delayed or prevented. Evemei$é¢ licenses can be obtained, they
would probably require us to pay ongoing royalties other costs, which could be substantial.

Although a patent has a statutory preswnpaf validity in the United States, the issuanta patent is not conclusive as to validity or as
to the enforceable scope of the patent claims.vBkidity or enforceability of a patent after itsimnce by the Patent and Trademark Office ca
be challenged in litigation. As a business thasussubstantial amount of intellectual property fage a heightened risk of intellectual prop:
litigation. If the outcome of the litigation is aege to the owner of the patent, third parties thay be able to use the invention covered by th
patent without authorization or payment. Therelsamo assurance that our issued patents or anytpatghsequently issued to or licensed by
us will not be successfully challenged in the fatun addition, there can be no assurance thagpatents will not be infringed or that the
coverage of our patents will not be successfullyided by competitors through design innovation.

We are aware that others, including unitiessand companies, have filed patent applicatammhave been granted patents in the Unitec
States and other countries which claim subjectenatitentially useful or necessary to the commézeition of our products. The ultimate
scope and validity of existing or future patentschithave been or may be granted to third partied the availability and cost of acquiring
rights in those patents necessary to the manuggaige or sale of our products presently canndebermined by us.
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Third parties may have or may obtain valid enforceable patents or proprietary rightsabatd block us from developing products us
our technology, including:

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeStand Europe owned by Sanofi-Aventis, which reflai@ntibody-antigen
conjugates and methods of their use for elicitingnamune response against the antigen;

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeS and foreign countries covering particulaigems and antigenic fragments
targeted by our current drug candidates, inclu@ix-1401;

. certain patents and pending applications relatgrhtticular receptors and other molecules on déod®lls and macrophages
that may be useful for generating monoclonal awfi®and can be employed in our APC Targeting Telcy;

. two United States patents and related foreign pegemd applications covering methods of diagnoglimnas by detecting the
presence of the EGFRUVIII (tumor specific spliceiaat) protein;

. a United States patent relating to certain u$€3M-CSF;

. a United States patent owned by Genentech,rglatjing to the production of recombinant antilesdin host cells;

. a United States patent owned by GlaxoSmithKileerelated to methods of culturing cells undetaierconditions; and

. certain patents held by third parties relatimgutibody expression in particular types of hasiisc

In addition to the patents referred tohie previous paragraphs, there may be other pgteiitations and issued patents belonging to
competitors that may require us to alter our drargdidates and immunotherapeutic delivery systemslipensing fees or cease some of our
activities. If our drug candidates conflict withtpats that have been or may be granted to compsetitniversities or others, the patent owners
could bring legal action against us claiming danseayed seeking to enjoin manufacturing and markedfrthe patented products. If any of th
actions is successful, in addition to any poteriigdiility for damages, we could be required toaita license in order to continue to
manufacture or market the affected products. Tharebe no assurance that we would prevail in aoly aation or that any license required
under any such third party patent would be madéadbla on acceptable terms or at all. We beliewa there may be significant litigation in the
biotechnology industry regarding patent and otheglliectual property rights. If we become invohiadhat litigation, we could consume
substantial resources.

Licenses

We have entered into several significargnise agreements relating to technologies thdteang developed by us. In general, these
institutions have granted us an exclusive worldviciense (with right to sublicense) to make, use sell products embodying the licensed
technology, subject to the reservation by the kogrmf a non-exclusive right to use the technoldie non-commercial research purposes.
Generally, the term of each license is throughetkggration of the last of the patents issued watpect to the technologies covered by the
license. We have generally agreed to use reasoaébl¢s to develop and commercialize licensed potgland to achieve specified milestones
and pay license fees, milestone payments and rey&lased on the net sales of the licensed produttspay a percentage of sublicense
income. If we breach our obligations, the licerisas the right to terminate the license, and, inesoases, convert the license to a eznlusive
license. Generally, we control and are responsidléhe cost of defending the patent rights oftdhnologies that we license.
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Proprietary Rights

We also rely on unpatented technology arsetrets and confidential information, and nor@sgie can be given that others will not
independently develop substantially equivalentrimfation and techniques or otherwise gain accessittnow-how and information, or that
we can meaningfully protect our rights in such uepted technology, trade secrets and informatioa.r¥guire each of our employees,
consultants and advisors to execute a confideiytiagjireement at the commencement of an employnmierttrssulting relationship with us. The
agreements generally provide that all inventionscetved by the individual in the course of emploptner in providing services to us and all
confidential information developed by, or made knaw, the individual during the term of the relaship shall be the exclusive property of us
and shall be kept confidential and not disclosettital parties except in limited specified circuarates. There can be no assurance, however
that these agreements will provide meaningful potide for our information in the event of unauthmd use or disclosure of such confidential
information.

Government Regulation

Our activities and products are signifitanégulated by a number of governmental entiiesluding the FDA in the United States and by
comparable authorities in other countries. Thesi#éienregulate, among other things, the manufactasting, safety, effectiveness, labeling,
documentation, advertising and sale of our prodWis must obtain regulatory approval for a prodnctll of these areas before we can
commercialize the product. Product developmentiwithis regulatory framework takes a number of gemard involves the expenditure of
substantial resources. Many products that initiafipear promising ultimately do not reach the miaokeause they are found to be unsafe or
ineffective when tested. Our inability to commeliz@a product would impair our ability to earndtg revenues.

FDA Approval Proces

In the United States, immunotherapeuticsfonan use are subject to FDA approval as "bickigiinder the Public Health Service Act
and "drugs" under the Federal Food, Drug and CasrAet. The steps required before a new productimanommercialized include:
preclinical studies in animals, clinical trialshamans to determine safety and efficacy and FDA@@b of the product for commercial sale.

Data obtained at any stage of testing seeptible to varying interpretations, which coutday, limit or prevent regulatory approval.
Moreover, during the regulatory process, new ongded drug approval policies may cause unanticipaédalys or rejection of our product. We
may not obtain necessary regulatory approvals wihieasonable period of time, if at all, or avidédiays or other problems in testing our
products. Moreover, even if we received regulaapggroval for a product, the approval may requiretiitions on use, which could restrict the
size of the potential market for the product.

The FDA provides that human clinical triaiay begin thirty (30) days after receipt and revgd an IND application, unless the FDA
requests additional information or changes to thdysprotocol within that period. An IND must beosisored and filed for each of our
proposed products. Authorization to conduct a céihtrial in no way assures that the FDA will ultitely approve the product. Clinical trials
usually conducted in three sequential phasesPhase 1 trial, the product is given to a small neinab healthy volunteers to test for safety
(adverse effects). Phase 2 trials are conductedliomted group of the target patient populaticafesy, optimal dosage and efficacy are stuc
A Phase 3 trial is performed in a large patientytajion over a wide geographic area to provide evig for the safety of the product and to
prove and confirm efficacy. The FDA has ongoingrsight over all these trials and can order a telamyoor permanent discontinuation if
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warranted. Such an action could materially harnmQligical tests are critical to the success of pnaducts but are subject to unforeseen and
uncontrollable delay, including delay in enrollmeffpatients. Any delay in clinical trials couldlag our commercialization of a product.

A product's safety and effectiveness in séis not necessarily indicative of its safetg affectiveness in another test. Moreover, we
not discover all potential problems with a proderxten after completing testing on it. Some of owdpicts and technologies have undergone
only preclinical testing. As a result, we do noblinwhether they are safe or effective for humarso Aregulatory authorities may decide,
contrary to our findings, that a product is unsaf@ot as effective in actual use as its test tesndlicated. This could prevent the product's
widespread use, require its withdrawal from thekagor expose us to liability.

The results of the clinical trials andlpporting data are submitted to the FDA for apako& Biologics License Application (BLA) is
submitted for a biologic product; a New Drug Applion (NDA) for a drug product. The interval betwd8ID filing and BLA/NDA filing is
usually at least several years due to the lengtheo€linical trials, and the BLA/NDA review progesan take over a year. During this time the
FDA may request further testing or additional sial may turn down the application. Even with apptpthe FDA frequently requires post-
marketing safety studies (known as Phase 4 tttialbg performed.

The FDA requires that the manufacturinglitgahat produces a licensed product meet spedifitandards, undergo an inspection and
obtain an establishment license prior to commeroelketing. Subsequent discovery of previously wakmproblems with a product or its
manufacturing process may result in restrictionshenproduct or the manufacturer, including withdahof the product from the market.
Failure to comply with the applicable regulatorgugements can result in fines, suspensions oflaggny approvals, product recalls, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Expedited Review and Approy

The FDA has various programs, including feeck, priority review, and accelerated approtleht are intended to expedite or simplify the
process for reviewing drugs, and/or provide forrappl on the basis of surrogate endpoints. Gengmllgs that may be eligible for these
programs are those for serious or life-threatesmmgitions, those with the potential to address etrmedical needs, and those that offer
meaningful benefits over existing treatments, haavethese programs do not affect the standardspioroval. Fast track designation applies tc
the combination of the product and the specifiédation for which it is being studied. As a condiitiof approval, the FDA may require that a
sponsor of a drug receiving accelerated approwébpe post-marketing clinical trials.

Orphan Drug

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gr@phan drug designation to drugs intended td &eare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewvan 200,000 individuals in the United Statesnore than 200,000 individuals in the United
States and for which there is no reasonable exji@tt#nat the cost of developing and making avadaiy the United States a drug for this type
of disease or condition will be recovered from satethe United States for that drug. If a prodbet has orphan drug designation subsequ
receives the first FDA approval for the diseasewhbich it has such designation, the product istledtito orphan product exclusivity, which
means that the FDA may not approve any other agics to market the same drug for the same inditagxcept in very limited
circumstances, for seven years.

Once an approval is granted, the FDA mahdvaw the approval if compliance with regulatotgrglards is not maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Afipraval, some types of changes to the approveduptpsuch as adding new indications,
manufacturing changes and additional labeling damne subject to further FDA review and approkaaddition, the FDA
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may require testing and surveillance programs taitoothe effect of approved products that havenbmammercialized, and the FDA has the
power to prevent or limit further marketing of aguct based on the results of these post-markptiogyams.

Foreign Regulatior

In addition to regulations in the Unitectes, we will be subject to a variety of foreiggukations governing clinical trials and commer:
sales and distribution of our products. Whethanairwe obtain FDA approval for a product, we mustaén approval of a product by the
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign coigstbefore we can commence clinical trials or mamkeof the product in those countries. -
approval process varies from country to country thiectime may be longer or shorter than that reguior FDA approval. Approval by the
FDA does not ensure approval by the regulatorydsdf other countries.

Under European Union regulatory systemsmag submit marketing authorization applicatiortbesi under a centralized or decentralized
procedure. The centralized procedure, which is adsgpy for medicines produced by biotechnology aptional for those which are highly
innovative, provides for the grant of a single nedirkg authorization that is valid for all Europdanion member states. The decentralized
procedure provides for mutual recognition of nagicapproval decisions. Under the decentralizedeutore, the holder of a national marketing
authorization may submit an application to the rieing member states. Within 90 days of receivirg dpplications and assessments report
each member state must decide whether to recogpjz®val. If a member state does not recognizenxeting authorization, the disputed
points are eventually referred to the European Cimsion, whose decision is binding on all membetestaAs in the United States, we may
apply for designation of our products as orphamdou the treatment of a specific indication in eropean Union before the application for
marketing authorization is made. Orphan drugs iroge enjoy economic and marketing benefits, inclgdi 10-year market exclusivity period
for the approved indication, but not for the samggdunless another applicant can show that itdymbis safer, more effective or otherwise
clinically superior to the orphan-designated praduc

Our collaborators are also subject to ithe above-described regulations in connectioih wie commercialization of products utilizing
our technology.

Other Regulatory Processes

We are subject to a variety of financiaaltbsure and securities trading regulations aséiggcompany in the U.S., including laws relat
to the oversight activities of the SEC and the la&tinns of the NASDAQ Global Market, on which olwases are traded. We are also subject t
regulation under other federal laws and regulatinder state and local laws, including laws relatmgccupational safety, laboratory practices
environmental regulations, and hazardous subsizotteol.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we employed 11gleyees (106 full-time, 3 part-time and 3 interris),of whom have Ph.D. and/or M.D.
degrees. Of these employees, 93 were engagedlireatly support research and development actsuitiée believe that our employee relati
are good. We believe that our future success widlethd in large part on our ability to attract a@i@in experienced and skilled employees.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully these risitdas together with all of the information includedincorporated by reference in this Annual
Report in addition to our financial statements #relnotes to our financial statements. This sedtioludes forward-looking statements.

The following is a discussion of the risictors that we believe are material to us at this.tThese risks and uncertainties are not the onl
ones facing us and there may be additional mattatsve are unaware of or that we currently considenaterial. All of these could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, fir@remndition and cash flows.

Risks Related to our Business
We expect to incur future losses and we may never become profitable.

We have incurred operating losses of $58lllon, $43.4 million and $6.5 million during 2012011 and 2010, respectively, and expe:
incur an operating loss in 2013. We believe tharating losses will continue in and beyond 2013ahee we are planning to incur significant
costs associated with the clinical developmentraadufacturing of commercial supply of rindopepirantd CDX-011 to prepare for the
potential launch of rindopepimut and CDX-011. Iml#idn, we are planning to incur significant coistshe clinical development of CDX135,
CDX-1127, CDX-301 and CDX-1401. Our net losses Haag and will continue to have an adverse effechamong other things, our
stockholders' equity, total assets and workingtehpiVe expect that losses will fluctuate from deato quarter and year to year, and that sucl
fluctuations may be substantial. We cannot predien we will become profitable, if at all.

Our long term success depends heavily on our ability to fund and complete research and development activities for, and to commercialize,
our lead drug candidates, rindopepimut and CDX-011.

Our current plans are to retain the rigbtdevelop and commercialize rindopepimut in N@&therica. We may explore potential
development and commercialization collaboratiomsafoy of our programs where appropriate, which malude opportunities to
commercialize rindopepimut outside of North Ameritherefore, we must allocate a significant portébiour time, personnel and financial
resources to the development of rindopepimut anX-OD1. We initiated ACT IV, our pivotal Phase 3nitial trial of rindopepimut, in
December 2011. We expect to complete patient akbyuiie end of 2013 and anticipate receiving d&#o 24 months after completing
accrual. We anticipate ACT IV to cost over $60 ioill during its duration. In December 2012, we hadend of Phase 2b meeting with the
FDA for our CDX-011 program. Based on this meeting,intend to initiate a randomized study of CDXt&Litable for accelerated approval
in patients with triple negative breast cancer #isb over-express GPNMB in the second half of 2013

Our management team lacks significant égpee in completing Phase 3 clinical trials anehirig a drug through commercialization. If
we face delays, difficulties or unanticipated castsompleting the development of rindopepimut @C011, we will need substantial
additional financing. Further, even if we compltdte development of rindopepimut or CDX-011 and gaarketing approvals from the FDA
and comparable foreign regulatory authorities fimeely manner, we cannot be sure that rindopepon@DX-011 will be commercially
successful in the pharmaceutical market. If thalte®f clinical trials, the anticipated or acttiating of marketing approvals, or the market
acceptance of rindopepimut or CDX-011, if approvdmnot meet the expectations of investors or pubkrket analysts, the market price of
our common stock would likely decline.
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We will need additional capital to fund our operations, including the development, manufacture and potential commercialization of our drug
candidates. |If we do not have or cannot raise additional capital when needed, we will be unable to develop and ultimately commercialize our
drug candidates successfully.

We expect to incur significant costs asdeeelop our drug candidates. In particular, thetinamg development and commercialization of
rindopepimut and CDX-011 through commercial lauretuires additional capital beyond our current ueses. As of December 31, 2012, we
had cash, cash equivalents and marketable seswft&84.0 million. We raised an aggregate of &tilllon in net proceeds from issuances of
our common stock in January and February 2013. \Metake further steps to raise additional capitdlihd our longterm liquidity needs. Ot
capital raising activities may include, but may hetlimited to, one or more of the following:

. licensing of drug candidates with existing or nellaborative partners;

. possible business combinations;

. issuance of debt; or

. issuance of common stock or other securitiepriizate placements or public offerings.

While we may continue to seek capital tiglba number of means, there can be no assurartcaditiional financing will be available on
acceptable terms, if at all, and our negotiatingifoam in capital-raising efforts may worsen asstirg resources are used. There is also no
assurance that we will be able to enter into furtodlaborative relationships. Additional equitpdincing may be dilutive to our stockholders;
debt financing, if available, may involve signifidecash payment obligations and covenants thaigestr ability to operate as a business; ant
licensing or strategic collaborations may resultayalties or other terms which reduce our econgotential from products under
development. If we are unable to raise the fundessary to meet our long-term liquidity needs, veg imave to delay or discontinue the
development of one or more programs, discontinusdet@y on-going or anticipated clinical trials ditse out programs earlier than expected,
raise funds at significant discount or on otherawnfable terms, if at all, or sell all or part afrdusiness.

In January 2011, we entered into a corgdodiquity offering sales agreement with Cantordgitald & Co. pursuant to which we could
issue and sell up to 5,000,000 shares of our constamk from time to time through Cantor, actingagent. During the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we issued 4,425,006 8,000 shares of common stock under the Canteeatent and raised $19.0 million
and $2.2 million in net proceeds, after deductiopmmission and offering expenses, respectively.

In September 2012, we amended the Canteeatent to allow us to issue and sell additionatestof our common stock having an
aggregate offering price of up to $44.0 million.dén the Cantor amendment, we will pay Cantor adfic@mmission rate of 3.0% of the gross
sales price per share of any common stock soldigir@antor. The Cantor amendment terminates upoday notice by either Cantor or us.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, we is31%#8,290 shares under the Cantor amendment aetird21.1 million in net proceeds.
During January 2013, we issued 2,433,608 sharesrihd Cantor amendment and raised $17.1 millioretrproceeds. At February 28, 2013,
we had $4.4 million remaining in aggregate offeqmgce available under the Cantor amendment whial be sold upon the expiration of the
90-day lock-up with the underwriters of our undetten public offering in February 2013.

In February 2013, we issued 13,800,000eshaf our common stock in an underwritten publferfig, including the underwriter's
exercise of their full over-allotment option to pbhase an additional 1,800,000 shares of commok.stbe net proceeds to us were
$97.0 million, after deducting underwriting feeslaffering expenses.
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We may or may not sell additional sharedenrthe Cantor amendment, depending on the volunigice of our common stock, as well
as our capital needs and potential alternativecssunf capital. If we actively sell shares under@antor amendment, a significant number of
shares of common stock could be issued in a sleoitg of time, although we would attempt to struetthe volume and price thresholds in a
way that minimizes market impact. Notwithstandihgge control efforts, these sales, or the perceaigkadf dilution from potential sales of
stock through the Cantor amendment, may depresstock price, cause holders of our common stodelictheir shares, or encourage short
selling by market participants, which could contit#bto a decline in our stock price. A decline im stock price might impede our ability to
raise capital through the issuance of additionatesh of common stock or other equity securitied,rany cause our stockholders to lose part o
all of the value of their investment in our stock.

We may be unable to manage one Phase 3 clinical trial or multiple late stage clinical trialsfor a variety of product candidates
simultaneoudly.

As our current clinical trials progress, may need to manage multiple late stage clini¢alstsimultaneously in order to continue
developing all of our current products. Our managieinteam does not have significant experience impbeting late stage clinical trials and the
management of late stage clinical trials is momamlex and time consuming than early stage trigypidally, early stage trials involve several
hundred patients in no more than 10-30 clinica@ssit ate stage (Phase 3) trials may involve ugversl thousand patients in up to several
hundred clinical sites and may require facilitieséveral countries. Therefore, the project managénequired to supervise and control such
an extensive program is substantially larger trartyestage programs. As the need for these ressisg®t known until some months before
the trials begin, it is necessary to recruit langenbers of experienced and talented individualg geickly. If the labor market does not allow
this team to be recruited quickly, the sponsoacetl with a decision to delay the program or tiaits it with inadequate management
resources. This may result in recruitment of inappate patients, inadequate monitoring of clinicakstigators and inappropriate handling of
data or data analysis. Consequently it is possfilaleconclusions of efficacy or safety may not beeptable to permit filing of a BLA or NDA
for any one of the above reasons or a combinafi@eweral.

Werely on third partiesto plan, conduct and monitor our clinical tests, and their failure to perform as required would interfere with our
product devel opment.

We rely on third parties to conduct a digaint portion of our clinical development actieis. These activities include clinical patient
recruitment and observation, clinical trial monigy, clinical data management and analysis, saf@gitoring and project management. We
conduct project management and medical and safetytaning in-house for some of our programs ang osl third parties for the remainder of
our clinical development activities.

The significant third parties who we cuthgmely on for clinical development activities inde Novella Clinical Inc. for our ACT IV
study. If Novella is unable to perform in a quakitiyd timely manner, and at a feasible cost, ACWINface delays. Further, if any of these
third parties fails to perform as we expect oh#it work fails to meet regulatory standards, @stihg could be delayed, cancelled or renderec
ineffective.

We may enter into collaboration agreements for the licensing, development and ultimate commercialization of some of our drug candidates
including, where appropriate, for our lead drug candidates. In such cases, we will depend greatly on our third party collaborators to license,
develop and commercialize such drug candidates, and they may not meet our expectations.

Our current plans are to retain the rightdevelop and commercialize rindopepimut in N&therica. We may explore potential
development and commercialization collaboratiomsafoy of our
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programs where appropriate, which may include opities to commercialize rindopepimut outside afrth America. The process of
identifying collaborators and negotiating collakt@a agreements for the licensing, developmentudtichate commercialization of some of «
drug candidates may cause delays and increases] @éstmay not be able to enter into collaboratigre@ments on terms favorable to us.
Furthermore some of those agreements may giveastiztresponsibility over our drug candidateshi ¢ollaborator. Some collaborators may
be unable or unwilling to devote sufficient res@s¢o develop our drug candidates as their agretlsmenuire. They often face business risks
similar to ours, and this could interfere with thefforts. Also, collaborators may choose to dewb#sr resources to products that compete witl
ours. If a collaborator does not successfully dgveiny one of our products, we will need to findther collaborator to do so. The success of
our search for a new collaborator will depend onlegal right to do so at the time and whethergtauct remains commercially viable.

If we enter into collaboration agreemewisdne or more of our lead drug candidates, theesscof such drug candidates will depend in
great part upon our and our collaborators' sudceggomoting them as superior to other treatmeterahtives. We believe that our drug
candidates can be proven to offer disease preveatid treatment with notable advantages over drugsms of patient compliance and
effectiveness. However, there can be no assurhateve will be able to prove these advantagesairttie advantages will be sufficient to
support the successful commercialization of ougdrandidates.

We may face delays, difficulties or unanticipated costs in establishing sales, distribution and manufacturing capabilities for our
commercially ready products.

Our current plan is to retain, rather theanse to a third party, all rights to rindopepinmuNorth America. As a result, we will have full
responsibility for commercialization of this prodifcand when it is approved for sale. We curretdigk the marketing, sales and distribution
capabilities that we will need to carry out thisatgy. To market any of our products directly, mwast develop a substantial marketing and
sales force with technical expertise and a supmpdistribution capability. We have little expeetis this area, and we may not succeed. We
may find it necessary to enter into strategic paghips on uncertain but potentially unfavorabtenteto sell, market and distribute our prod
when they are approved for sale.

Some of our products are difficult to mamifire, especially in large quantities, and we hete/et developed commercial scale
manufacturing processes for any of our productsd@/eot currently plan to develop internal manufeayg capabilities to produce any of our
products at commercial scale if they are approeeddle. To the extent that we choose to market#sidbute these products ourselves, this
strategy will make us dependent on other compaonipsoduce our products in adequate quantitiespipliance with regulatory requiremer
and at a competitive cost. We may not find thirdipa capable of meeting those manufacturing needs.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulatory scrutiny.

All of our drug candidates are at variotegyes of development and commercialization andhotivities and drug candidates are
significantly regulated by a number of governmeetdtities, including the FDA in the United Statesl &y comparable authorities in other
countries. These entities regulate, among otheg#hithe manufacture, testing, safety, effectivenabeling, documentation, advertising and
sale of drugs and drug candidates. We or our parmest obtain regulatory approval for a drug cdatdi in all of these areas before we can
commercialize the drug candidate. Product developméhin this regulatory framework takes a numbgyears and involves the expenditure
of substantial resources. This process typicalipires extensive preclinical and clinical testimfpich may take longer or cost more than we
anticipate, and may prove unsuccessful due to numseactors. Many drug candidates that initiallpegr promising ultimately do not reach
the
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market because they are found to be unsafe oeictefé when tested. Companies in the pharmacewai@hbiotechnology industries have
suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinidals, even after obtaining promising results amlier trials. Our inability to commercialize a
drug candidate would impair our ability to earrufiet revenues.

If our products do not pass required tests for safety and effectiveness, we will not be able to derive commercial revenue from them.

In order to succeed, we will need to dedeexmercial revenue from the products we have udeeelopment. The FDA has not approved
our rindopepimut or CDX-011 drug candidates or ahgur other products for sale to date. Our drugdadates are in various stages of
preclinical and clinical testing. Preclinical teate performed at an early stage of a product'sldpment and provide information about a
product's safety and effectiveness on laboratoiypals. Preclinical tests can last years. If a pobghasses its preclinical tests satisfactorily, an
we determine that further development is warrantedyould file an IND application for the producitkvthe FDA, and if the FDA gives its
approval we would begin Phase 1 clinical testssBHatesting generally lasts between 6 and 24 raolftRhase 1 test results are satisfactory
and the FDA gives its approval, we can begin PRadmical tests. Phase 2 testing generally lastasben 6 and 36 months. If Phase 2 test
results are satisfactory and the FDA gives its apglr we can begin Phase 3 pivotal studies. PhasedBs generally last between 12 and
48 months. Once clinical testing is completed anéwa drug application is filed with the FDA, it mtégke more than a year to receive FDA
approval.

In all cases we must show that a pharma@ytroduct is both safe and effective beforeRB&\, or drug approval agencies of other
countries where we intend to sell the product, aplprove it for sale. Our research and testingnarag must comply with drug approval
requirements both in the United States and in athantries, since we are developing our lead pridwith the intention to, or could later
decide to, commercialize them both in the U.S. @maad. A product may fail for safety or effectiesa at any stage of the testing process. A
major risk we face is the possibility that noneoaf products under development will come throughtésting process to final approval for s
with the result that we cannot derive any comméreigenue from them after investing significant amis of capital in multiple stages of
preclinical and clinical testing.

Product testing is critical to the success of our products but subject to delay or cancellation if we have difficulty enrolling patients.

As our portfolio of potential products mevieom preclinical testing to clinical testing, atingn through progressively larger and more
complex clinical trials, we will need to enroll arcreasing number of patients with the appropridigracteristics. At times we have
experienced difficulty enrolling patients and weynexperience more difficulty as the scale of oumichl testing program increases. The fac
that affect our ability to enroll patients are lelsguncontrollable and include principally the @dling:

. the nature of the clinical test;

. the size of the patient population;

. patients' willingness to receive a placebo es leffective treatment on the control arm of aicdihstudy;
. the distance between patients and clinicalsiéss; and

. the eligibility criteria for the trial.

If we cannot enroll patients as needed,cogts may increase or it could force us to defagimninate testing for a product.
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We may have delaysin completing our clinical trials and we may not complete them at all.

We have not completed the clinical triaée@ssary to obtain FDA approval to market rindopepi CDX-011 or any of our other products
in development. We initiated a Phase 3 study afapepimut in December 2011 but we have not inidid@base 3 studies for CDX-011 or any
of our other products in development. Our managemaeRks significant experience in completing Phasgals and bringing a drug through
commercialization. Our rindopepimut Phase 3 t@4DX-011 late-stage studies and planned clinicaldrior other products in development
may be delayed or terminated as a result of maetpifs, including the following:

. difficulty in enrolling patients in our clinicdtials;

. patients failing to complete clinical trials duedissatisfaction with the treatment, side effectetber reasons;

. failure by regulators to authorize us to commenckrécal trial;

. suspension or termination by regulators of clinteglearch for many reasons, including concernstaiadient safety or failure

our contract manufacturers to comply with cGMP iegquents;

. delays or failure of the FDA to remove the clinibald on our CDX-011 studies;

. treatment candidates demonstrating a lack @fafy during clinical trials;

. inability to continue to fund clinical trials ¢o find a partner to fund the clinical trials;

. competition with ongoing clinical trials and schuling conflicts with participating clinicians; én
. delays in completing data collection and analysr clinical trials.

Any delay or failure to complete clinicabts and obtain FDA approval for our drug candédatould have a material adverse effect or
cost to develop and commercialize, and our alidityenerate revenue from, a particular drug canelida

Any delay in obtaining regulatory approval would have an adverse impact on our ability to earn future revenues.

It is possible that none of the drug caatid that we develop will obtain the regulatoryrappls necessary for us to begin
commercializing them. The time required to obtad®Fand other approvals is unpredictable but oftem ke years following the
commencement of clinical trials, depending uponrthiire of the drug candidate. Any analysis wequarfof data from clinical activities is
subject to confirmation and interpretation by regoity authorities, which could delay, limit or pesx regulatory approval. Any delay or failure
in obtaining required approvals could have a matadverse effect on our ability to generate reesrftrom the particular drug candidate
including, but not limited to, loss of patent teduring the approval period. Furthermore, if wepor partners, do not reach the market with
products before our competitors offer productsiiersame or similar uses, or if we, or our partrems not effective in marketing our products,
our revenues from product sales, if any, will béueed.

We face intense competition in our develephactivities. We face competition from many conipa in the United States and abroad,
including a number of large pharmaceutical compgrfiems specialized in the development and pradnoaif vaccines, adjuvants and vaccine
and immunotherapeutic delivery systems and majveusities and research institutions. The competifor which we are aware have initiated
a Phase 3 study or have obtained marketing appfowal potentially competitive drug include Alexiolgenus, Baxter, BMS, Dendreon, Eli
Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, ImmunoGen, Merck, PfizeroBhe, Sanofi-Aventis, Seattle Genetics, and Takeda.
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Most of our competitors have substantially greeg¢spurces, more extensive experience in conduptiagjinical studies and clinical testing ¢
obtaining regulatory approvals for their produgigater operating experience, greater researcd@relopment and marketing capabilities anc
greater production capabilities than those of olinese companies might succeed in obtaining regwylaipproval for competitive products
more rapidly than we can for our products, espbcitive experience any delay in obtaining requiredulatory approvals.

Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements would adversely impact our operations.

Even after receiving regulatory approvail; products would be subject to extensive regwatequirements, and our failure to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements will adwdysmpact our operations. In the United States,RBA requires that the manufacturing
facility that produces a product meet specifiethdtads, undergo an inspection and obtain an esitaiint license prior to commercial
marketing. Subsequent discovery of previously umkmproblems with a product or its manufacturingge®s may result in restrictions on the
product or the manufacturer, including withdrawiihe product from the market. Failure to complyhathe applicable regulatory requireme
can result in fines, suspensions of regulatory @aygds, product recalls, operating restrictions arichinal prosecution.

We depend greatly on the intellectual capabilities and experience of our key executives and scientists and the loss of any of them could affect
our ability to develop our products.

The loss of Anthony S. Marucci, our Presidend Chief Executive Officer, or other key mensbefrour staff, including Avery W. Catlin,
our Chief Financial Officer, Dr. Thomas Davis, @hief Medical Officer, Dr. Tibor Keler, our Chietintific Officer or Dr. Ronald Pepin, ¢
Chief Business Officer, could harm us. We entenéd €mployment agreements with Messrs. MaruccijiG&avis, Keler and Pepin although
an employment agreement as a practical mattermiuteguarantee retention of an employee. We alserdepn our scientific and clinical
collaborators and advisors, all of whom have oetsidmmitments that may limit their availabilityas. In addition, we believe that our future
success will depend in large part upon our abiéitattract and retain highly skilled scientific, magerial and marketing personnel, particularly
as we expand our activities in clinical trials, tegulatory approval process and sales and manwiiagt \We routinely enter into consulting
agreements with our scientific and clinical colledtors and advisors, key opinion leaders and hebdsademic departments in the ordinary
course of our business. We also enter into contahetgreements with physicians and institutions vduouit patients into our clinical trials on
our behalf in the ordinary course of our businé&swithstanding these arrangements, we face s@amificompetition for this type of personnel
from other companies, research and academic itistig) government entities and other organizatigvs.cannot predict our success in hiring
or retaining the personnel we require for contingemivth.

We rely on contract manufacturers over whom we have limited control. Should the cost, delivery and quality of clinical and commercial
grade materials supplied by contract manufacturersvary to our disadvantage, our business operations could suffer significant harm.

We have limited experience in large scadéamufacturing at our Fall River facility. We have maéactured clinical materials of CDX-1127,
CDX-1135, CDX-1401 and CDX-301 in our Fall Rivecilgy for our current and planned Phase 1 and PRadinical trials. We have initiated
the manufacturing of the next lot of CDX-011 foriathwe manufactured the CR011 antibody in our Raler facility. We rely on sourcing
from third-party manufacturers for suitable quaasitof our late-stage clinical and commercial gradgerials and certain filling and packaging
essential to preclinical and clinical studies cotiseunderway and for planned clinical trials indéttbn to those currently being conducted by
third parties or us.
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We plan to establish a relationship wittbatract manufacturer to support our clinical fiahd for the commercial manufacturing of
rindopepimut and CDX-011 in 2013. The inabilityitave suitable quality and quantities of these @sdanaterials produced in a timely
manner would result in significant delays in thiaickl development and commercialization of produethich could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openast

We also rely on collaborators and contraghufacturers to manufacture proposed productetim dinical and commercial quantities in
the future. Our leading drug candidates requireigfized manufacturing capabilities and procesgés may face difficulty in securing
commitments from U.S. and foreign contract manufisess as these manufacturers could be unwillingnable to accommodate our needs.
Relying on foreign manufacturers involves pecudiad increased risks, including the risk relatinghe difficulty foreign manufacturers may
face in complying with cGMP requirements as a teslulanguage barriers, lack of familiarity with M® or the FDA regulatory process or
other causes, economic or political instabilityoimaffecting the home countries of our foreign nfaoturers, shipping delays, potential change
in foreign regulatory laws governing the sales af product supplies, fluctuations in foreign cuagmexchange rates and the imposition or
application of trade restrictions.

There can be no assurances that we wableeto enter into long-term arrangements withdtpiarty manufacturers on acceptable terms, «
at all. Further, contract manufacturers must atsalile to meet our timetable and requirementspaust operate in compliance with cGMP;
failure to do so could result in, among other tkintpe disruption of product supplies. As notedvabaon-U.S. contract manufacturers may
face special challenges in complying with cGMP iegmaents, and although we are not currently depsinole non-U.S. collaborators or
contract manufacturers, we may choose or be redjtoreely on non-U.S. sources in the future as @skdo develop stable supplies of
increasing quantities of materials for ongoingickhtrials of larger scale. Our dependence upan tharties for the manufacture of our
products may adversely affect our profit marging aar ability to develop and deliver products amaely and competitive basis.

The significant third parties who we cuthgmely on for sourcing of suitable quantitiessafime of our clinical and commercial grade
materials include Biosyn, Bayer and Sanofi for emdopepimut drug candidate. If we or our thirdtgananufacturers are unable to produce
drug material in suitable quantities of approprigd@lity, in a timely manner, and at a feasiblet,cogr clinical tests will face delays.

Other factors could affect the demand for and sales of any products that we may commercialize in the future.
In general, other factors that could afteetdemand for and sales and profitability of products include, but are not limited to:

. the timing of regulatory approval, if any, ofrapetitive products;

. our or any other of our partners' pricing decisj@ssapplicable, including a decision to increas#ezrease the price of a
product, and the pricing decisions of our competito

. government and third-party payer reimbursementcaverage decisions that affect the utilization wf products and competing
products;
. negative safety or efficacy data from new chistudies conducted either in the U.S. or intéomatly by any party could cause

the sales of our products to decrease or a pradum recalled;

. the degree of patent protection afforded our prtglbg patents granted to or licensed by us anthéptitcome of litigation
involving our or any of our licensor's patents;
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. the outcome of litigation involving patents of atlt®mpanies concerning our products or processa®deto production and
formulation of those products or uses of those pcits]

. the increasing use and development of alternatapres;
. the rate of market penetration by competing potst and
. the termination of, or change in, existing agaments with our partners.

Any of these factors could have a matexiblerse effect on the sales of any products thahayecommercialize in the future.

We face therisk of product liability claims, which could exceed our insurance coverage, and produce recalls, each of which could deplete
our cash resources.

As a participant in the pharmaceutical bizdechnology industries, we are exposed to theaigproduct liability claims alleging that use
of our drug candidates caused an injury or harnes&ltclaims can arise at any point in the developnesting, manufacture, marketing or sale
of our drug candidates and may be made directlyatignts involved in clinical trials of our prodacby consumers or healthcare providers or
by individuals, organizations or companies selling products. Product liability claims can be exgea to defend, even if the drug or drug
candidate did not actually cause the alleged injuidigarm.

Insurance covering product liability clailmscomes increasingly expensive as a drug candigayes through the development pipeline tc
commercialization. Under our license agreementsamgaequired to maintain clinical trial liabilitgsurance coverage up to $14 million.
However, there can be no assurance that such imicmverage is or will continue to be adequatgvailable to us at a cost acceptable to
at all. We may choose or find it necessary undeicoliaborative agreements to increase our ins@raogerage in the future. We may not be
able to secure greater or broader product liakiisurance coverage on acceptable terms or atmablocosts when needed. Any liability for
damages resulting from a product liability claimultbexceed the amount of our coverage, require pay a substantial monetary award from
our own cash resources and have a material adetes on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations. Moreover, a product
recall, if required, could generate substantialatieg publicity about our products and businessiahibit or prevent commercialization of
other products and drug candidates.

In addition, some of our licensing and othgreements with third parties require or miglguiee us to maintain product liability insuran
If we cannot maintain acceptable amounts of covemygcommercially reasonable terms in accordanttethe terms set forth in these
agreements, the corresponding agreements wouldhbpecs to termination, which could have a matesiderse impact on our operations.

Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover them.

Because we rely on third parties to developproducts, we must share trade secrets with.thiée seek to protect our proprietary
technology in part by entering into confidentialitgreements and, if applicable, material trangjee@ments, collaborative research agreen
consulting agreements or other similar agreemeittsaur collaborators, advisors, employees and witensts prior to beginning research or
disclosing proprietary information. These agreemdypically restrict the ability of our collaborasp advisors, employees and consultants to
publish data potentially relating to our trade séxrOur academic collaborators typically havetsdb publish data, provided that we are
notified in advance and may delay publication fepacified time in order to secure our intellecipralperty rights arising from the
collaboration. In other cases, publication rights @ontrolled exclusively by us, although in sorases we may share these rights with other
parties. We also conduct joint research
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and development programs which may require usdcestnade secrets under the terms of researcheadoppment partnership or similar
agreements. Despite our efforts to protect ourtisgtrets, our competitors may discover our tradeess, either through breach of these
agreements, independent development or publicafiarformation including our trade secrets in casbgre we do not have proprietary or
otherwise protected rights at the time of publimatiA competitor's discovery of our trade secratsifd impair our competitive position.

We may not be able to successfully integrate acquired technology with our existing technology or to modify our technologies to create new
drug candidates.

As part of our acquisition of technologgets from entities such as Amgen, we have acqairedss to FIt3L, which may improve the
immunogenicity of our drug candidates. If we arkedb integrate these licensed assets with our danglidates, we believe these assets will
give our drug candidates a competitive advantageveder, if we are unable to successfully integliaensed assets, or other technologies
which we have acquired or may acquire in the fytaith our existing technologies and potential protd currently under development, we
may be unable to realize any benefit from our agitjan of these assets, or other technologies wivielhave acquired or may acquire in the
future and may face the loss of our investmeninafricial resources and time in the integration pssc

We believe that our technology may offepantunities to develop drug candidates that treadraety of oncology, inflammatory and
infectious diseases by stimulating a patient's imensystem against those disease organisms. lécknology cannot be used to create
effective drug candidates against a variety ofatiseorganisms, we may lose all or portions of ouestment in development efforts for new
drug candidates.

We license technology from other companiesto develop products, and those companies could influence research and development or restrict
our use of it.

Companies that license technologies thaswe use in our research and development progreaggequire us to achieve milestones or
devote minimum amounts of resources to developymtsdusing those technologies. They may also reaqisito make significant royalty and
milestone payments, including a percentage of ablicensing income, as well as payments to reimdbthiem for patent costs. The number
variety of our research and development programsime us to establish priorities and to allocateilable resources among competing
programs. From time to time we may choose to slowrdor cease our efforts on particular products Hoing so we fail to fully perform our
obligations under a license, the licensor can teatei the licenses or permit our competitors totis¢echnology. Moreover, we may lose our
right to market and sell any products based ori¢kased technology.
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We have many competitorsin our field and they may devel op technologies that make ours obsolete.

Biotechnology, pharmaceuticals and theripgare rapidly evolving fields in which scientifand technological developments are
expected to continue at a rapid pace. We have mamyetitors in the U.S. and abroad. The competitorashich we are aware have initiate
Phase 3 study or have obtained marketing approval potentially competitive drug include Alexiokgenus, Baxter, BMS, Dendreon, Eli
Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, ImmunoGen, Merck, PfizeroBhe, Sanofi-Aventis, Seattle Genetics, and Tak®dasuccess depends upon our
ability to develop and maintain a competitive positin the product categories and technologies bithwve focus. Many of our competitors
have greater capabilities, experience and finamesdurces than we do. Competition is intense suedpected to increase as new products
the market and new technologies become availahlec@mpetitors may:

. develop technologies and products that are moeet®fe than ours, making ours obsolete or otherwiseompetitive;
. obtain regulatory approval for products more rapit effectively than us; and
. obtain patent protection or other intellectualgerty rights that would block our ability to déwe competitive products.

We rely on patents, patent applications and other intellectual property protections to protect our technology and trade secrets; which are
expensive and may not provide sufficient protection.

Our success depends in part on our aldigbtain and maintain patent protection for ted¢bgies that we use. Biotechnology patents
involve complex legal, scientific and factual quess and are highly uncertain. To date, there isarsistent policy regarding the breadth of
claims allowed in biotechnology patents, partidylam regard to patents for technologies for hurmaas like those we use in our business. We
cannot predict whether the patents we seek willeisf they do issue, a competitor may challengentland limit their scope. Moreover, our
patents may not afford effective protection agadmshpetitors with similar technology. A succesgfinallenge to any one of our patents could
result in a third party's ability to use the teclogy covered by the patent. We also face the hak dthers will infringe, avoid or circumvent ¢
patents. Technology that we license from othessiigect to similar risks and this could harm ouligtto use that technology. If we, or a
company that licenses technology to us, were reofitht creator of an invention that we use, owr athe underlying product or technology
will face restrictions, including elimination.

If we must defend against suits broughiregais or prosecute suits against others involintgjlectual property rights, we will incur
substantial costs. In addition to any potentidiiligy for significant monetary damages, a decisigainst us may require us to obtain licens
patents or other intellectual property rights dfest on potentially unfavorable terms. If thoserises from third parties are necessary but we
cannot acquire them, we would attempt to desigaraddhe relevant technology, which would cause érigtevelopment costs and delays, and
may ultimately prove impracticable.

Our business requires usto use hazardous materials, which increases our exposure to dangerous and costly accidents.

Our research and development activitieslira/the use of hazardous chemicals, biologicabmels and radioactive compounds. Althol
we believe that our safety procedures for handhing disposing of hazardous materials comply wighsttandards prescribed by applicable |
and regulations, we cannot completely eliminaterigieof accidental contamination or injury frometie materials. In the event of an accident,
an injured party will likely sue us for any resolfidamages with potentially significant liabilifjhe ongoing cost of complying with
environmental laws and regulations is significard enay increase in the future.
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Health care reform and restrictions on reimbursement may limit our returns on potential products.

Because our strategy ultimately dependherrommercial success of our products, we assameng other things, that end users of our
products will be able to pay for them. In the Udiftates and other countries, in most cases, tlneneocof sales of products like those we are
developing depends on the availability of reimbareat from third-party payors, including nationablie care agencies, private health
insurance plans and health maintenance organizafidnird-party payors increasingly challenge thegs charged for medical products and
services. Accordingly, if we succeed in bringingguicts to market, and reimbursement is not availabis insufficient, we could be prevented
from successfully commercializing our potential gwots.

The health care industry in the United &atnd in Europe is undergoing fundamental chaagjesresult of political, economic and
regulatory influences. Reforms proposed from timérhe include mandated basic health care benefit#tyols on health care spending, the
establishment of governmental controls over thé abtherapies, creation of large medical servanes products purchasing groups and
fundamental changes to the health care delivetgsysVe anticipate ongoing review and assessmemaith care delivery systems and
methods of payment in the United States and othantcies. We cannot predict whether any particrdéorm initiatives will result or, if
adopted, what their impact on us will be. Howevez,expect that adoption of any reform proposed iwiflair our ability to market products at
acceptable prices and that uncertainty concerningé government regulation of consumer healthparehasing and insurance may result in
difficulties for drug development companies, likg in raising capital.

Changesin laws affecting the health care industry could adversely affect our business.

In the U.S., there have been numerous paip@onsidered at the federal and state levelsimprehensive reforms of health care and its
cost, and it is likely that federal and state llgiges and health agencies will continue to famu$ealth care reform in the future. Congress
considered legislation to reform the U.S. healtte system by expanding health insurance coveradecmng health care costs and making
other changes. While health care reform may ineréas number of patients who have insurance coedgur products, it may also include
cost containment measures that adversely affeatigisement for our products. Congress has alsadares legislation to change the
Medicare reimbursement system for outpatient dringsease the amount of rebates that manufactpegréor coverage of their drugs by
Medicaid programs and facilitate the importatiordayfer-cost prescription drugs that are marketedide the U.S. Some states are also
considering legislation that would control the ps@f drugs, and state Medicaid programs are ingrgly requesting manufacturers to pay
supplemental rebates and requiring prior authadmdty the state program for use of any drug forcWisupplemental rebates are not being
paid. Managed care organizations continue to see& giscounts and, in some cases, to imposectsirs on the coverage of particular drugs.
Government efforts to reduce Medicaid expensesleayto increased use of managed care organizdtiohtedicaid programs. This may
result in managed care organizations influencirg@ription decisions for a larger segment of theupation and a corresponding constraint on
prices and reimbursement for our products.

We and our collaborators and partners apenaa highly regulated industry. As a result, gmmental actions may adversely affect our
business, operations or financial condition, inoigd

. new laws, regulations or judicial decisionsnew interpretations of existing laws, regulationslecisions, related to health care
availability, method of delivery and payment fomhhb care products and services;

. changes in the FDA and foreign regulatory apprpvatesses that may delay or prevent the approvadwfproducts and result
in lost market opportunity;
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. changes in FDA and foreign regulations that mayiregadditional safety monitoring, labeling changestrictions on product
distribution or use, or other measures after th@duction of our products to market, which couidrease our costs of doing
business, adversely affect the future permitted o$@pproved products, or otherwise adverselycaffe market for our

products;
. new laws, regulations and judicial decisions affecpricing or marketing practices; and
. changes in the tax laws relating to our operations.

The enactment in the U.S. of health caferme, possible legislation which could ease theyeat competing follow-on biologics in the
marketplace, new legislation or implementationxiétng statutory provisions on importation of laweost competing drugs from other
jurisdictions, and legislation on comparative efifeeness research are examples of previously eshactg possible future changes in laws
could adversely affect our business. In additibe,Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act@d2included new authorization for the
FDA to require post-market safety monitoring, alavith an expanded clinical trials registry and idal trials results database, and expanded
authority for the FDA to impose civil monetary péigs on companies that fail to meet certain commaitts.

If physicians, patients and third-party payors do not accept any future drugs that we may develop, we may be unable to generate significant
revenue, if any.

Even if our drug candidates as well asdnug candidates that we may develop or acquirkearfuture obtain regulatory approval, they
may not gain market acceptance among physiciatisnggaand health care payors. Physicians may etgdb recommend these drugs for a
variety of reasons including:

. timing of market introduction of competitive drugs;

. lower demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy panmed to other drugs;
. lack of cost-effectiveness;

. lack of availability of reimbursement from third+papayors;

. convenience and ease of administration;

. prevalence and severity of adverse side effects;

. other potential advantages of alternative tresitnrmethods; and

. ineffective marketing and distribution support.

If any drugs that we develop fail to acleiewarket acceptance, we would not be able to gensuéficient revenue from product sales to
maintain or grow our business.

Risks Related to our Capital Stock
Our history of losses and uncertainty of future profitability make our common stock a highly speculative investment.

We have had no commercial revenue to data §ales of our drug candidiates and cannot predien we will have commercial revenue
from such sales. We had an accumulated defici268$ million as of December 31, 2012. We expespend substantial funds to continue
research and development testing of our produetsik have in the preclinical and clinical testatgges of development that have not been
partnered.
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In anticipation of FDA approval of thes@gucts, we will need to make substantial investsmémestablish sales, marketing, quality
control, and regulatory compliance capabilitiese3dninvestments will increase if and when any e$¢hproducts receive FDA approval. We
cannot predict how quickly our lead products wilbgress through the regulatory approval process Aesult, we may continue to lose money
for several years.

We cannot be certain that we will achievswustain profitability in the future. Failure totaeve profitability could diminish our ability to
sustain operations, pay dividends on our commarkstubtain additional required funds and make neglpayments on our present or future
indebtedness.

Our share price has been and could remain volatile.

The market price of our common stock hasohically experienced and may continue to expegesignificant volatility. From January
2012 through December 2012, the market price oftoarmon stock has fluctuated from a high of $7.@0gtare in the fourth quarter of 2012,
to a low of $2.65 per share in the first quarte@12. Our progress in developing and commerciainur products, the impact of government
regulations on our products and industry, the paksale of a large volume of our common stoclstmckholders, our quarterly operating
results, changes in general conditions in the emgnar the financial markets and other developmafiecting us or our competitors could
cause the market price of our common stock to dlatet substantially with significant market losdésur stockholders sell a substantial
number of shares of common stock, especially is¢hgales are made during a short period of tinesgtkales could adversely affect the me
price of our common stock and could impair ourigibtb raise capital. In addition, in recent yedh® stock market has experienced significan
price and volume fluctuations. This volatility haffected the market prices of securities issuethbyy companies for reasons unrelated to
operating performance and may adversely affecptloe of our common stock. In addition, we couldshibject to a securities class action
litigation as a result of volatility in the pricé our stock, which could result in substantial sastd diversion of management's attention and
resources and could harm our stock price, busipesspects, results of operations and financiatlitmm.

The restrictive covenants contained in our credit agreement may limit our activities.

On December 30, 2010, we entered into anlaoal Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement"hwiidCap Financial, LLC (MidCap)
pursuant to which we borrowed $10 million (the ‘fidcoan") from MidCap. In March 2011, we amendedltbhan Agreement and borrowed
an additional $5 million from General Electric CapiCorporation (GECC) (collectively with MidCafet "Lenders") to increase the amount
owed under the Term Loan to $15 million. In Mar€i.2, we amended the Loan Agreement to extend therityadate from December 2013
December 2014. Our obligations under the Term Lavarsecured by a first priority lien upon and sigumterest in substantially all of our
existing and after-acquired assets, excluding wigtlectual property assets (the "Collateral”). &nthe Term Loan, we are subject to specifiec
affirmative covenants customary for loans of tlyist, including but not limited to the obligatiomsrhaintain good standing, provide various
notices to the Lenders, deliver financial stateménthe Lenders, maintain adequate insurance,pihpiischarge all taxes, protect our
intellectual property and protect the Collaterak ¥re also subject to certain negative covenast®mary for loans of this type, including but
not limited to prohibitions against certain mergansl consolidations, certain management and owipechlanges constituting a "change of
control," and the imposition of additional liens Gpllateral or other of our assets, as well as ipitbns against additional indebtedness, ce
dispositions of property, changes in our busineame or location, payment of dividends, prepaynoécertain other indebtedness, certain
investments or acquisitions, and certain transastwith affiliates, in each case subject to certaistomary exceptions, including exceptions
that allow us to enter into non-exclusive and/or
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exclusive licenses and similar agreements provithnghe use of our intellectual property in collasition with third parties provided certain
conditions are met.

Failure to comply with the restrictive conats in our Term Loan could accelerate the repaywfeany debt outstanding under the Term
Loan. Additionally, as a result of these restrietoovenants, we may be at a disadvantage compaoea tompetitors that have greater
operating and financing flexibility than we do.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards will be subject to limitation and, under certain circumstances, may be eliminated.

Utilization of our net operating loss amge&arch and development credit carryforwards maubgect to substantial annual limitation due
to ownership change limitations that have occumediously or that could occur in the future praddoy Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, or Section 382, as well as similaiesprovisions. In general, an ownership changdefised by Section 382, results from
transactions increasing the ownership of certaamediolders or public groups in the stock of a ctafion by more than 50 percentage points
over a three-year period.

In October 2007, June 2009 and in Decerb@®, we experienced a change in ownership asatklig Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. Historically, we have raised cafitaugh the issuance of capital stock on sevemgions which, combined with
shareholders' subsequent disposition of those shiaas resulted in three changes of control, asetbby Section 382. As a result of the
ownership change in October 2007, utilization af Bederal net operating loss carryforwards is sstligean annual limitation. Any unused
annual limitation may be carried over to later yeand the amount of the limitation may, underasertircumstances, be subject to adjustmen
if the fair value of the our net assets are deteedhito be below or in excess of the tax basis cif @ssets at the time of the ownership change.
and such unrealized loss or gain is recognizecthdulie fiveyear period after the ownership change. Subsegqvemtrship changes, as defir
in Section 382, could further limit the amount et wperating loss carryforwards and research awneldg@ment credits that can be utilized
annually to offset future taxable income.

We have not undertaken a study to assesthethan ownership change or multiple ownershimgba has occurred for (i) AVANT or
CuraGen prior to our acquisitions, (ii) the Compamthe state level, (iii) the Company since Octdi¥ 2, or (iv) research and development
credits. If, based on such a study, we were toraéte that there has been an ownership changeyainaa since its formation, utilization of r
operating loss or tax credit carryforwards wouldsbbject to an annual limitation under Section 382.

Refer to Note 15, "Income Taxes," in thea@mwpanying notes to the consolidated financiakstents for additional discussion on income
taxes.

ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

As of February 28, 2013, our significargded properties are described below.

Approximate

Property Location Square Feet Use Lease Expiration Date
Needham, Massachuse 35,200 Office Headquarters and Laboratc  April 2017

Fall River, Massachusetl 23,400 Manufacturing Facility December 2017(1
Phillipsburg, New Jerse 19,40C Office and Laborator November 201.
Branford, Connectict 6,60C Office January 2018(z

Q) Lease includes two renewal options of five yeachehease also includes provision for early terridamain December
2015 upon prior notice of one year.

(2) Lease includes one renewal option of five yearsiskaalso includes provision for early terminatiagthv2 months notici

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any matéeigal proceedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

tem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock currently trades on theddg Global Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol "CLDXhe following table sets forth f
the periods indicated the high and low sale prprsshare for our common stock, as reported by NAGQD

Fiscal Period High Low
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quarte! $ 42: $ 3.4t
Second Quarte 4.4€ 3.0z
Third Quartel 3.7¢ 2.2¢
Fourth Quarte 3.21 2.11
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quartel $ 5.66 $ 2.6F
Second Quarte 5.32 3.8¢
Third Quartel 6.62 4.4€
Fourth Quarte 7.2C 5.0z

As of February 28, 2013, there were appnately 483 shareholders of record of our commookstOn February 28, 2013 the closing
price of our common stock, as reported by NASDA@sW9.52 per share. We have not paid any dividendsir common stock since our
inception and do not intend to pay any dividendthaforeseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information@sDecember 31, 2012 regarding shares of our camstark that may be issued under our
existing equity compensation plans, including cd®& Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2008 Bland our 2004 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the "2004 ESPP Plan").

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted Average future issuance under equity
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plan
of outstanding options outstanding options (excluding securities
and rights(1) and rights referenced in column (a))
Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders(2 5,349,81i(3)$ 5.9¢ 3,390,52i((4)

(1) Does not include any Restricted Stock as shelnes are already reflected in our outstandingesha

(2) Consists of the 2008 Plan, 2004 ESPP Plaidé&eResearch's 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and Gengs 2007 Stock
Plan.

3) Does not include purchase rights accruing unde2@@ ESPP Plan because the purchase price (amedotfgethe numbe
of shares to be purchased) will not be determingil the end of the purchase period.

(4) Includes shares available for future issuance utieR008 Plan and the 2004 ESPP F
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CELLDEX THEAPEUTICS, INC., NASDAQ MARKET INDEX—U.S. AND
PEER GROUP INDICES

The graph below compares the cumulatived &ibckholder return on the common stock for theqal from December 31, 2007 through
December 31, 2012, with the cumulative return §INASDAQ Market Index—U.S. Companies and (i) NASQAharmaceutical Index. The
comparison assumes investment of $100 on Decendb@08B7 in our common stock and in each of thecesland, in each case, assumes
reinvestment of all dividends. The points on thapgrare as of December 31 of the year indicated.

Dollars
$180
160
$140
£120
3100
580
$50
$40
520
- i i i f |
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
i Callcliix Thisrmpiutics, M,
—E— Nasdaq Stock Markat (.S Index
—ir— Masdag Pharmaceutical Sloek Index
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc $ 10C $ 132 $ 78 $ 69 $ 43 $ 117
NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Inde $10C $ 61 $ 88 $ 104 $ 10t $ 124
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stock Ind $ 10C $ 93 $ 10t $ 115 $ 121 $ 161

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated finahciata are derived from our financial statemehit® consolidated statement of operations dat
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@d &0d the consolidated balance sheet data as eifer 31, 2012 and 2011 have been
derived from our audited consolidated financiatestzents included elsewhere in this Annual Repoff@m 10-K. This data should be read in
conjunction with our audited consolidated finansi@tements and related notes which are includeivblere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and "Management's Discussion and AnglgEFinancial Condition and Results of Operatidnsfuded in Item 7 below.

On October 1, 2009, our acquisition of Ga became effective. The CuraGen acquisition weswmted for using the acquisition
method of accounting and was treated as our atignisif CuraGen. Accordingly, the financial infortizan presented below for periods prioi
October 1, 2009 reflects the financial position #meresults of operations of us alone, and foioperfrom October 1, 2009 forward the
combined financial position and combined resultepdrations of us and CuraGen.

On March 7, 2008, AVANT Immunotherapeutics;. ("AVANT"), a Delaware corporation organizedi983, merged with Celldex
Research (formerly known as Celldex Therapeutits),l a privately-held company, (the "AVANT MerggrEffective October 1, 2008, we
changed our name from AVANT Immunotherapeutics, tacCelldex Therapeutics, Inc. The AVANT Mergersaaccounted
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for using the purchase method of accounting andtreased as an acquisition by Celldex ResearchWAMT even though AVANT was the
issuer of common stock and the surviving legaltgrmi the transaction. Accordingly, the financiafarmation presented below for periods p
to March 8, 2008 reflects the financial positiom dhe results of operations of Celldex Researchegland for periods from March 8, 2008
forward the combined financial position and combinesults of operations of Celldex Research and NVAAIl amounts are in thousands
except per share data.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensin
Agreements $ 14€ $ 11C $ 40,18° $ 5,66z $ 3,71¢
Contracts and Gran 281 36 22C 1,80z 53¢
Product Royaltie 10,77t 9,11¢ 6,38¢ 7,71¢ 3,201
Total Revenur 11,20: 9,26¢ 46,79 15,18( 7,45¢€
OPERATING EXPENSE
Research and Developme 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 27,65( 26,16¢ 22,63¢
Royalty 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 12,077 8,391 3,711
Charge for In-Process Research ar
Development(1 — — — — 14,75¢
Other Operating Expen: 11,10¢ 11,10¢ 13,52: 17,46« 15,10¢
Total Operating Expens 69,27¢ 52,66¢ 53,24¢ 52,03( 56,21:
Operating Los! (58,077 (43,399 (6,455  (36,85()  (48,75¢)
Investment and Other Income, M 53C 39¢€ 5,25¢ 24¢ 1,411
Interest Expens (1,57¢) (1,796 (1,337 (452) (15€)
Net Loss Before Income Tax (59,129 (44,799 (2,539 (37,059  (47,50)
Income Tax Benefi — — — 52¢ —
Net Loss $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,537 $ (36,52H $ (47,50
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per
Common Shar $ (102 % (@19 $ (00 $ (18H) % (3.39
Shares Used in Calculating Basic a
Diluted Net Loss Per Common
Share 57,71 39,50: 31,86¢ 19,82 14,217

Q) The 2008 amount arose as a result of the mergeebatAVANT and us

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Working Capital $ 67,42¢ $ 40,38 $ 42,73¢ $ 69,56¢ $ 32,97t
Total Assets 125,54: 97,99 109,94 140,36: 69,79:
Long Term Liabilities 12,08: 14,97 14,48( 52,19( 37,55¢
Accumulated Defici (264,129  (205,00() (160,20) (157,679 (121,149
Total Stockholders' Equit 95,77 68,72: 75,25t 73,767 18,13«
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are a biopharmaceutical company foceseithe development and commercialization of severalunotherapy technologies for the
treatment of cancer and other difficult-to-treatadises. Our drug candidates are derived from al lsetaof complementary technologies which
have the ability to utilize the human immune systerd enable the creation of therapeutic agentsaM/@sing these technologies to develop
targeted immunotherapeutics comprised of antibodigisivants and monotherapies and antibody-druggates that prevent or treat cancer
and other diseases that modify undesirable actiitthe body's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepi(@DX-110), a targeted immunotherapeutic in afal/Phase 3 study for the treatment of
front-line glioblastoma and a Phase 2 study fortteatment of recurrent glioblastoma and CDX-0Xlaatibodydrug conjugate which recen
completed a randomized Phase 2b study for themiegdtof advanced breast cancer. In addition, we bawmber of earlier stage candidate
clinical development, including CDX-1135, a molextiat inhibits a part of the immune system catfedcomplement system, CDX-1127, a
therapeutic fully human monoclonal antibody for @amindications, CDX301, an immune cell mobilizing agent and denddét growth facto
and CDX-1401, an APC Targeting Technology™ progfantancer indications. Our drug candidates addremet opportunities for which
we believe current therapies are inadequate oreméstent.

We are building a fully integrated, commakstage biopharmaceutical company that develogoitant therapies for patients with unmet
medical needs. Our program assets provide us hatistrategic options to either retain full econongbts to our innovative therapies or seek
favorable economic terms through advantageous coomh@artnerships. This approach allows us to méze the overall value of our
technology and product portfolio while best ensgittine expeditious development of each individuadpct.

The following table includes the programattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
CDX-110 Front-line glioblastoma —  Phase 3
(rindopepimut)
CDX-011 Metastatic breast cancer and melanoma —  Phase 2b
(glembatumumab vedotil
CDX-110 Recurrent glioblastoma —  Phase 2
(rindopepimut)
CDX-1135 Renal diseas — Pilot
CDX-1127 Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc —  Phase:
CDX-301 Cancer, autoimmune disease and trans| —  Phase:
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors —  Phase:
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc —  Preclinical

The expenditures that will be necessamxecute our business plan are subject to numermestainties. Completion of clinical trials
take several years or more, and the length of tjereerally varies substantially according to theetygpmplexity, novelty and intended use of a
product candidate. It is not unusual for the chihidevelopment of these types of product candidatesch take five years or more, and for:
development costs to exceed $100 million for eacklyct
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candidate. Our estimates that clinical trials @& type we generally conduct are typically completeer the following timelines:

Estimated

Completion
Clinical Phase Period
Phase : 1-2 Years
Phase @ 1-5 Years
Phase { 1-5 Years

The duration and the cost of clinical sialay vary significantly over the life of a project a result of differences arising during the
clinical trial protocol, including, among otherketfollowing:

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trial;

. the duration of patient follow-up that seems apgetp in view of results;
. the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. the length of time required to enroll suitable patisubjects; and

. the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

We test potential product candidates in engus preclinical studies for safety, toxicologylammunogenicity. We may then conduct
multiple clinical trials for each product candidafe we obtain results from trials, we may electligcontinue or delay clinical trials for certain
product candidates in order to focus our resouscasiore promising product candidates.

An element of our business strategy isuiipe the research and development of a broadportf product candidates. This is intended
to allow us to diversify the risks associated vaithr research and development expenditures. Asuét,re® believe our future capital
requirements and our future financial success arsubstantially dependent on any one product careli To the extent we are unable to
maintain a broad range of product candidates, epeddence on the success of one or a few produodidedes increases.

Regulatory approval is required before am market our product candidates as therapeutiupts. In order to proceed to subsequent
clinical trial stages and to ultimately achieveulegory approval, the regulatory agency must caselilnat our clinical data is safe and effect
Historically, the results from preclinical testingd early clinical trials (through Phase 2) hawermmhot been predictive of results obtained in
later clinical trials. A number of new drugs andlbgics have shown promising results in early chhirials, but subsequently failed to
establish sufficient safety and efficacy data ttaobnecessary regulatory approvals.

Furthermore, our business strategy inclikde®ption of entering into collaborative arrangets with third parties to complete the
development and commercialization of our producdidates. In the event that third parties take derclinical trial process for one of our
product candidates, the estimated completion datddiargely be under control of that third paragher than us. We cannot forecast with any
degree of certainty which proprietary productsyi§, will be subject to future collaborative arrangents, in whole or in part, and how such
arrangements would affect our development plarapital requirements. Our programs may also befrefit subsidies, grants, contracts or
government or agency-sponsored studies that cedlace our development costs.

As a result of the uncertainties discussgalve, among others, it is difficult to accuratesfimate the duration and completion costs of ou
research and development projects or when, if eratto what extent we will receive cash inflonanfirthe commercialization and sale of a
product. Our inability to complete our research dadelopment projects in a timely manner or odufaito enter into collaborative
agreements, when appropriate, could significamityease our capital requirements and
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could adversely impact our liquidity. These undettas could force us to seek additional, extesmirces of financing from time to time in
order to continue with our business strategy. @ability to raise additional capital, or to do soterms reasonably acceptable to us, would
jeopardize the future success of our busir

During the past five years through Decen#igr2012, we incurred an aggregate of $156.3anilin research and development expenses
The following table indicates the amount incurreddach of our significant research programs anatteer identified research and
development activities during the years ended Déeer8l, 2012, 2011 and 2010. The amounts disclioséw following table reflect direct
research and development costs, license fees asmbeiith the underlying technology and an allaratf indirect research and development
costs to each program.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
(In thousands)

Rindopepimu $ 25,00¢ $ 8,36¢ $ 1,71¢
CDX-011 6,32¢ 4,917 4,10¢
CDX-1135 7,10¢ 5,52¢ 83¢
CDX-1127 4,02( 5,96¢ 4,96
CDX-301 1,482 1,112 4,34¢
CDX-1401 1,03: 2,46¢ 2,89¢
CDX-014 1,071 481 13C
Other Program 1,35¢ 3,61( 8,64¢
Total R&D Expenst $ 47,39¢ $ 32,43¢ $ 27,65(

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Our lead clinical development program, apéepimut, is a targeted immunotherapeutic thaetarthe tumor-specific molecule, epidermal
growth factor receptor variant lll, or EGFRvIII. E@VIII is a mutated form of the epidermal growthtfa receptor, or EGFR, that is only
expressed in cancer cells and not in normal tiasiecan directly contribute to cancer cell grov&&FRVIII is expressed in approximately 3
of glioblastoma, or GB, tumors, also referred tgkablastoma multiforme, or GBM, the most commanl aggressive form of brain cancer.
Rindopepimut is composed of the EGFRvIII peptickdid to a carrier protein called Keyhole Limpet Heganin, or KLH, and administered
together with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDxdministration, or FDA, and the European Medisidgency, or EMA, have both
granted orphan drug designation for rindopepimutte treatment of EGFRvIII expressing GB. The Fb&s also granted Fast Track
designation.

In April 2008, we and Pfizer Inc. enteratbia License and Development Agreement under whiizer was granted an exclusive
worldwide license to rindopepimut. This agreemewowjled for reimbursement by Pfizer of all costsuimed by us in connection with the
collaboration since the effective date. In Noveni@t0, the agreement was terminated and all rightsidopepimut were returned to us. Si
the termination of this agreement, Pfizer is ngkmfunding the development of rindopepimut.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetweats ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investiget at the Brain Center at Duke
Comprehensive Cancer Center in Durham, North Gaaind at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houstera$ and enrolled 18 evaluable
GB patients. An extension of the Phase 2a studyned to as ACT Il evaluated 22 additional GB patdreated in
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combination with the current standard of care, temiance temozolomide, or TMZ, at the same twotinsins.

We initiated ACT lll, a Phase 2b/3 randoadiztudy of rindopepimut combined with standardaske, TMZ, versus standard of care alone
in patients with GB in over 30 sites throughout theted States. In December 2008, we announcedn@m@ment to convert the ACT Il study
to a single-arm Phase 2 clinical trial in whichktients were to receive rindopepimut in combovatvith TMZ. The decision, which followed
the recommendation of the Independent Data Momigo@ommittee, was based on the observation thah#jerity of patients randomized to
the control (standard of care) arm withdrew froiis thpen-label study after being randomized to thatrol arm. Patients participating in the
control arm of the study were offered the optiomgceive treatment with rindopepimut. Under thissadment, the ACT Il study provided for
a multi-center, non-randomized dataset for rindapepin patients with newly diagnosed GB.

In November 2012, we announced three-yeaiveal data for each of our three Phase 2 studiesmdopepimut, ACT 1ll, ACT Il and
ACTIVATE. The median overall survival, or OS, in AGll was 24.6 months from diagnosis (21.8 montiest study entry) and OS was 26%
at three years. The median OS in ACT Il was 24.athfrom diagnosis (20.5 months from study erding OS was 23% at three years. The
median OS in ACTIVATE was 24.6 months from diagsd&0.4 months from study entry) and OS was 33trat years. In addition we also
announced data from a retrospective analysis of lB@Fexpression status and associated clinicat@mie in the Phase 3 Radiation Therapy
Oncology Group's, or RTOG, 0525 study. This analysis conducted by The University of Texas MD AsdarCancer Center in cooperation
with RTOG to provide an assessment of the progrfosigatients with EGFRvIII-positive disease conparary with the ACT Il data. Across
three Phase 2 studies of rindopepimut, surviva danains consistent and suggests a continuingvalibenefit in comparison to independent
control datasets (see chart below) at the medidraathree years.

Rindopepimut Overall Survival (OS) in EGFRuvIII-Positive Glioblastoma vs Independent Control Datasets

Rindopepimut Phase 2 Studies (all data from studyrgry)

Medium OS at

(months) 3 years
ACT Ill (n=65) 21.¢ 26%
ACT Il (n=22) 20.E 23%
ACTIVATE (n=18) 20.2 33%

Independent Control Datasets (all data from study etry)

MD Anderson EGFRuvIlI-positive patients matched@MCTIVATE patient

population (n=17(contemporary with ACTIVATE 12.2(2) 6%
Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 0525 study-=EGFRuvIII-

positive patients (n=14:(contemporary with ACT III 15.1 18%
RTOG 0525 study—all EGFRvIII-positive patients teshwith standard dos:

temozolomide (n=62(contemporary with ACT Il 14.2 7%
RTOG 0525 study—EGFRVIlI-positive patients matctigdo ACT HI/IV

patient population (n=2¢contemporary with ACT 1| 16 13%

(1) Controls are closely matched to rindopepinmattgmt criteria including gross total resectiorpafient tumor and
~3 months without disease progression at timeuafysentry
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(2) In order to provide comparable timeframes acrosssgds, data have been estimated assuming stugya¢tiiree months
from diagnosis

In December 2011, we initiated ACT IV, &qtal, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phastu@ly of rindopepimut in patients with
surgically resected, EGFRUvIlI-positive GB. Patieats randomized after the completion of surgerystaddard chemoradiation treatment. The
treatment regime includes a rindopepimut priminggghpost-radiation followed by an adjuvant TMZ ghasd a rindopepimut maintenance
therapy phase. Patients are treated until diseagggssion or intolerance to therapy. The primdnjgctive of the study is to determine whethel
rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-CSF improves the aileaurvival of patients with newly diagnosed EGHRpositive GB after Gross Total
Resection, or GTR, when compared to treatment WiliZ and a control injection of KLH. KLH is a compent of rindopepimut and was
selected due to its ability to generate a simit@gdtion site reaction to that observed with ringleimut. ACT 1V will enroll up to 440 patients
over 150 centers worldwide to recruit approximat@ig patients with GTR to be included in the priynanalysis. We expect to complete
patient accrual by the end of 2013 and anticipateiving data 18 to 24 months after completingwaiciVe anticipate ACT IV to cost over
$60 million during its duration.

In December 2011, we also initiated ReAG@Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witlastin® in patients with recurrent
EGFRuvllI-positive GB. ReACT will enroll approximately 95 patts in a first or second relapse of GB follownegeipt of standard therapy ¢
will be conducted at approximately 20 sites acthesUnited States. Approximately 70 patients wheehget to receive Avastin will be
randomized to receive either rindopepimut and Awmast a control injection of KLH and Avastin in éifded fashion. Another 25 patients who
are refractory to Avastin having received Avastireither the frontline or recurrent setting witbsequent progression will receive
rindopepimut plus Avastin in a single treatment aWie expect data from this study to be availablénénsecond half of 2013.

In addition, researchers at Stanford Ursiitgrare conducting an investigator sponsoredt pilal of rindopepimut in pediatric patients
with pontine glioma. Patient enrollment is ongofogthis trial.

Glembatumumab Vedotin (CDX-011)

CDX-011 is an antibody-drug conjugate, @@ that consists of a fully-human monoclonal amdifp, CR011, linked to a potent cell-
killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin E, or MMAE. Ti&R011 antibody specifically targets glycoproteib Bl referred to as GPNMB, that is
expressed in a variety of human cancers includiegdi cancer and melanoma. The ADC technology, asathof MMAE and a stable linker
system for attaching it to CR0O11, was licensed f@mattle Genetics, Inc. The ADC is designed totdlels in the bloodstream. Following
intravenous administration, CDX-011 targets andlbito GPNMB and upon internalization into the téedecell, CDX-011 is designed to
release MMAE from CRO11 to produce a cell-killinffeet. The FDA has granted Fast Track designatioBDX-011 for the treatment of
advanced, refractory/resistant GPNMB-expressingdireancer.

Treatment of Breast Cancer: In June 2008, an open-label, multi-center PA&3etudy was initiated of CDX-011 administered
intravenously once every three weeks to patientls cally advanced or metastatic breast cancer latbreceived prior therapy (median of
seven prior regimens). The study began with a brgighase to confirm the maximum tolerated dos®&)®D, and then expanded into a
Phase 2 open-label, multi-center study.

The study confirmed the safety of CDX-011h& pre-defined maximum dose level (1.88 mg/kdj patients. An additional 28 patients
were enrolled in an expanded Phase 2 cohort (fotahof 34 treated patients at 1.88 mg/kg, thesBiadose) to evaluate the PFS rate at
12 weeks. As previously seen in melanoma pati¢éimts] .88 mg/kg dose was well tolerated in thisgratpopulation with the most common
adverse events of rash, alopecia, and fatigue pfilrary activity endpoint, which called
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for at least 5 of 25 (20%) patients in the Phastugy portion to be progression-free at 12 weelkes met as 9 of 26 (35%) evaluable patients
were progression-free at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximumedesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/2@)raedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of
10 patients had "triple negative disease," a mggeessive breast cancer subtype that carries arisiglf relapse and reduced survival as well
as limited therapeutic options due to lack of oeepression of HER2/neu, estrogen and progestesmaptors. In these patients, 78% (7/9) ha
some tumor shrinkage, 12-week PFS rate was 709%)(7dhd median PFS was 17.9 weeks. Tumor sampulesdrsubset of patients across all
dose groups were analyzed for GPNMB expressiontiimer samples from most patients showed evidehstgamal and/or tumor cell
expression of GPNMB.

In December 2011, we completed enrollmé®MERGE, a randomized, multi-center Phase 2b stfdyDX-011 in 122 patients with
heavily pre-treated, advanced, GPNMB positive lireascer. Patients were randomized (2:1) to reagither CDX-011 or single-agent
Investigator's Choice, or IC, chemotherapy. Pagiesmndomized to receive IC were allowed to cross twreceive CDX-011 following disease
progression. Activity endpoints include responge,rBFS and OS.

In December 2012, we announced final resakt shown below, from the EMERGE study which sstgyl that CDX-011 induces
significant response rates compared to currentiyl@ve therapies in patient subsets with advanedthctory breast cancers with GPNMB
over-expression (expression in greater than 258mbr cells) and in patients with triple negatiredst cancer. The overall survival, or OS,
and progression free survival, or PFS, of patitnested with CDX-011 was also observed to be gs¢atepatients with triple negative breast
cancer who also over-express GPNMB and all patieitts GPNMB over-expression.

EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldba

On target effect clearly demonstrated ir
targeted patient populations
Triple Negative
GPNMB and GPNMB

All Patients Triple Negative Over-Expression Over-Expression
CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC
(n=81) (n=36) (n=27) (n=9) (n=25) (n=8) (n=12) (n=4)
Responsi 16% 14% 19% 0% 32% 13% 33% 0%
Disease
Control
Rate 57% 53% 67% 33% 64% 38% 75% 25%

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's GhdxDX-011 arm includes 15 patients who crossed toveeceive CDX-011
treatment after progression on IC. Analysis of lwesponse excludes patients who discontinued ftady svithout evaluable
pos-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for C[-011 arm; n=5 for IC arm)
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EMERGE: Overall Survival (OS) and Progression FreeSurvival (PFS) Data

On target effect clearly demonstrated ir
targeted patient populations
Triple Negative

GPNMB and GPNMB
All Patients Triple Negative Over-Expression Over-Expression
CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC CDX-011 IC
Median OS
(months) 7.5 7.4 6.9 6.5 10.C 5.7 10.C 5.5
p=0.24 p=0.30 p=0.18 p=0.003
Median PFS
(months) 2.1 2.C 2.3 1.€ 2.7 1.t 3.C 1.5
p=0.38 p=0.43 p=0.14 p=0.008

Analyses include all treated patients. Patients iitially received Investigator's Choice (IC) asdbsequently crossed over to
receive CDX-011 (n=15) are included in the PFS gni for each treatment. These patients, with aiame@S of 12.5 months,
are assigned to the IC arm only for OS analysisdislie OS for the remaining IC patients who did naiss over is 5.4 months.
When cross over patients are removed, median @8&tiaents with GPNMB over-expression is 10.0 mofdh€DX-011 vs

5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and median OS in tripkgative patients with GPNMB over-expression i§ b@onths for CDX-011
vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.00¢

In December 2012, we had our end of Phhgaeeting with the FDA for our CDX-011 program. Bdn this meeting, we intend to
initiate a randomized study of CDX-011 suitable docelerated approval in patients with triple niegabreast cancer that also over-
express GPNMB in the second half of 2013.

One lot of our CDX-011 product candidatesvaaeptically filled in 2009 by Formatech, a thpadty contract manufacturer. At the end of
January 2012, we were notified by the FDA that heeasignificant Good Manufacturing Practice, or d&5Miolations were uncovered during
inspection of Formatech, our Phase 2b study for @RX was being placed on partial clinical hold. Eheical hold did not significantly
impact the conduct or analysis of the Phase 2lygtardurposes of determining next steps in ouneiidevelopment of CDX-011. In March
2013, we received written confirmation from the Fihat the clinical hold was removed following thegwiew of our clinical hold response
regarding reprocessing of the CDX-011 manufactatdebormatech.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: In 2009, we completed enroliment of 117 patenta Phase 1/2 open-label, multi-center, dose
escalation study to evaluate the safety, tolettgtaind pharmacokinetics of CDX-011 for patientdmih-resectable Stage Il or Stage IV
melanoma who had failed no more than one priordingytotoxic therapy. The MTD was determined tolk@8 mg/kg administered
intravenously once every three weeks. The studiewaetl its primary activity objective with an ORRthre Phase 2 cohort of 15% (5/34).
Median PFS was 3.9 months. CDX-011 was generallytalerated, with the most frequent treatmeslated adverse events being rash, fati
hair loss, pruritus, diarrhea and neuropathy. éngtibset of patients with tumor biopsies, highlleweétumor expression of GPNMB appeared
to correlate with favorable outcome. In the sevatiepts whose tumors were found to express highuatsmf GPNMB, and who were treated
at the maximum tolerated doses across all dosingdsdes, median PFS was 4.9 months. The developsheash, which may be associated
with the presence of GPNMB in the skin also seetoambrrelate with greater PFS.

We intend to initially focus our resouragsadvancing CDX-011 for the treatment of breasteawhile pursuing further development of
CDX-011 in melanoma and other indications thatkeu@wvn to express GPNMB.
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CDX-1135

CDX-1135 is a molecule that inhibits a pErthe human immune system called the complemestés. The complement system is a
series of proteins that are important initiatorshef body's acute inflammatory response againsades infection and injury. Excessive
complement activation also plays a role in somsiptmt inflammatory conditions. CDX-1135 is a $déuform of naturally occurring
Complement Receptor 1 that has been shown to trthibiactivation of the complement cascade in ahmwalels and in human clinical trials.
In preclinical studies, CDX-1135 has been showmhibit both the classical and alternative pathwafysomplement activation.

Dense Deposit Disease, or DDD, is a ratedmvastating disease that is caused by uncortradigvation of the alternative pathway of
complement and leads to progressive kidney dammagkildren. There is currently no treatment forigras with DDD and about half progress
to end-stage renal disease within 10 years. BedaD$erecurs in virtually all patients who receiv&idney transplant, transplantation is not a
viable option for these patients. In animal moaéI®DD, CDX-1135 treatment showed evidence of reakof kidney damage.

Initial experience under an investigatasrsgored IND indicated that CDX-1135 limits complerhabnormalities in DDD. In 2011, we
completed process development activities and irl 20 2012 we manufactured multiple runs of cGMEadl drug product at our Fall River
manufacturing facility in preparation for our Ph&sgilot study. We are planning to initiate a pgbtidy of CDX-1135 in a small number of
DDD patients to determine the appropriate doseraginen for further clinical development based afety, tolerability and biological activity
with data expected by the end of 2013.

CDX-1127

CDX-1127 is a human monoclonal antibody thegets CD27, a potentially important targetifomunotherapy of various cancers. We
have entered into license agreements with the Wsityeof Southampton, UK for intellectual propergtated to uses of anti-CD27 antibodies
and with Medarex (now a subsidiary of the Bristojévs Squibb Company) for access to the UltiMabretdgy to develop and commercialize
human antibodies to CD27. CD27 acts downstream f£@40 and may provide a novel way to regulate tm@ine responses. CD27 is a co-
stimulatory molecule on T cells and is over-expedss certain lymphomas and leukemias. CDX-112hisgonist antibody designed to have
two potential therapeutic mechanisms. CDX-1127h&en shown to activate immune cells that can tangeteliminate cancerous cells in
tumor-bearing mice and to directly Kill or inhiltite growth of CD27 expressing lymphomas and leu&srimi vitro and in vivo. Both
mechanisms have been seen even at low doses iopajape preclinical models.

In November 2011, we initiated an open lathese-escalating Phase 1 study of CDX-1127 ireptt with selected malignant solid tumors
or hematologic cancers at multiple clinical siteshie United States. The Phase 1 study is desigrtedt five escalating doses of CDX-1127 to
determine a Phase 2 dose for further developmesgichan safety, tolerability, potential activity anmtmunogenicity. The study will accrue
approximately 30 patients in each of the two amither selected refractory or relapsed solid tunsolgmphomas or leukemias known to
express CD27. Patients will have received all appate prior therapies for their specific disea&®e trial design incorporates both single
dosing and multiple dosing regimens at each dos#.IEnrollment has completed in the Phase 1 podfdhe solid tumor arm and CDX-1127
was determined to be well tolerated to date, inoly@t the highest dose level. Following a reviduwhe clinical data from these patients, an
expansion cohort will be enrolled in 2013. We cond to enroll patients in the dose escalation gomif the lymphoma and leukemia arm and
also plan the initiation of an expansion cohorthig arm in 2013. We anticipate reporting data ftbm CDX-1127 program in the second half
of 2013.
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CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3aligl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendritidl ggowth factor. We licensed CDX0O1 from
Amgen in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hematajoigytokine that stimulates the expansion ancedéfitiation of hematopoietic
progenitor and stem cells. CDX-301 has demonstrat@tique capacity to increase the number of @tind dendritic cells in both laboratory
and clinical studies. In addition, CDX-301 has shampressive results in models of cancer, infectidiseases and inflammatory/autoimmune
diseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold significamtastunity for synergistic development in combipativith other proprietary molecules in
our portfolio.

In February 2013, we announced final resiuim our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDXH#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration
with Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study ea&dd seven different dosing regimens of CDX-30determine the appropriate dose for
further development based on safety, tolerabidityd biological activity. The data from the studyr@veonsistent with previous clinical
experience and demonstrated that CDX-301 was wigfated and can effectively mobilize hematopoistém cell populations in healthy
volunteers. Based on the safety profile and theeames observed for CD34+ stem cells and dendelis, we plan to initiate a pilot study in
hematopoietic stem cell transplant by the end af320

CDX-1401

CDX-1401, developed from our APC Targefireghnology, is a fusion protein consisting of dyftluman monoclonal antibody with
specificity for the dendritic cell receptor, DEC®0inked to the NY-ESO-1 tumor antigen. In humax¥;ESO-1 has been detected in 20 -
30% of all melanoma, lung, esophageal, liver, gagtrostate, ovarian and bladder cancers, thugsepting a broad opportunity. This proc
is intended to selectively deliver the NY-ESGantigen to dendritic cells for generating rolimghune responses against cancer cells expre
NY-ESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the treatneémalignant melanoma and a variety of solid tesn@hich express the proprietary
cancer antigen NY-ESO-1, which we licensed fromlLthdwig Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Bnéxal studies have shown that CDX-
1401 is effective for activation of human T celbpenses against NY-ESO-1.

In October 2012, we announced results faciese-escalating, multi-center, Phase 1 studyetreduated three different doses of CDX-
1401 in combination with toll-like receptor agosigioly-ICLC or Hiltonol™ and/or R848 or resiquimdd.total, the study enrolled 45 patients
with advanced malignancies that had progressedafieavailable curative and/or salvage theraji@% of patients had confirmed NY-ESO
expression in archived tumor sample. Thirteen ptieaintained stable disease for up to 13.4 monitfisa median of 6.7 months. Treatment
was well-tolerated and there were no dose limitoxgcities. Humoral responses were elicited in g¥ESO-1 positive and negative patients.
NY-ESO-1-specific T cell responses were absent orablaseline, but increased post-vaccination in 68&valuable patients, including both
CD4 and/or CD8 T cell responses. Robust immuneoresgs were observed with CDX-1401 with resiquimad Roly ICLC alone and in
combination. The study has identified a well-toledaand immunogenic regimen to take forward intftliure studies and we expect that a
study sponsored by the Cancer Immunotherapy Tatsiork of the National Cancer Institute will betiated in 2013.

Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC tltargets TIM-1, a molecule that is highly expresea renal and ovarian cancers with
minimal expression in normal tissues. The antib@iyX-014, is linked to MMAE using Seattle Genetigsgdprietary technology. The ADC is
designed to
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be stable in the bloodstream, but to release MMpA&nLinternalization into TIM-1-expressing tumorlsgetesulting in a targeted cell-killing
effect. CDX-014 has shown potent activity in preidal models of ovarian and renal cancer. We anglgcting proof-of-concept studies in
2013 to optimize the drug candidate to move intarimanufacturing and IND-enabling studies.

Marketed Products
Rotavirus Vaccini

Rotavirus is a major cause of diarrheaanditing in infants and children. In 1997, we lised our oral rotavirus strain to Glaxo and
Glaxo assumed responsibility for all subsequemiadi trials and all other development activitidée licensed-in the rotavirus strain that was
used to develop Glaxo's Rotarix rotavirus vaccm&d95 and owe a license fee of 30% to Cincinnhtidfen's Hospital Medical Center, or
CCH, on net royalties received from Glaxo. In M®032, we entered into an agreement whereby anaafibf Paul Royalty Fund Il, L.P., or
PRF, purchased a 70% interest in the net royalteeseceived on worldwide sales of Rotarix.

In December 2012, a U.S. patent for ouaviotis strain that we licensed to Glaxo expirede Giaxo agreement terminates automatically
upon the expiration, lapse or invalidation of thstlrelevant patent right (patent or patent aptiopcovered by the Glaxo agreement. The
remaining relevant patent right is a patent appiboain Mexico with a projected final expiry date May 2013 which is under appeal. The PRF
agreement provided for a normal expiry of the PBfeament on December 12, 2012 except that the BREEment provides for an exclusive
120-day right of negotiation for extension in carteircumstances.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our significant accounting policies areatésed in Note 2 to the consolidated financialetaents included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
We believe our most critical accounting policieslimle accounting for business combinations, reveacegnition, impairment of long-lived
assets, research and development expenses anebasmEk compensation expense.

The methods, estimates and judgments wéegeplying our most critical accounting policiegve a significant impact on the results we
report in our consolidated financial statements.a¥a&uate our estimates and judgments on an orgduanis. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on assumptions that wewugeto be reasonable under the circumstancesegparience and assumptions form the
basis for our judgments about the carrying valuassits and liabilities that are not readily apptairem other sources. Actual results may van
from what we anticipate and different assumptionestimates about the future could materially cleamgr reported results. We believe the
following accounting policies are the most crititalus in that they are important to the portrafabur financial statements and they require
most difficult, subjective or complex judgmentdiie preparation of our consolidated financial stegets:

Business Combinatior

We account for business combinations utifteacquisition method of accounting. We recordfétirevalue of the consideration transfer
to acquire a business to the tangible assets amtifidble intangible assets acquired and lialk#itassumed on the basis of their fair values at
the date of acquisition. We assess the fair val@ssgets, including intangible assets such as IPR&lhg a variety of methods including
present-value models. Each asset is measured atfae from the perspective of a market participdhe method used to estimate the fair
values of IPR&D assets incorporates significantagstions regarding the estimates a market partitipauld make in order to evaluate an
asset, including a market participant's assumptiegarding the probability of completing IPR&D peofs, which would require obtaining
regulatory approval for marketing of the
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associated drug candidate; a market participastisiates regarding the timing of and the expectatscto complete IPR&D projects; a market
participant's estimates of future cash flows frasteptial product sales; and the appropriate discaias for a market participant. Transaction
costs and restructuring costs associated withréimsaction are expensed as incurred.

IPR&D assets acquired in a business contibiménitially are recorded at fair value and acetad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets.
These assets are maintained on our consolidataddskheets until either the project underlyingrtiecompleted or the assets become
impaired. If a project is completed, the carryiredue of the related intangible asset is amortiaast the remaining estimated life of the asset
beginning in the period in which the project is gdeted. If a project becomes impaired or is abardpthe carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair valrel an impairment charge is taken in the perioshith the impairment occurs. IPR&D assets
are tested for impairment on an annual basis duhieghird quarter, or earlier if impairment indices are present. We performed an annual
impairment test of the IPR&D assets as of JulylL,2and concluded that the IPR&D assets were noaiiad.

Intangible assets acquired in a businessatation with a finite life are recorded at faalwe and amortized over the greater of economi
consumption or on a straight-line basis over thstimated useful life.

The difference between the purchase pricktlae fair value of assets acquired and liabdiissumed in a business combination is rec
to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment an annual basis during the third quarter, oliezaflimpairment indicators are present. We
performed an annual impairment test of the goodwgifiet as of July 1, 2012 and concluded that thdwitl asset was not impaired.

Revenue Recognitic

We recognizes revenue when all of the foilhg criteria are met: persuasive evidence of aangement exists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the seller's pridetbuyer is fixed or determinable; and collecigbit reasonably assured.

We have entered into and in the future evagr into biopharmaceutical product developmergements with collaborative partners for
the research and development of therapeutic drodugts. The terms of the agreements may includesfiamdable signing and licensing fees,
funding for research, development and manufacturiritestone payments and royalties on any procdalessderived from collaborations. Th
multiple element arrangements are analyzed to mi@terwhether the deliverables can be separatedhether they must be accounted for as a
single unit of accounting. In accounting for thésmsactions, we allocate revenue to the variceimehts based on their fair value. The fair
value of a revenue generating element can be lmsedrrent selling prices offered by us or anotfaty for current products or our best
estimate of a selling price for future productsv&wie allocated to an individual element is recogghiwhen all other revenue recognition
criteria are met for that element.

These collaborative and other agreementsamatain milestone payments. Revenues from mihestoif they are considered substantive,
are recognized upon successful accomplishmenteafitestones. Determining whether a milestone issuntive involves judgment, including
an assessment of our involvement in achieving tiestones and whether the amount of the paymesdrismensurate to our performance. If
not considered substantive, milestones are injtidferred and recognized over the remaining perdoice obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactiiities are recognized as revenue in the perniadhich the research activities are performed
Revenue from contracts and grants is recognizéideaservices are performed and recorded as effestpended on the contracted work and
billed to the
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government or our contractual partner. Paymentsived in advance that are related to future perdmee are deferred and recognized as
revenue when the research projects are performed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymeateived from licensees for a portion of sales@eds from products that utilize our licensec
technologies and are recognized when the amouwartabasis for such royalty payments are reporte io accurate and appropriate form an
in accordance with the related license agreement.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our Idivgd assets, including property and equipment,iatahgible assets when circumstances
indicate that an event of impairment may have aeclrDetermination of recoverability is based oreatimate of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the asset andvtnéual disposition. In the event that such casWdlare not expected to be sufficient to rec
the carrying amount of the assets, the assetsritterwdown to their estimated fair values.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitegrial and contract research costs, are expessedwared. Research and development
expenses consist mainly of clinical trial costspofacturing of clinical material, toxicology andhet studies, personnel costs, depreciation,
license fees and funding of outside research.

Clinical trial expenses include expensa®eaisted with clinical research organizations (CRIe invoicing from CROs for services
rendered can lag several months. We accrue thetestvices rendered in connection with CRO atitigsibased on our estimate of site
management, monitoring costs, and project managerosts. We maintain regular communication with GROs to gauge the reasonablenes
of our estimates. Differences between actual dinical expenses and estimated clinical trial exges recorded have not been material and at
adjusted for in the period in which they becomewmno

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We record stock-based compensation exgdensdl stock-based awards made to employees ardtdis based on the estimated fair
values of the stock-based awards expected to vést grant date and is adjusted, if necessamgflect actual forfeitures. Compensation
expense for all stock-based awards to employeesliagctors is recognized using the straight-lingtrod over the term of vesting or
performance.

We record stock-based compensation exgenstock options granted to n@mployees based on the fair value of the stocloogtivhict
is re-measured over the vesting term resultingeioplic adjustments to stock-based compensatioarese
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2011

Year Ended

December 31 Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease) (Decrease)
2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue

Product Development and

Licensing Agreement $ 14€ $ 11C $ 3€ 33%

Contracts and Gran 281 36 24t 681%

Product Royaltie 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 1,65¢ 18%
Total Revenut $ 11,20 $ 9,268 $ 1,937 21%
Operating Expens:t

Research and Developme 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 14,95¢ 46%

Royalty 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 1,65¢€ 18%

General and Administrativ 10,01¢ 9,19: 822 9%

Amortization of Acquired

Intangible Asset 1,09(C 1,91: (829) (43)%

Total Operating Expens 69,27¢ 52,66¢ 16,61° 32%
Operating Los: (58,077 (43,399 14,67¢ 34%
Investment and Other Incom

Net 53C 39¢ 134 34%
Interest Expens (1,576 (1,796 (220 (12)%
Net Loss $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ 14,32 32%

Net Loss

The $14.3 million increase in net losstfug year ended December 31, 2012 compared to Hreepeled December 31, 2011 was primarily
the result of an increase in research and developamel general and administrative expenses, dartitiset by a decrease in amortization
expense on acquired intangible assets.

Revenu

The $0.2 million increase in contracts grahts revenue for the year ended December 31, @hpared to the year ended December 31
2011 was due to an APC Targeting Technology-bad¥dveiccine being funded through a Small Busines®imation Research, or SBIR, grant
in collaboration with Rockefeller University. Th&.$ million increase in product royalty revenue ttoe year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 \ededeo our retained interests in Rotarix net ligswhich were not sold to PRF and
which is equal to the amount payable to CCH andgeized in royalty expense by us. We expect thgltg revenue related to the Glaxo
agreement will end during the year ending Decer3tte2013. In December 2012, a U.S. patent for otavirus strain that we licensed to
Glaxo expired. The Glaxo agreement terminates aatioaily upon the expiration, lapse or invalidatmfithe last relevant patent right (patent
or patent application) covered by the Glaxo agregnighe only remaining relevant patent right isaéept application in Mexico with a
projected final expiry date in May 2013 which isden appeal. The PRF agreement provided for a nogrmaty of the PRF agreement on
December 12, 2012 except that the PRF agreemevitlpeofor an exclusive 120-day right of negotiationextension in certain circumstances.
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Research and Development Expe

Research and development expenses conisigtrly of (i) personnel expenses, (ii) laboratspply expenses relating to the developr
of our technology, (iii) facility expenses, and)(product development expenses associated witdrogr candidates as follows:

Year Ended

December 31 Increase/ Increase/
- (Decrease) (Decrease)
2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands)

Personne $ 13,46F $ 12,71t $ 75C 6%
Laboratory Supplie 2,06z 1,92( 14z 7%
Facility 4,457 4,67 (217) (5)%
Product Developmer 24,42¢ 10,04« 14,38: 142%

Personnel expenses primarily include salaepefits, stock-based compensation and payraktalhe $0.8 million increase in personnel
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 cechfmthe year ended December 31, 2011 was phntare to higher headcount. We
expect personnel expenses to increase over théwelxe months as we plan to continue to increaseéneadcount, primarily to support our
rindopepimut and CDX-011 programs.

Laboratory supply expenses include laboyatwaterials and supplies, services, and othete@lexpenses incurred in the development of
our technology. The $0.1 million increase in latbora supply expenses for the year ended Decemhe2@P compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to higher mactufing supply purchases. We expect supply exgeaosemain relatively consistent
over the next twelve months, although there maffumtuations on a quarterly basis.

Facility expenses include depreciation, dination, utilities, rent, maintenance, and otredated expenses incurred at our facilities. The
$0.2 million decrease in facility expenses for yiear ended December 31, 2012 compared to the pdadeDecember 31, 2011 was primarily
due to lower depreciation and amortization expensksexpect facility expenses to remain relativansistent over the next twelve months,
although there may be fluctuations on a quarteali

Product development expenses include dinitvestigator site fees, external trial monitgrosts, data accumulation costs, contracted
research and outside clinical drug product manufad. The $14.4 million increase in product depahent expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended Dexe3tih2011 was primarily the result of an increasdinical trial costs of $14.3 million
primarily due to our rindopepimut program. We exgmoduct development expenses to increase overekietwelve months due to the
increase in clinical trial expenses related tormdopepimut and CDX-011 programs, although theag tre fluctuations on a quarterly basis.

Royalty Expens

Royalty expenses include product royaltgt anblicense royalty fees on our out-licensed @nog:. The $1.7 million increase in royalty
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 cethfathe year ended December 31, 2011 was phntare to an increase in Rotarix
related royalty fees. Our retained interests iraR®net royalties which were not sold to PRF &®eorded as product royalty revenue and a
corresponding amount that is payable to CCH isrdmmbas royalty expense. We expect royalty expezlated to the Glaxo agreement will €
during the year ended December 31, 2013. The Glgreement terminates automatically upon the expiratapse or invalidation of the last
relevant patent right (patent or patent applicatamvered by the Glaxo agreement. The only remgingétevant patent right is a patent
application in Mexico with a projected final expidate in May 2013 which is under appeal. The PREaygent provided for a normal expiry
the PRF
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agreement on December 12, 2012 except that thealBRIEMent provides for an exclusive 120-day ridimegotiation for extension in certain
circumstances.

General and Administrative Expense

The $0.8 million increase in general anthiistrative expenses for the year ended Decembe2®L2 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to higher headtcand rindopepimut-related commercializationemges. We expect general and
administrative expense to increase over the nesfvevmonths due to increased commercializatiornristfalthough there may be fluctuations
on a quarterly basis.

Amortization Expens

The $0.8 million decrease in amortizatigpenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 ceapathe year ended December 31, 2011
was due to certain intangible assets becoming antprtized during 2011. We expect amortization espeof acquired intangible assets to
remain relatively consistent over the next twelh@nths.

Investment and Other Income, |

The $0.1 million increase in investment attter income, net for the year ended Decembe2@12 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to us recoggi$0.1 million in other income related to our salldlew Jersey tax benefits. We
anticipate investment income to increase over & twelve months due to higher cash and investiaiainces resulting from fundraising
efforts in January and February 2013.

Interest Expens

The $0.2 million decrease in interest exgecfior the year ended December 31, 2012 compartbe tgear ended December 31, 2011 was
due to a decrease in our Term Loan balance. Weipaite interest expense to decrease over thewektd months as we continue to make
monthly principal payments on our Term Loan.
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2010

Year Ended

Increase/ Increase/
December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2011 2010 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue

Product Development and

Licensing Agreement $ 11C $ 40,187 $ (40,07) (100%

Contracts and Gran 36 22C (189 (84)%

Product Royaltie 9,11¢ 6,38¢ 2,73: 43%
Total Revenut $ 9,265 $ 46,797 $ (37,529 (80)%
Operating Expenst

Research and Developme 32,43¢ 27,65( 4,78¢ 17%

Royalty 9,11¢ 12,077 (2,95¢) (29)%

General and Administrativ 9,19z 10,37¢ (1,189 (11D)%

Amortization of Acquired

Intangible Asset 1,91z 3,14: (1,230 (39)%

Total Operating Expens 52,66¢ 53,24¢ (584) (D)%
Operating Los: (43,399 (6,455 36,94« 572%
Investment and Other Income

Net 39¢ 5,25¢ (4,867) (92)%
Interest Expens (1,796 (1,339 45¢ 34%
Net Loss $ (44,799 $ (2,537 $ 42,26¢ 1,66%%

Net Loss

The $42.3 million increase in net losstfee year ended December 31, 2011 compared to dreepeled December 31, 2010 was primarily
the result of a decrease in product developmentiegsing agreement revenue.

Revenu

The $40.1 million decrease in product depeient and licensing agreement revenue for thegreded December 31, 2011 compared to
the year ended December 31, 2010 was primarilytaltize termination of the Pfizer Agreement whicbuléed in us recognizing the remaining
deferred revenue of $35.6 million during the yeadtedl December 31, 2010. The $0.2 million decreasemtracts and grants revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the pdadédecember 31, 2010 was due to a decreaseenuevelated to our vacci
development work on Rockefeller's DCVax-001 (CDX32}program. The $2.7 million increase in produstaity revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Dexe3h2010 was related to our retained interesioitarix net royalties which were not
sold to PRF and which is equal to the amount paytbCCH and recognized in royalty expense by us.

55




Table of Contents
Research and Development Expe

Research and development expenses conisigtrly of (i) personnel expenses, (ii) laboratspply expenses relating to the developr
of our technology, (iii) facility expenses, and)(product development expenses associated witdrogr candidates as follows:

Year Ended

December 31 Increase/ Increase/
- (Decrease) (Decrease)
2011 2010 $ %
(In thousands)

Personne $ 12,71F $ 12,20¢ $ 511 4%
Laboratory Supplie 1,92( 1,77¢ 141 8%
Facility 4,672 4,96 (28¢) (6)%
Product Developmer 10,04« 5,83 4,212 72%

Personnel expenses primarily include salaepefits, stock-based compensation and payraktalhe $0.5 million increase in personnel
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 cecthfmthe year ended December 31, 2010 was chighter headcount.

Laboratory supply expenses include labaoyatwaterials and supplies, services, and othetag@lexpenses incurred in the development of
our technology. The $0.1 million increase in lathora supply expenses for the year ended Decemhe2@1L compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010 was primarily due to the renomatcompleted during the year ended December 3D, @0our Fall River, MA
manufacturing facility during which manufacturingtiaities ceased.

Facility expenses include depreciation, dination, utilities, rent, maintenance, and otfeated expenses incurred at our facilities. The
$0.3 million decrease in facility expenses foryear ended December 31, 2011 compared to the pdadeédecember 31, 2010 was primarily
due to lower depreciation and amortization expenses

Product development expenses include dlinivestigator site fees, external trial monitgrizosts, data accumulation costs, contracted
research and outside clinical drug product manufaay. The $4.2 million increase in product devehgmt expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Dexedhh2010 was primarily due to an increase imadil trial costs of $4.6 million
primarily due to our rindopepimut and CDX-011 prags.

Royalty Expens

Royalty expenses include product royaltgt anblicense royalty fees on our out-licensed o The $3.0 million decrease in royalty
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 cechfmthe year ended December 31, 2010 was phntare to the termination of the
Pfizer Agreement which resulted in us recognizimgremaining deferred sublicense fees of $5.1anillpartially offset by an increase in
Rotarix related royalty fees. Our retained intey@stRotarix net royalties which were not sold ®HPare recorded as product royalty revenue
and a corresponding amount that is payable to GQEdorded as royalty expense.

General and Administrative Expense

The $1.2 million decrease in general amdiatstrative expenses for the year ended Decenthe2®L1 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010 was primarily due a decreasegal,| patent and other professional services.
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Amortization Expens

The $1.2 million decrease in amortizatigpenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 ceapathe year ended December 31, 201(
was primarily due to the TopoTarget intangible abseoming fully amortized during the year ended¢d@maber 31, 2011. We recorded
amortization expense related to the TopoTarget ément of $0.3 million and $1.7 million for the ye@nded December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Investment and Other Income,

The $4.9 million decrease in investment atietr income, net for the year ended Decembe2@L1 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010 was primarily due to $3.0 millieceived in connection with the TopoTarget Agreetaad $1.7 million received related
to the IRS Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Gratising the year ended December 31, 2010.

Interest Expens

The $0.5 million increase in interest exgeefor the year ended December 31, 2011 comparbe teear ended December 31, 2010 was
due to an increase in our Term Loan balance.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash equivalents are highly liquid istweents with a maturity of three months or leshatdate of purchase and consist primarily of
investments in money market mutual funds with commmaébanks and financial institutions. We mainte@sh balances with financial
institutions in excess of insured limits. We do anticipate any losses with respect to such castmbes. We invest our excess cash balances
marketable securities including municipal bond sigieis, U.S. government agency securities, and-gigitle corporate bonds that meet high
credit quality standards, as specified in our itwest policy. Our investment policy seeks to manhgse assets to achieve our goals of
preserving principal and maintaining adequate tdyi

The use of our cash flows for operatiors fr@marily consisted of salaries and wages foresuployees, facility and facility-related costs
for our offices, laboratories and manufacturinglfigg fees paid in connection with preclinical dgias, clinical studies, contract manufacturing,
laboratory supplies and services, consulting, legal other professional fees. To date, the prirsatyces of cash flows from operations have
been payments received from our collaborative pastand from government entities. The timing of aaw collaboration agreements,
government contracts or grants and any paymentsrihdse agreements, contracts or grants canreatdily predicted and may vary
significantly from quarter to quarter.

At December 31, 2012, our principal sourailgquidity consisted of cash, cash equivalemtd marketable securities of $84.0 million. (
working capital at December 31, 2012 was $67.4dionillAt December 31, 2012, our Term Loan balance $&l.3 million. We incurred a loss
of $59.1 million for the year ended December 31,2M0et cash used in operations for the year eBdmaémber 31, 2012 was $49.8 million.
January 2013, we issued 2,433,608 shares of corstnok under the Cantor Amendment and raised $1illibmin net proceeds. In February
2013, we issued 13,800,000 shares of common stoak underwritten public offering and raised $9mibion, after deducting underwriting
fees and estimated offering expenses. We beliatghle cash, cash equivalents and marketable Seswai December 31, 2012 and the
$114.1 million raised during the two months endetirbiary 28, 2013 are sufficient to meet estimatetking capital requirements and fund
planned operations for at least the next twelvethmn

During the next twelve months, we may thk#her steps to raise additional capital to fumd long-term liquidity needs. Our capital
raising activities may include, but may not be texito, one or
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more of the following: the licensing of technologgograms with existing or new collaborative partngrossible business combinations,
issuance of debt, or the issuance of common stookher securities via private placements or putififerings. While we may continue to seek
capital through a number of means, there can kessorance that additional financing will be avddain acceptable terms, if at all, and our
negotiating position in capital-raising efforts magrsen as existing resources are used. Theredsal assurance that we will be able to enter
into further collaborative relationships. Additidremuity financing may be dilutive to our stockheld; debt financing, if available, may invo
significant cash payment obligations and coventinasrestrict our ability to operate as a businass!; licensing or strategic collaborations may
result in royalties or other terms which reduce etonomic potential from products under developmiémte are unable to raise the funds
necessary to meet our long-term liquidity needsmag have to delay or discontinue the developm&ahe or more programs, discontinue or
delay on-going or anticipated clinical trials, I out programs earlier than expected, raise fanhsignificant discount or on other
unfavorable terms, if at all, or sell all or paftowur business.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities w&3.& million for the year ended December 31, 20dramared to $35.7 million for the year endec
December 31, 2011. The increase in net cash usggkirmting activities was primarily due to an irage in net loss of $14.3 million. We exp
that cash used in operating activities will inceeaser the next twelve months primarily relate@dsts incurred on our rindopepimut and CDX
011 programs.

We have incurred and will continue to insignificant costs in the area of research andldpweent, including preclinical and clinical
trials, as our drug candidates are developed. \&te ol spend significant amounts to progress ouentidrug candidates through the clinical
trial and commercialization processes as well atet@®lop additional drug candidates. As our drugldates progress through the clinical trial
process, we may be obligated to make significatgstone payments.

Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20dr2mared to $2.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase in net cash udaddsting activities was primarily due to net phases of marketable securities for the yea
ended December 31, 2012 of $16.9 million as contpar&1.7 million for the year ended December 312 We expect that cash used in
investing activities will increase over the nexetwe months as we purchase more marketable seswitth the funds raised during the two
months ended February 28, 2013.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activitieass$79.8 million for the year ended December 3122bmpared to $28.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. Net proceeds from steokices were $83.8 million during the year endezeBer 31, 2012 compared to
$36.0 million for the year ended December 31, 20¥&.paid $4.0 million in principal payments on @@rm Loan during the year ended
December 31, 2012. In February 2011, we paid $d@ll®n to satisfy all outstanding principal reldtéo the convertible subordinated debt
assumed in connection with the CuraGen acquisitoMarch 2011, we amended the Loan Agreement anaWwed $5 million from GECC to
increase the amount owed under the Term Loan to$lisn.
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Equity Offerings

In April 2010, we filed a shelf registratistatement with the Securities and Exchange Cosiomigo register for sale any combination of
the types of securities described in the shelfstegfion statement up to a dollar amount of $150ani The shelf registration went effective on
April 22, 2010. In December 2012, we filed a newlEhegistration statement with the Securities Brdhange Commission to register for sale
any combination of the types of securities describehe new shelf registration statement up tolladamount of $200 million. The new shelf
registration went effective on January 16, 2013.

In January 2011, we entered into a corgdodiquity offering sales agreement with Cantordgitald & Co. pursuant to which we could
issue and sell up to 5,000,000 shares of our constamk from time to time through Cantor, actingagent. During the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we issued 4,425,006 &:000 shares of common stock under the Cantoeehgent and raised $19.0 million
and $2.2 million in net proceeds, after deductiogmission and offering expenses, respectively.

In September 2012, we amended the Canteeatent to allow us to issue and sell additionaftes of our common stock having an
aggregate offering price of up to $44.0 million.dén the Cantor amendment, we will pay Cantor adfic@mmission rate of 3.0% of the gross
sales price per share of any common stock soldigiv@antor. The Cantor amendment terminates upoday notice by either Cantor or us.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, we is31%#8,290 shares under the Cantor amendment aetirdP1.1 million in net proceeds.
During January 2013, we issued 2,433,608 sharesruihd Cantor amendment and raised $17.1 millioreirproceeds. At February 28, 2013,
we had $4.4 million remaining in aggregate offeqmgce available under the Cantor amendment whial be sold upon the expiration of the
90-day lock-up with the underwriters of our undetten public offering in February 2013.

In May 2011, we issued 11,500,000 sharesiotommon stock in an underwritten public offgrimcluding the underwriter's exercise of
their full over-allotment option to purchase aniiddal 1,500,000 shares of common stock. The matgeds to us were $33.7 million, after
deducting underwriting fees and offering expenses.

During February and March 2012, we issug@®75,000 shares of our common stock in an und&enrpublic offering, including the
underwriter's exercise of their full over-allotmeqtion to purchase an additional 1,575,000 shafreemmon stock. The net proceeds to us
were $43.4 million, after deducting underwriting$eand offering expenses.

In February 2013, we issued 13,800,000eshaf our common stock in an underwritten publfemfg, including the underwriter's
exercise of their full over-allotment option to pbase an additional 1,800,000 shares of commoR.stbe net proceeds to us were
$97.0 million, after deducting underwriting feeslasffering expenses.

Term Loan

On December 30, 2010, we entered the Lagredment with MidCap pursuant to which we borro®é@ million from MidCap. In Marcl
2011, we amended the Loan Agreement and borrowexil$6n from GECC to increase the amount owed urile Term Loan to $15 million.
No additional advances are available under the lAggeement. The Term Loan accrues interest atealfannual interest rate equal to
greater of (i) the sum of (A) the LIBOR Rate (afimted in the Loan Agreement) plus (B) 6.25%; oy @iiminimum rate of 9.50%. In Septem
2011, we exercised an option to extend the intemelst period by 6 months from October 1, 2011 toiApr2012. In March 2012, we amenc
the Loan Agreement to extend the maturity date flxenember 2013 to
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December 2014 in return for an upfront fee of $268,8nd an additional fee of $37,500 due upon repaymwf the Term Loan in full.

Interest on the Term Loan is payable mgnaimd principal is due, as amended, in 34 equadenirtive monthly installments commencing
on April 1, 2012. All unpaid principal and accruetkerest with respect to the Term Loan is due amghple on the earlier of (A) December 30,
2014 or (B) the date that the Term Loan otherwisgoines due and payable under the terms of the Agaement. We may prepay all, but
less than all, of the Term Loan subject to a premayt premium of 1% in year three of the Term LoErere is no prepayment premium if the
loan is paid off early in year four. We are alstigdted to make a payment of $0.5 million uponehelier of (A) December 30, 2013 or
(B) upon repayment of the Term Loan in full priorRecember 30, 2013.

Our obligations under the Loan Agreemeatsacured by a first priority lien upon and seguriterest in substantially all of our existing
and after-acquired assets, excluding our intellqiuoperty assets. Under the Loan Agreement, esalnject to specified affirmative and
negative covenants customary for financings oftype. The Loan Agreement provides that, upon twience of certain specified events of
default customary for financings of this type, obligations under the Loan Agreement may be auticalbt accelerated, whereupon our
obligations under the Loan Agreement shall be imatety due and payable. At December 31, 2012, vieumewe are in compliance with the
Loan Agreement.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We have entered into license agreementseblgave have received licenses or options to lieeeshnology, specified patents and/or
patent applications. These license and collabaragreements generally provide for royalty paymentsal to specified percentages of proc
sales, annual license maintenance fees, continpatent prosecution costs and potential future taifesspayments to third parties upon the
achievement of certain development, regulatory@ncsmmercial milestones. Because the achievenighese milestones had not occurre:
of December 31, 2012, such contingencies haveewt becorded in our financial statements. We exjpeocur approximately $0.8 million of
license and milestone payments in 2013.

A

The following table summarizes our contnatbbligations (not including contingent royaltydamilestone payments as described above
at December 31, 2012 and the effect such obligato commercial commitments are expected to haweioliquidity and cash flow in futu
years. These obligations, commitments and supgpatirangements represent expected payments basedrent operating forecasts, whi
are subject to change:

Total 2013 2014- 2015 2016- 2017 Thereafter
(In thousands)

Contractual obligation:
Operating lease obligations( $ 10,85( $ 2,590 $ 4,665 $ 3,59t $ —

Other contractual obligations( 22,42: 22,42: — — —
Other lon¢-term liabilities(3) 472 53 12¢ 13¢€ 16C
Term Loan(4; 11,517 5,744 5,77: — —
Total contractual obligatior $ 45,26. $ 30,80¢ $ 1056: $ 3,731 $ 16C

Q) Such amounts primarily consist of paymentsiar facility leases and do not assume the exeofisenewal terms or
early termination provisions.

(2)  Such amounts primarily consist of research andldpweent commitments with third parties. Our obligatto pay certai
of these amounts may increase or be reduced basesttain future event
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(3)  Such amounts include the outstanding balance oarapayable which accrues interest at 5.5% andyialpe monthly.

(4) Such amounts include the outstanding balance atbier 31, 2012 on the Term Loan and the $0.5 mitioe
December 2013. The Term Loan accrues interestisé@annual interest rate equal to the greatéi) alie sum of (A) th
LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Loan Agreement) [(R)s6.25%; or (ii) a minimum rate of 9.50¢

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note 2, "Summary of SignificantcAanting Policies," in the accompanying notes tadbnsolidated financial statements for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
None.
ltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We own financial instruments that are siresto market risk as part of our investment pmitf Our investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is used to fund opierss, including our research and development aietsr None of these market-risk sensitive
instruments are held for trading purposes. We ineescash primarily in money market mutual funtisese investments are evaluated
quarterly to determine the fair value of the pditfoFrom time to time, we invest our excess caslatices in marketable securities including
municipal bond securities, U.S. government ageecyties, and high-grade corporate bonds that fmgatcredit quality standards, as
specified in our investment policy. Our investmpalicy seeks to manage these assets to achiegoals of preserving principal and
maintaining adequate liquidity. Because of the stemm nature of these investments, we do not belee have material exposure due to
market risk. The impact to our financial positiardaesults of operations from likely changes iriast rates is not material.

We do not utilize derivative financial ingnents. The carrying amounts reflected in the clisested balance sheet of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivables and accountdfEgpproximates fair value at December 31, 20Etduhe short-term maturities of these
instruments.
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Iltem 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gatl@herapeutics, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consokdabalance sheets and the related consolidatesngtats of operations and comprehensive
loss, of stockholders' equity, and of cash flowsspnt fairly, in all material respects, the finahposition of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 and Decemb&(31, and the results of their operations and ttash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2012 in conformiti @tcounting principles generally accepted inhéed States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialpexcts, effective internal control over financggporting as of December 31, 2012, based or
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company's management isms#ge for these financial statements, for mamiej effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifrecéiveness of internal control over financial oejing, included in Management's Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportapgpearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility i€xpress opinions on these financial
statements and on the Company's internal conteal fiwancial reporting based on our integrated tsudlVe conducted our audits in accordanc
with the standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States). Those standagqgire that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whiitnénancial statements are free of material fatesnent and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintainecallhmaterial respects. Our audits of the finanstatements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diselesn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autiiht®rnal control over financial reportii
included obtaining an understanding of internaltcmrover financial reporting, assessing the risktta material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectisgé internal control based on the assessedQiskaudits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary girthenstances. We believe that our audits providesaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repagtincludes those policies and procedures thakefitain to the maintenance of records ths
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 8, 2013
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalel $ 24,897 $ 11,89¢
Marketable Securitie 59,06t 41,41:
Accounts and Other Receivab 44 17C
Prepaid and Other Current Ass 1,10¢ 1,20z
Total Current Asse 85,11« 54,68
Property and Equipment, N 7,20t 9,09:
Intangible Assets, N¢ 23,83: 24,92;
Other Asset: 424 32¢
Goodwill 8,96¢ 8,96¢
Total Assets $ 125,54. $ 97,99

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payabl $ 745 $ 93t
Accrued Expense 10,96( 7,00¢
Current Portion of Lon-Term Liabilities 38¢ 21¢
Current Portion of Term Loa 5,592 6,13¢
Total Current Liabilities 17,68¢ 14,29¢
Term Loan, less Current Porti 5,74¢ 9,00¢
Other Lon¢-Term Liabilities 6,33€ 5,96¢
Total Liabilities 29,76 29,27

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 18 48)
Stockholders' Equity
Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 Par Value; 3,000,
Shares Authorized; No Shares Issued and Outstaadl
December 31, 2012 and 20 — —
Common Stock, $.001 Par Value; 297,000,000 Shares
Authorized; 64,359,513 and 44,210,636 Shares IssL
and Outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011,

respectively 64 44
Additional PaicIn Capital 357,09 271,03:
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inca 2,74¢ 2,652
Accumulated Defici (264,129 (205,00¢)

Total Stockholders' Equit 95,774 68,72:

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equ $ 125,54. $ 97,99

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensing

Agreements $ 14€ $ 11C $ 40,187
Contracts and Gran 281 36 22C
Product Royaltie 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 6,38¢

Total Revenur 11,20: 9,26t 46,79:
OPERATING EXPENSE:
Research and Developme 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 27,65(
Royalty 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 12,07:
General and Administrativ 10,01¢ 9,19: 10,37¢
Amortization of Acquired Intangible

Assets 1,09( 1,91z 3,14:

Total Operating Expens 69,27¢ 52,66¢ 53,24¢
Operating Los: (58,077) (43,399 (6,455
Investment and Other Income, P 53C 39¢ 5,25¢
Interest Expens (1,57¢ (1,796 (1,339
Net Loss $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,537
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Comm

Share (See Note ; $ (1.02) $ (1.19) $ (0.0¢)

Shares Used in Calculating Basic and
Diluted Net Loss per Share (See

Note 2) 57,71 39,501 31,86¢
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
Net Loss $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,537

Other Comprehensive Income (Los
Foreign Currency Translation

Adjustments 2 (©)] 2
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Marketak

Securities 91 (90) 203

Comprehensive Los $ (59,030 $ (44,899 $ (2,32¢)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Balance at
December 3
2009

Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plans

Share-Based
Compensati

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Gains on
Marketable
Securities

Net Loss

Balance at
December 3
2010

Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plans

Shares Issued
in
Connection
with Cantor
Agreemen

Shares Issued
in
Underwritter
Offering

Share-Based
Compensati

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Losses on
Marketable
Securities

Net Loss

Balance at
December 3
2011

Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

Common Common Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Par Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Value Capital Income Deficit Equity
31,685,06 $ 32 $ 228,86. $ 2,54¢ $ (157,679 $ 73,761
370,32: — 1,01« — — 1,01«
— — 2,80z — — 2,80z
— — — 2 — 2
— — — 20¢ — 203
— — — — (2,533 (2,539
32,055,38 32 232,67¢ 2,751 (160,20 75,25¢
80,25« — 17z — — 17¢
575,00( 1 2,15¢ — — 2,15¢
11,500,00 11 33,68¢ — — 33,69¢
— — 2,34; — — 2,34;
— — — (9) — (9)
— — — (90) — (90
— — — — (44,799 (44,799
44,210,63 44 271,03: 2,652 (205,00¢) 68,72:



Stock Purchas
Plans
Shares Issued
in
Connection
with Cantor
Agreemen
Shares Issued
in
Underwritter
Offering
Share-Based
Compensati
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Unrealized
Gains on
Marketable
Securities
Net Loss

Balance at
December 3
2012

70,58 — 16 — — 162
8,003,29 8  40,13( — — 40,13
12,075,00 12 4347 — — 43,48:

— | 2,29¢ — — 2,29¢
— — — 2 — 2
— — — 91 — 91
— — — — (59,12 (59,129
6435951 $ 64 $ 357,09 $ 2,745 $ (264,12) $ 95,77

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

(In thousands)

Year Ended

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Year Ended

Year Ended

December 31, 201 December 31, 201 December 31, 201

Net Loss $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,537
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Cash |
in Operating Activities
Depreciation and Amortizatic 2,047 2,24¢ 2,71¢
Amortization of Intangible Asse 1,09(C 1,91: 3,14:
Amortization and Premium of Marketable
Securities (660) 17 (14
Realized (Gain) Loss on Sales and Maturit
of Marketable Securitie (6) 5 4
Gain on Sale or Disposal of Ass (74) (58) (39
Stock-Based Compensation Exper 2,29¢ 2,34z 2,80z
Non-Cash Interest Expen: 22¢ 307 72¢
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilit
Accounts and Other Receivab 12€ 154 22C
Prepaid and Other Current Ass 33 241 (54¢€)
Other Asset: (95) 34 5,592
Accounts Payable and Accrued Exper 3,76% 2,07¢ (1,199
Deferred Revenu — — (39,389
Other Liabilities 594 (13¢) (1,86%)
Net Cash Used in Operating Activiti (49,787 (35,659 (30,37
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Sales and Maturities of Marketable Securi 52,36( 51,00t 42,38

Purchases of Marketable Securi (69,25%) (52,717 (56,527)

Acquisition of Property and Equipme (303 (509 (2,100

Proceeds from Sale or Disposal of As¢ 21¢ 68 77
Net Cash Used in Investing Activiti (16,980 (2,155 (16,16:)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Net Proceeds from Stock Issuan 83,78 36,02: 1,01«

(Payments) Issuance of Term Lc (3,97)) 5,00( 10,00(

Payment of Convertible Subordinated D — (12,507 —

Payment of Other Liabilitie (55) (86) (2197
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti 79,75¢ 28,43 10,81°
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash ant

Cash Equivalent 2 (©) 2
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and (

Equivalents 12,99¢ (9,389 (35,719
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Pe 11,89¢ 21,28 57,00:
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Pe $ 24,897 $ 11,89¢ $ 21,28°
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow

Information

Cash Paid for Intere $ 1,38¢ $ 156C $ 604

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW

Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"@elldex”) is a biopharmaceutical company focusadhe development and
commercialization of several immunotherapy techgiee for the treatment of cancer and other diffitodtreat diseases. The Company's lead
drug candidates include rindopepimut (CDX-110gm@éted immunotherapeutic in a pivotal Phase 3/dtudthe treatment of front-line
glioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for the treatofergicurrent glioblastoma and CDX-011, an antibddyg conjugate which recently
completed a randomized Phase 2b study for themegdtof advanced breast cancer. The Company hésoadticlinical programs, including
CDX-1135, a molecule that inhibits a part of theriome system called the complement system, CDX-1d #Terapeutic human antibody for
cancer indications, CDX-301, an immune cell mobilizagent and dendritic cell growth factor and CD#01, an APC Targeting
Technology™ program for cancer indications.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had azgh equivalents and marketable securities o0®8dlion; working capital of
$67.4 million; and a Term Loan balance of $11.3iaml The Company incurred a loss of $59.1 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2012.
Net cash used in operations for the year endedrbleee31, 2012 was $49.8 million. In January 20t8,&ompany issued 2,433,608 share
common stock under the Cantor Amendment and r&&&dL million in net proceeds. In February 2018, @ompany issued 13,800,000 share
of common stock in an underwritten public offerengd raised $97.0 million, after deducting undeiiwgitfees and estimated offering expenses
The Company believes that the cash, cash equigadent marketable securities at December 31, 28&2517.1 million raised under the Car
Amendment in January 2013 and the $97.0 milliosedhin the underwritten public offering in Februafi3 will be sufficient to meet
estimated working capital requirements and fundmda operations for at least the next twelve months

During the next twelve months, the Comparay take further steps to raise additional capitaheet its long-term liquidity needs. These
capital raising activities may include, but may hetlimited to, one or more of the following: theeinsing of technology programs with exist
or new collaborative partners, possible businesshimations, issuance of debt, or the issuance mihton stock or other securities via private
placements or public offerings. While the Compaagtmues to seek capital through a number of mahage can be no assurance that
additional financing will be available on acceptatdrms, if at all, and the Company's negotiatiogitfpn in capital-raising efforts may worsen
as existing resources are used. There is alsoswaase that the Company will be able to enterfintther collaborative relationships.
Additional equity financings may be dilutive to tB@mpany's stockholders; debt financing, if avdéamay involve significant cash payment
obligations and covenants that restrict the Comisaatyility to operate as a business; and licensirgjrategic collaborations may result in
royalties or other terms which reduce the Compasgtsmomic potential from products under developmétihe Company is unable to raise
funds necessary to meet its long-term liquiditydsét may have to delay or discontinue the devalkaqt of one or more programs, discontinue
or delay on-going or anticipated clinical triaigginse out programs earlier than expected, raisdsfat significant discount or on other
unfavorable terms, if at all, or sell all or a pafthe Company.
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Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financiakstents reflect the operations of the Company endhiolly-owned subsidiary. All
intercompany balances and transactions have begimaled in consolidation. The Company operatemi@ segment, which is the business of
development, manufacturing and commercializationafel therapeutics for human health care.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated finahsiatements in conformity with accounting prieggenerally accepted in the United States ¢
America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to makienasts and use assumptions that affect the repantexdints of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabildiethe dates of the consolidated financial statesn@nd the reported amounts of revenues anc
expenses during the reporting period. Actual reszduld differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments purchased with a maturity date of 90 dajesss at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principdiijmoney market funds and debt securities.

Marketable Securitie

The Company invests its excess cash badanaearketable securities including municipal bgedurities, U.S. government agency
securities, and high-grade corporate bonds. Thepaagnclassifies all of its marketable securities@sent assets on the consolidated balance
sheets because they are available-for-sale anthbleaio fund current operations. Marketable s¢i@sriare stated at fair value with their
unrealized gains and losses included as a compohastumulated other comprehensive income (logsich is a separate component of
stockholders' equity, until such gains and lossesealized. If a decline in the fair value is ddesed other-than-temporary, based on availabl
evidence, the unrealized loss is transferred fridmrocomprehensive income (loss) to the consolitlstgtements of operations. Realized gain:s
and losses are determined on the specific ideatifin method and are included in investment andraticome, net.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to concentrations of credit riskprily consist of cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities and accounts receivable Cimepany invests its cash, cash equivalents andetadole securities in debt instruments anc
interest bearing accounts at major financial instns in excess of insured limits. The Companygates credit risk by limiting the investment
type and maturity to securities that preserve agpitaintain liquidity and have a high credit gtialiThe Company has not historically
experienced credit losses from its accounts rebésvand therefore has not established an allowtomagoubtful accounts.

Revenue from Glaxo and Pfizer represen@d &nd none for the year ended December 31, 2@®2,éd none for the year ended
December 31, 2011 and 14% and 85% for the yeardedeember 31, 2010 of total Company revenue, otispdy.
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Fair Value Measuremen

The Company has certain assets and liglsilihat are measured at fair value in the findrstédements. The Company seeks to maximize
the use of observable inputs (market data obtdioed sources independent from the Company) andinamze the use of unobservable inp
(the Company's assumptions about how market gaaitics would price assets and liabilities) when meag the fair value of its assets and
liabilities. These assets and liabilities are éfeessinto one of three levels of the following faialue hierarchy as defined by U.S. GAAP:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quotagtg in active markets for identical assets dilites. An active market for an asset or
liability is a market in which transactions for thsset or liability occur with sufficient frequenagd volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Levptices, such as quoted prices in active mafketsimilar assets or liabilities and
guoted prices for identical assets or liabilitiegriarkets that are not active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the@any's assessment of the assumptions that ngaketipants would use in pricing
the asset or liability.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment is stated at cadt@preciated over the estimated useful lives ®f¢tated assets using the straight-line method
Laboratory equipment and office furniture and equépt are depreciated over five years and compqtépment is depreciated over three
years. Manufacturing equipment is amortized oveesdo ten years. Leasehold improvements are axedrtver the shorter of the estima
useful life or the non-cancelable term of the esldease, including any renewals that are reaspresisured of occurring. Property and
equipment under construction is classified as ecoogbn in progress and is depreciated or amortizdy after the asset is placed in service.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are clamexpense whereas the costs of significant ingments which extend the life of the
underlying asset are capitalized. Upon retiremesate, the cost of assets disposed of and theededeecumulated depreciation are eliminated
and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in@oenpany's consolidated statements of operations.

The treatment of costs to construct prgpand equipment depends on the nature of the aastshe stage of construction. Costs incurrec
in the project planning, design, construction arstdllation phases are capitalized as part of diseaf the asset. The Company stops
capitalizing these costs when the asset is sulisigrdomplete and ready for its intended use. fanufacturing property and equipment, the
Company also capitalizes the cost of validatingéhessets for the underlying manufacturing proddss Company completes the capitaliza
of validation costs when the asset is substant@plete and ready for its intended use. Cost#atied include incremental labor and fringe
benefits, and direct consultancy services.

Business Combinatior

The Company records the fair value of thiesideration transferred to acquire a businedsetdangible assets and identifiable intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed on tha basheir
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fair values at the date of acquisition. The Compassesses the fair value of assets, includingditiEnassets such as in-process research anc
development (IPR&D), using a variety of methodduding present value models. Each asset is measitifad value from the perspective of a
market participant. The method used to estimatéainealues of IPR&D assets incorporates signific@ssumptions regarding the estimates a
market participant would make in order to evalwateasset, including a market participant's assumgtiegarding the probability of complet
IPR&D projects, which would require obtaining regalry approval for marketing of the associated draigdidate; a market participant's
estimates regarding the timing of and the expeotsts to complete IPR&D projects; a market paréinifs estimates of future cash flows from
potential product sales; and the appropriate discates for a market participant. Transaction<asd restructuring costs associated with the
transaction are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Asset

IPR&D assets acquired in a business comibiménitially are recorded at fair value and acetad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets.
These assets are maintained on the Company's watedl balance sheets until either the project tiyidg them is completed or the assets
become impaired. If a project is completed, theyag value of the related intangible asset is dimed over the remaining estimated life of
asset beginning in the period in which the proigcompleted. If a project becomes impaired obsnaoned, the carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair valrel an impairment charge is taken in the perioshith the impairment occurs. IPR&D assets
will be tested for impairment on an annual basisrduthe third quarter, or earlier if impairmenticators are present. The Company perfor
an annual impairment test of the IPR&D assets dsilgf1, 2012 and concluded that the IPR&D assetgwot impaired.

Intangible assets acquired in a businestamation with a finite life are recorded at faalve and amortized over the greater of economi
consumption or on a straight-line basis over testimated useful life.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase pricktlae fair value of assets acquired and liabfliiesumed in a business combination is
allocated to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated forpairment on an annual basis during the third quasteearlier if impairment indicators are
present. In January 2012, the Company adopted dnSWGAAP accounting standard which amended tlgagee on the annual testing of
goodwill for impairment. The amended guidance almempanies to assess qualitative factors to deterifnit is more likely than not that
goodwill might be impaired and whether it is neeegto perform the two-step goodwill impairmentttejuired under U.S. GAAP. The
Company's adoption of this new standard did noetemnaterial effect on its operating results aaficial position. As part of its annual
impairment test of the goodwill asset as of Julgd12, the Company bypassed the qualitative asseeésnd performed the two-step
impairment test. The Company concluded that thelgidbasset was not impaired.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitiysabng-lived assets, including property and equént, and intangible assets when
circumstances indicate that an event of impairmeay have
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occurred. Determination of recoverability is basedan estimate of undiscounted future cash flowsltiag from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition. In the event that such chshasf are not expected to be sufficient to recokerdarrying amount of the assets, the asse
written-down to their estimated fair values.

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue when d@hefollowing criteria are met: persuasive evideotan arrangement exists; delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; the'sgiléce to the buyer is fixed or determinable; aallectability is reasonably assured.

The Company has entered into and in theéutnay enter into biopharmaceutical product deyakent agreements with collaborative
partners for the research and development of teetapdrug products. The terms of the agreementsintdude nonrefundable signing and
licensing fees, funding for research, developmedtrmanufacturing, milestone payments and royatiteany product sales derived from
collaborations. These multiple element arrangemar@sanalyzed to determine whether the deliveratdase separated or whether they must
be accounted for as a single unit of accountingceounting for these transactions, the Compawoygatiés revenue to the various elements
based on their fair value. The fair value of a rugegenerating element can be based on curreimgsptices offered by the Company or
another party for current products or the Compaogs estimate of a selling price for future praduRevenue allocated to an individual
element is recognized when all other revenue rdtiogreriteria are met for that element.

These collaborative and other agreementsamatain milestone payments. Revenues from mihestoif they are considered substantive,
are recognized upon successful accomplishmenteafitestones. Determining whether a milestone issuntive involves judgment, including
an assessment of the Company's involvement indoli¢he milestones and whether the amount of #yenent is commensurate to the
Company's performance. If not considered substantiilestones are initially deferred and recogniaeer the remaining performance
obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactiiities are recognized as revenue in the peniadhich the research activities are performed
Revenue from contracts and grants is recognizéideaservices are performed and recorded as effestpended on the contracted work and
billed to the government or the Company's cont@qtartner. Payments received in advance thatedaed to future performance are deferred
and recognized as revenue when the research mrajexperformed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymeateived from licensees for a portion of sales@eds from products that utilize the
Company's licensed technologies and are recogmibed the amount of and basis for such royalty pagsere reported to the Company in
accurate and appropriate form and in accordandetivi related license agreement.

Other Income

Under the Company's agreement with Topodtate Company received $3.0 million during tharyended December 31, 2010 in
connection with TopoTarget's co-development andrmmemialization agreement for Belinostat with SpeetiPharmaceuticals, Inc. During the
year ended December 31, 2010, the Company rectingedash receipt to other income because the Coyrgpagreement with TopoTarget v
not part of the Company's on-going operations. mythe year ended
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December 31, 2010, the Company recorded $1.7 milbather income related to IRS Qualifying Ther#eDiscovery Grants because the
grant arrangement was not part of the Companygoimg operations.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitegnal and contract research costs, are expessedwared. Research and development
expenses consist mainly of clinical trial costsnofacturing of clinical material, toxicology anchet studies, personnel costs, depreciation,
license fees and funding of outside research.

Clinical trial expenses include expenseaweasted with clinical research organizations (CRIie invoicing from CROs for services
rendered can lag several months. We accrue thetestvices rendered in connection with CRO ati¢igibased on our estimate of site
management, monitoring costs, and project managetosts. We maintain regular communication with GROs to gauge the reasonablenes
of our estimates. Differences between actual dinical expenses and estimated clinical trial exges recorded have not been material and at
adjusted for in the period in which they becomevmno

Patent Cost:

Patent costs are expensed as incurrechi@@atent costs are reimbursed by the Companythupt development and licensing partners.
Any reimbursed patent costs are recorded as pratwetiopment and licensing agreement revenue®i@timpany's financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compemsatipense for all stock-based awards made to empsognd directors based on the
estimated fair values of the stock-based awardectgd to vest at the grant date and is adjustegciéssary, to reflect actual forfeitures.
Compensation expense for all stock-based awarespdoyees and directors is recognized using tlaggsit-line method over the term of
vesting or performance.

The Company records stock-based compemsatipense for stock options granted to non-emplpased on the fair value of the stock
options which is re-measured over the vesting t@sulting in periodic adjustments to stock-basadmensation expense.

Foreign Currency Translatio

Net unrealized gains and losses resultiogn foreign currency translation are included inestcomprehensive income (loss). At
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, accurduw#tier comprehensive income includes a net uzesitjain related to foreign currer
translation of $2.6 million. In 2011, the Comparfgreign subsidiary voluntarily liquidated in orderconsolidate the Company's foreign
operations into Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.
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Income Taxe

The Company uses the asset and liabilitshatkto account for income taxes, including thegition of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities for the anticipated future tax ceqsiences attributable to differences between fiahetatement amounts and their respective ta
basis. Quarterly, the Company reviews its defetagchssets for recovery. A valuation allowancestslalished when the Company believes
it is more likely than not that its deferred tasets will not be realized. Changes in valuatioovedinces from period to period are included in
the Company's tax provision in the period of change

The Company records uncertain tax positioribe financial statements only if it is moredii than not that the uncertain tax position will
be sustained upon examination by the taxing autbsriThe Company records interest and penaltlatetkto uncertain tax positions in income
tax expense.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of netéosbkcertain changes in stockholders' equity tteaeacluded from net loss. The Company
includes foreign currency translation adjustments @anrealized gains and losses on marketable sesln other comprehensive loss. The
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleeloss reflect total comprehensive loss foryhars ended December 31, 2012, 2011
2010. There were no significant reclasses to incdumang the years ended December 31, 2012, 201260l

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per common share is based tife weighted-average number of common sharesamaling during the period, excluding
restricted stock that has been issued but is rtotested. Diluted net loss per common share isdbapen the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period pld&iadal weighted-average potentially dilutive commshares outstanding during the
period when the effect is dilutive. The potentialijutive common shares that have not been includé¢lde net loss per common share
calculations because the effect would have beerddntive are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Stock options 5,349,811 4,459,03. 4,019,98:
Convertible Subordinated De — — 353,56
Restricted stoc 6,00C( 6,00( 9,33¢

5,355,811 4,465,03. 4,382,88

In connection with the acquisition of Cuex@Corporation ("CuraGen") in October 2009, the Gany assumed CuraGen's $12.5 million
in 4% convertible subordinated debt due Februan20%1 (the "Convertible Subordinated Debt"). Tren@rtible Subordinated Debt was
convertible into 353,563 shares of the Companyisnaon stock at the rate of 28.27823 shares of thepaoy's common stock per $1,000
principal amount of notes, or $35.36 per shar@r&st expense on the Convertible Subordinated Wabt$0.2 million and $1.2 million for the
years ended December !
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2011 and 2010. In February 2011, the Company pb2d8$million and satisfied all the outstanding pipal and accrued interest related to the
Convertible Subordinated Debt.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

From time to time, new accounting pronoumests are issued by the Financial Accounting Staisd&oard (FASB) or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by the Company e gpecified effective date. Unless otherwisedssed, the Company believes that the
impact of recently issued standards that are notfyective will not have a material impact on thempany's financial position or results of
operations upon adoption.

In July 2012, the FASB issued amended guidapplicable to annual impairment tests of imdefilived intangible assets. The FASB
added an optional qualitative assessment for datarghwhether an indefinite-lived intangible asiseimpaired. Prior to this guidance,
companies were required to perform an annual invpait test that included a calculation of the failue of the asset and a comparison of that
fair value with its carrying value. If the carryinglue exceeded the fair value, an impairment wasrded. The amended guidance allows a
company the option to perform a qualitative assessntonsidering both negative and positive evideregarding the potential impairment of
the indefinitelived intangible asset. If, based on the qualiafwnalysis, the company determines that it is rikety than not that the fair valt
of such an asset exceeds its carrying value, ttrpany would be permitted to conclude that the iimiteflived intangible asset was not
impaired without a quantitative calculation of faé& value of the asset. Otherwise, the companylévparform the quantitative calculation of
the fair value and the comparison with the carryialyie. This amended guidance will be effectivedionual impairment tests performed by
Company for fiscal years beginning on January 1320he Company does not expect the adoption sfév standard to have a material
effect on its operating results or financial pasiti

(3) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following tables set forth the Comparfifiancial assets subject to fair value measuré&nen

As of
December 31, 201, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 18,68¢ $ 18,68t¢ — —
Marketable securitie $ 59,06t — $ 59,06¢ —
$ 77,75 $ 18,68¢ $ 59,06: —
As of
December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 11,03¢ $ 11,03¢ — —
Marketable securitie $ 41,41 — $ 41,41 —
$ 52,45 $ 11,03¢ $ 41,41 —
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There have been no transfers of assetahilities between the fair value measurement diaaions. The Company's financial
instruments consist mainly of cash and cash eqeiivgsl marketable securities, short-term accountsvable, accounts payable and debt
obligations. The Company values its marketable rsesi utilizing independent pricing services whintrmally derive security prices from
recently reported trades for identical or similecwities, making adjustments based on signifiolstrvable transactions. At each balance
sheet date, observable market inputs may includke tinformation, broker or dealer quotes, bidssrsfbr a combination of these data sources
Short-term accounts receivable and accounts pagableflected in the accompanying consolidateahfinal statements at cost, which
approximates fair value due to the short-term matdithese instruments. Our Term Loan is value@das level 2 inputs. Based on these
calculations, the fair value approximates the dagyalue of the Term Loan and note payable at Béez 31, 2012.

(4) MARKETABLE SECURITIES

A summary of marketable securities is shbelow:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
December 31, 2012
Marketable securitie
U.S. government and municipal obligatic

Maturing in one year or let $ 1556¢ $ 28 % — $ 15,59
Maturing after one year through three ye 19,797 9¢ 1 19,89t
Total U.S. government and municipal
obligations $ 35360 $ 127 $ 1 $ 35,48¢
Corporate debt securitit
Maturing in one year or let $ 17,35 % 23 % 4 $ 17,37
Maturing after one year through three ye 6,19: 14 3 6,20¢
Total corporate debt securiti $ 23,54t $ 37 $ 7 $ 23,57¢
Total marketable securiti¢ $ 58,90¢ $ 164 $ 8 $ 59,06
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(4) MARKETABLE SECURITIES (Continued)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
December 31, 201
Marketable securitie
U.S. government and municipal obligatic

Maturing in one year or let $ 19,99! $ 2C $ — $ 20,01:

Maturing after one year through three ye 10,80¢ 122 6 10,92
Total U.S. government and municipal

obligations $ 30,80: $ 14z $ 6 $ 30,93
Corporate debt securitit

Maturing in one year or let $ 5811 % 3 % 4 $ 5,81¢

Maturing after one year through three ye 4,73( 2 72 4,66(
Total corporate debt securiti $ 10547 $ 5 % 76 $ 10,47¢

©
~I
©~

Total marketable securitie 41,34¢ % 14 82 $ 41,41

The marketable securities held by the Camppeere high investment grade and there were n&etetle securities that the Company
considered to be other-than-temporarily impairedfd3ecember 31, 2012.

(5) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment include the follagvin

December 31, 201, December 31, 201
(In thousands)

Laboratory Equipmer $ 3,16 $ 2,63(
Manufacturing Equipmer 2,05t 1,99¢
Office Furniture and Equipme 1,26¢ 1,314
Leasehold Improvemen 12,93: 13,28(
Construction in Progres 11¢% 24C
Total Property and Equipme 19,53( 19,46
Less Accumulated Depreciation and
Amortization (12,325 (20,370
$ 7,208 3 9,09¢

Depreciation and amortization expense edléd property and equipment was $2.0 million, $8ition and $2.7 million for the years

ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respsactivel
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Intangible assets, net of accumulated awmativn, and goodwill are as follows:

December 31, 201, December 31, 201
Estimated Accumulated Accumulated
Life Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
(In thousands)
Intangible
Assets:
IPR&D Indefinite $ 11,80( $ — $ 11,80 $ 11,80 $ — $ 11,80(
Amgen
Amendm 16year  14,50( (2,915 11,58t  14,50( (2,01 12,48:
Core
Technolc 11 year 1,29¢ (84¢€) 44¢ 1,94¢ (1,307 641
Total
Intangible
Assets $ 2759 $ (3,769 $ 23,830 $ 28,24t $ (3,325 $ 24,92
Goodwill Indefinite $ 8,96 $ — $ 8965 $ 896F $ — $ 8,96¢

The IPR&D intangible asset was recordecdannection with the acquisition of CuraGen andtesldo the development of CDX-011. At
the date of acquisition, CDX-011 had not yet reddeehnological feasibility nor did it have anyeatiative future use. The Company recently
completed a randomized Phase 2b study of CDX-0d théotreatment of advanced breast cancer.

Amortization expense for intangible assets $1.1 million, $1.9 million and $3.1 million ftre years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively. The estimated future amatitin expense of intangible assets for the yaate@&December 31, 2013, 2014, 2015, Z
and 2017 is $1.0 million, $1.0 million, $1.0 miltip$1.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

(7) ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses include the following:

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Accrued Royalty and License Fe $ 1,77¢ $ 1,17¢
Accrued Payroll and Employee Bene 92t 2,14
Accrued Research and Development Contract ( 7,56¢ 3,03¢
Accrued Professional Fe 317 297
Other Accrued Expens: 373 352

$ 10,96( $ 7,00¢
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Other long-term liabilities include the lfoking:

December 31, 201, December 31, 201
(In thousands)

Deferred Ren $ 434 $ 43t
Net Deferred Tax Liability related

IPR&D 4,661 4,661
Deferred Income from Sale of Tax Bene 1,11¢ 51C
Loan Payablt 472 527
Other 39 52

Total 6,72¢ 6,18t
Less Current Portio (38¢) (219)
Long-Term Portior $ 6,33¢ $ 5,96¢

In January 2012 and 2011, the Companyvedepproval from the New Jersey Economic Develagreathority and agreed to sell New
Jersey tax benefits worth $0.8 million and $0.6iorilto an independent third party for $0.7 milliand $0.5 million, respectively. Under the
agreement, the Company must maintain a base oatipes in New Jersey for five years or the tax fiesneust be paid back on a pro-rata
basis based on the number of years completed. @thanyear ended December 31, 2012, the Companydest $0.1 million to other income
related to the sale of these tax benefits.

In December 2003, the Company enteredanéase with the Massachusetts Development Finagebecy whereby the Company recei
a loan to finance the build-out of its manufactgrfacility in Fall River, Massachusetts. Principald interest payments on the loan are due
monthly using an amortization period of 15 yeard smerest accrues at a rate of 5.5% per annumCBbmepany is obligated to repay the
following principal amounts for the loan as follois thousands):

2013 $ 53
2014 60
2015 63
2016 66
2017 70
Thereaftel 16C
Total $ 472

(9) TERM LOAN

In December 2010, the Company enteredaritoan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreemenith MidCap Financial, LLC
pursuant to which the Company borrowed $10 mil(itne "Term Loan") from MidCap. In March 2011, as thompany had anticipated, the
Company amended the Loan Agreement and borrowedditional $5 million from General Electric Capi@brporation to increase the
amount owed under the Term Loan to $15 million.additional advances are available under the Loaeément. The Term Loan accrues
interest at a fixed annual interest rate equah¢ogreater of (i) the sum of (A) the LIBOR Rate de$ined in the Loan Agreement) plus
(B) 6.25%; or (ii) a minimum rate of 9.50%. In Sexpiber 2011, the Company exercised an option todxte interest-only period by
6 months from October 1, 2011 to April 1, 2012March 2012, the Company
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amended the Loan Agreement to extend the matuaiy fiom December 2013 to December 2014 in retwrar upfront fee of $25,000 and an
additional fee of $37,500 (the "Final Payment Fekl® upon repayment of the Term Loan in full. TheerPany is accreting the Final Payment
Fee ratably over the amended term of the Term ltoamterest expense.

Interest on the Term Loan is payable mgndimd principal is due, as amended, in 34 equaexutive monthly installments commencing
on April 1, 2012. All unpaid principal and accruetkerest with respect to the Term Loan is due amghple on the earlier of (A) December 30,
2014 or (B) the date that the Term Loan otherwieoines due and payable under the terms of the Ageeement. The Company may prepay
all, but not less than all, of the Term Loan subje@ prepayment premium of 1% in year three efferm Loan. There is no prepayment
premium if the loan is paid off early in year folihe Company is also obligated to make a paymentf&0.5 million (the "Payment Fee")
upon the earlier of (A) December 30, 2013 or (Bymupepayment of the Term Loan in full prior to Detdeer 30, 2013. The Company is
accreting the Payment Fee ratably over the oriderah of the Term Loan to interest expense.

The obligations of the Company under tharLédgreement are secured by a first priority lipeuand security interest in substantially all
of the Company's existing and after-acquired asegtiduding its intellectual property assets. UnitherLoan Agreement, the Company is
subject to specified affirmative and negative carga customary for financings of this type. The.é@reement provides that, upon the
occurrence of certain specified events of defaust@mary for financings of this type, the Compayhgations under the Loan Agreement
may be automatically accelerated, whereupon thepaosis obligations under the Loan Agreement stealhbmediately due and payable. At
December 31, 2012, the Company believes it is mg@nce with the Loan Agreement.

Interest expense on the Term Loan includiiregaccretion of the Payment Fee and Final Payfemtind amortization of the deferred
financing costs was $1.5 million and $1.6 millian the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 Eatesgly.

The Company is obligated to make princg@tment amounts for the Term Loan (including Payrfe® and Final Payment Fee) of
$5.7 million and $5.8 million for the years endedddmber 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

(10) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

In April 2010, the Company filed a shelfjistration statement with the Securities and Exgea@ommission to register for sale any
combination of the types of securities describethashelf registration statement up to a dollaoam of $150 million. The shelf registration
went effective on April 22, 2010. In December 20tz Company filed a new shelf registration stat@méth the Securities and Exchange
Commission to register for sale any combinatiotheftypes of securities described in the new glkeegitration statement up to a dollar amoun
of $200 million. The new shelf registration wenfieetive on January 16, 2013.

In January 2011, the Company entered irmordrolled equity offering sales agreement (tharitor Agreement”) with Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor") pursuant to which ther@any could issue and sell up to 5,000,000 slwdriés common stock from time to time
through Cantor, acting as agent. During the yeatle@ December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company igs428,000 and 575,000
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shares of common stock under the Cantor Agreemnmehtaised $19.0 million and $2.2 million in net peeds, after deducting commission anc
offering expenses, respectively.

In September 2012, the Company and Camended the Cantor Agreement (the "Cantor Amendmhémtillow the Company to issue
and sell additional shares of its common stockigain aggregate offering price of up to $44.0 omilliUnder the Cantor Amendment, the
Company will pay Cantor a fixed commission rat8@f% of the gross sales price per share of any aamstock sold through Cantor. The
Cantor Amendment terminates upon ten day noticeitier Cantor or the Company. During the year eridecember 31, 2012, the Company
issued 3,578,290 shares under the Cantor Amendmneniaised $21.1 million in net proceeds. Duringuday 2013, the Company issued
2,433,608 shares under the Cantor Amendment aser&i17.1 million in net proceeds. At FebruaryZtg, 3, the Company had $4.4 million
remaining in aggregate offering price availableamtie Cantor Amendment which may be sold uporetpération of the 90-day lock-up with
the underwriters of the Company's underwritten jguliffering in February 2013.

In May 2011, the Company issued 11,5004@0es of its common stock in an underwritten putliiering, including the underwriter's
exercise of their full over-allotment option to pbhase an additional 1,500,000 shares of commok.stbe net proceeds to the Company were
$33.7 million, after deducting underwriting feeslaffering expenses.

During February and March 2012, the Compasyed a total of 12,075,000 shares of its comstock in an underwritten public offering,
including the underwriter's exercise of their fadler-allotment option to purchase an additiona¥V%,600 shares of common stock. The net
proceeds to the Company were $43.4 million, afeztutting underwriting fees and offering expenses.

In February 2013, the Company issued 130@shares of its common stock in an underwripigplic offering, including the
underwriter's exercise of their full over-allotmemition to purchase an additional 1,800,000 shafreemmon stock. The net proceeds to the
Company were $97.0 million, after deducting undéimg fees and offering expenses.

Convertible Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2012, the Company had aiztha 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock all attwhave been designated Class C
Preferred Stock including 350,000 shares which Heaen designated Series C-1 Junior Participatingulative Preferred Stock (the "Series C
1 Preferred Stock™).

Shareholder Rights Plan

The Company's Board has adopted a ShamhRidhts Plan, as set forth in the ShareholdehiRiggreement, as amended, between the
Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.ig#fRAgent (the "Rights Agreement"). Pursuanti® terms of the Rights Agreement,
the Board declared a dividend distribution of onefé&red Stock Purchase Right (a "Right") for eaatstanding share of the Company's
common stock. Each Right, which expires in Noven#t¥r4, entitles their holder to purchase from tieenfany one ten-thousandth of a share
(a "Unit") of Series C-1 Preferred Stock at a casércise price of $35.00 per Unit, subject to anjent. The Rights will trade separately from
the common stock and will become exercisable origrwa person or group has acquired 15% or motgeadutstanding common stock or
upon the commencement by a
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person or group of a tender offer that would resutuch person or group acquiring 15% or moréefdutstanding common stock other thz

a result of repurchases of stock by the Comparogain inadvertent actions by a shareholder. énetfent a person or group acquires 15% or
more of the outstanding common stock each holdarRight (except for any such person or group) ddngl entitled to receive upon exercise
sufficient Units of Series C-1 Preferred Stock qo@ a value of two times the exercise price ofRight. In the event the Company is acquirec
in a merger or other business combination tranmaci if 50% or more of the Company's assets ariegmpower is sold, each holder of a Ri
(except for any such person or group describedgbowuld receive upon exercise common stock oatlgiiring company with a value equal
to two times the exercise price of the Right.

(11) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has the following stock-basmdmensation plans: the 2004 Employee Stock PurdPlase(the "2004 ESPP Plan"), the
2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "200&1B|aCelldex Research's 2005 Equity Incentive Rtha "Celldex Research 2005 Plan”)
CuraGen 2007 Stock Plan (the "CuraGen 2007 Plah§re are no shares available for future grant uthdeCelldex Research 2005 Plan and
CuraGen 2007 Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

At December 31, 2012, a total of 62,500at@&f common stock are reserved for issuance uhde2004 ESPP Plan. Under the 2004
ESPP Plan, each participating employee may purcteses of common stock through payroll deductairespurchase price equal to 85% of
the lower of the fair market value of the commaocktat either the beginning of the offering peravdhe applicable exercise date. During the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Congrugd 5,935 and 6,627 shares under the 2004 EBRPrespectively. A
December 31, 2012, 38,447 shares were availabisfoance under the 2004 ESPP Plan.

Employee Stock Option and Incentive F

The 2008 Plan permits the granting of itisenstock options (intended to qualify as sucharrfdlection 422A of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended), non-qualified stocloaptistock appreciation rights, performance shaits,uestricted stock and other awards of
restricted stock in lieu of cash bonuses to emmsyeonsultants and non-employee directors.

At December 31, 2012, the 2008 Plan allofeeé maximum of 7,400,000 shares of common stodde issued for grants of Stock
Options and other Awards made prior to March 7,82&dd grants of Incentive Stock Options made gdddctober 20, 2017. The Company's
board of directors determines the term of eacloaptiption price, and number of shares for whiatheaption is granted and the rate at which
each option vests. Options generally vest overimg@ot to exceed four years. The term of eacfooptannot exceed ten years (five years for
options granted to holders of more than 10% of/iiteng stock of the Company) and the exercise prfcetock options cannot be less than the
fair market value of the common stock at the déigrant (110% of fair market value for incentivedt options granted to holders of more t
10% of the voting stock of the Company). Vestinglbemployee and non-employee director stock opéiwards is accelerated upon a change
in control as defined in the 2008 Plan.
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A summary of stock option activity for thiear ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Remaining
Price Contractual
Shares Per Share Term (In Years)
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 4,459,03. $ 6.0¢ 6.S
Grantec 1,144,48. $ 5.8¢
Exercisec (52,657 $ 2.8¢
Cancelec (201,05 $ 8.2
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 5,349,811 $§ 5.9¢ 7.C
Options Vested and Expected to Vest at December 3
2012 5,279,98. $ 5.9¢ 6.¢
Options Exercisable at December 31, 2 3,306,46: $§ 6.71 5.7
Shares Available for Grant under the 2008 | 3,352,08.

The total intrinsic value of stock optiageercised during the years ended December 31, 20124, and 2010 was $0.2 million,
$0.03 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Theighted average grant-date fair value of stockomgtgranted during the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $3.67, $1h@3%282, respectively. The total fair value ofcktoptions vested during the years ende

December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $2.1 mil§ar6 million and $2.5 million, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock amioutstanding at December 31, 2012 was $7.50millihe aggregate intrinsic value of stock
options vested and expected to vest at Decemb&032, was $7.4 million. As of December 31, 2018ltoompensation cost related to non-
vested employee and nemployee director stock options not yet recognized approximately $5.2 million, net of estimateddaures, whicl

is expected to be recognized as expense over diedigverage period of 2.9 years.

Restricted Stoc

A summary of restricted stock activity unttee 2008 Plan for the year ended December 312 &0as follows:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Shares (per share)
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, : 6,00C $ 3.24
Granted 12,000 $ 4.5C
Vested (12,000 $ 3.87
Cancelec — —
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, : 6,000 $ 4.5(C
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Valuation and Expenses Information

Stock-based compensation expense for thesyaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 waslescas follows:

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Research and developme $ 1,41t $ 1,412 $ 1,62¢
General and administrati\ 88: 93C 1,17
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,29¢ $ 2,34 $ 2,802

The fair values of employee stock optiorenged during the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2010 were valued using the Black:
Scholes option-pricing model with the following asgptions:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Expected stock price volatilit 70- 72% 68- 70% 65- 67%
Expected option terr 6.0 Years 6.0 Years 6.2 Years
Risk-free interest rat 0.9-1.4% 1.4-2.9% 1.8-3.2%
Expected dividend yiel None None None

(12) REVENUE
A summary of the Company's significant rawe contracts and arrangements follows:
GlaxoSmithKline plc (Glaxo) and Paul Royalty Fuhd.LP. (PRF)

In 1997, the Company licensed its oralviotes strain to Glaxo and Glaxo assumed respoiitgilidr all subsequent clinical trials and all
other development activities. The Company's licdringhe rotavirus strain that was used to devétgxo's Rotarix rotavirus vaccine in 1995
and owes a license fee of 30% to Cincinnati Childrélospital Medical Center (CCH) on net royaltieseived from Glaxo. In May 2005, the
Company entered into an agreement whereby arasdfitif PRF purchased a 70% interest in the nettreyghe Company received on
worldwide sales of Rotarix under the Glaxo Agreemen

In December 2012, a U.S. patent for the @amy's rotavirus strain that the Company license@laxo expired. The Glaxo agreement
terminates automatically upon the expiration, lapsmvalidation of the last relevant patent rigpétent or patent application) covered by the
Glaxo agreement. The only remaining relevant paight is a patent application in Mexico with a jeated final expiry date in May 2013
which is under appeal. The PRF agreement provided hiormal expiry of the PRF agreement on DecerhBeP012 except that the PRF
agreement provides for an exclusive 120-day ridimegotiation for extension in certain circumstasce

The Company's retained interests in Rotagixroyalties which were not sold to PRF are réedras product royalty revenue and a
corresponding amount that is payable to CCH isrdmmbas royalty expense. Product royalty revenderayalty expense related to the
Company's retained interest
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in Rotarix was $10.8 million, $9.1 million and $6wllion for the years ended December 31, 20121241d 2010, respectively.
Pfizer Inc. (Pfizer

In April 2008, the Company and Pfizer eatkinto a License and Development Agreement untdghaPfizer was granted an exclusive
worldwide license to rindopepimut. Under the Pfiagreement, Pfizer made an upfront payment to tmapgany of $40 million and made a
$10 million equity investment in the Company. THe& agreement also provided for reimbursemer®figer of all costs incurred by the
Company in connection with the collaboration sitiee effective date.

In November 2010, the Pfizer agreementteasinated and all rights to rindopepimut were med¢dl to the Company. Pfizer did not
provide a reason for termination. As a result eftérmination, the Company recognized the remaidefgrred revenue related to the Pfizer
agreement to product development and licensingeaggat revenue during the year ended December 30, Zbe Company recorded
$39.9 million in product development and licensaggeement revenue under the Pfizer agreement dilméngear ended December 31, 2010.
The Company incurred and invoiced Pfizer reimbuesabsts related to the Pfizer collaboration oB$@illion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Since the termination of thedPfagreement, Pfizer is no longer funding the ligreent of rindopepimut.

In connection with the Pfizer agreemerg, @ompany paid a total of $6.9 million in sublicerises to Duke University and Thomas
Jefferson University. As a result of the Pfizemaration, the Company recognized the remainingrdediecosts related to the Pfizer agreemen
to royalty expense during year ended December@10Q.2The Company recorded $5.7 million in royakpense related to these deferred
sublicense fees during the year ended Decemb&030,

(13) COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS

The Company has entered into license aggatnwhereby the Company has received licensegtioms to license technology, specified
patents or patent applications. The Company'sdiognand development collaboration agreements géyn@rovide for royalty payments eqt
to specified percentages of product sales, anfagade maintenance fees, continuing patent prasectists and potential future milestone
payments to third parties upon the achievemenedbin developmental, regulatory and/or commermisstones. Nonrefundable license fee
expense was $0.7 million, $1.4 million and $1.0loil for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20812840, respectively.

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

Medarex, a former related party, and thenany have entered into the following agreemeiish ®f which was approved by a majority
of its independent directors who did not have derést in the transaction. These agreements include

. An Assignment and License Agreement, as amendexsigAment and License Agreement) that providethimassignment of
certain patent and other intellectual property tSggmd a license to certain Medarex technologyedlto the Company's APC
Targeting Technology™ and an anti-mannose receggtmuct; and
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. A Research and Commercialization Agreement, as deter{Research and Commercialization Agreement)ptloaides the
Company with certain rights to obtain exclusive coencial licenses to proprietary monoclonal antiesdiaised against certain
antigens utilizing the Medarex UltiMAb technologhatiorm for generating antibodies until Decembet 20

Under the terms of the Assignment and Lseeigreement, the Company may be required to paities in the low-single digits on any
net product sale of a Licensed Royalty-Bearing Beodr Anti-Mannose Product to Medarex until thiefaof (i) the expiration of the last to
expire applicable patent and (ii) the tenth anrsaey of the first commercial sale of such licengeatiuct. Under the terms of the Research an
Commercialization Agreement, the Company may baired to pay milestones of up to $7.0 million upgndtaining first approval for
commercial sale in a first indication of a prodochtaining a licensed antibody and royalty paymentke low- to mid-single digits on any net
product sales to Medarex with respect to the dgwvetnt of any products containing such licensedadies until the later of (i) the expiration
of the last to expire applicable patent and (i@ tbnth anniversary of the first commercial salswath licensed product. In September 2010, the
Company exercised an option under the ResearcRamumercialization Agreement, whereby it licensedrfiViedarex access to the UltiMab
technology to develop and commercialize human adtés to CD27, including CDX-1127.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, the Company and Rockafelhtered into a license agreement for the exausbridwide rights to human DEC-205
receptor, with the right to sublicense the techggld he license grant is exclusive except that Réaller may use and permit other nonprofit
organizations to use the human DEC-205 receptenpaights for educational and research purpodes.Company may be required to pay
milestones of up to $3.9 million upon obtainingfiapproval for commercial sale in a first indioatof a product targeting the licensed rece
and royalty payments in the low- to medhgle digits on any net product sales to Rockefellith respect to development and commercialin
of the human DEC-205 receptor.

Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, the Company and Dulkereatinto a license agreement that gave the Comgizsgss and reference to the clinical
data generated by Duke and its collaborators ierdiat the Company to generate its own filing wifie FDA relating to rindopepimut. The
Company may be required to pay milestone of uplt0 illion upon obtaining first approval for comroil sale in a first indication and
royalty payments in the low-single digits on any pduct sales to Duke with respect to developraedtcommercialization of rindopepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, the Company and Ludwigesd into an agreement for the nonexclusive rightertain cancer tumor targets for use in
combination with the Company's APC Targeting Tedbgy. The term of the agreement is for ten yeane CTompany may be required to pay
milestones of up to $1.0 million upon obtainingfiapproval for commercial sale in a first indioatand royalty payments in the low-single
digits on any net product sales to Ludwig with exgo development and commercialization of théretogy licensed from Ludwig.
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Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, the Company completecattwpuisition of the assets of Alteris, including 88FRvIIl molecule. The Company may be
required to pay Alteris up to $5.0 million upon aloing the first approval for commercial sale gfraduct containing EGFRVIII, including
rindopepimut.

Thomas Jefferson University (TJU)

In connection with our acquisition of thesats of Alteris, the Company obtained the rightsvb exclusive license agreements with TJU
dated February 2003 related to the EGFRvIII tunmtiggn. Under these licenses, the Company mayderesl to pay milestones of up to
$3.0 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication and royalty payrteein the low-single digits on any net
product sales to TJU with respect to developmedtcammercialization of rindopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, the Company enteredanioense agreement with Southampton to developahuantibodies towards CD27, a
potentially important target for immunotherapy afious cancers. The Company may be required tarpi@gtones of up to approximately
$1.4 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication and royalty payrteein the low-single digits on any net
product sales to Southampton with respect to dpweémt and commercialization of CDX-1127

Amgen Inc. (Amget

In March 2009, the Company entered inticenkse agreement with Amgen to acquire the exausghts to CDX-301 and CD40 ligand
(CD40L). CDX-301 and CD40L are immune modulatingecales that increase the numbers and activitynofiine cells that control immune
responses. The Company may be required to paytomles of up to $1.0 million upon obtaining firsipapval for commercial sale in a first
indication and royalty payments in the low-singigits on any net product sales to Amgen with respedevelopment and commercialization
of the technology licensed from Amgen, including>XGB01.

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with the CuraGen acquisitiihie, Company assumed the license agreement betwgaben and Seattle Genetics whereby
CuraGen acquired the rights to proprietary antibddyg conjugate (ADC) technology for use with ther@any's proprietary antibodies for 1
potential treatment of cancer. The Company mayehaired to pay milestones of up to $7.5 million mpdtaining first approval for
commercial sale in a first indication and royalgyments in the mid-single digits on any net prodades to Seattle Genetics with respect to
development and commercialization of the ADC tedbagy, including CDX-011 and CDX-014.
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The components of income tax expense atalide to continuing operations consist of thedfwlhg:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Income tax benefit (provision

Federa $ 19,39« $ 16,200 $ 1,51:
State 4,23 3,131 77¢
Foreign — 84 107
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and Research &
Development Tax Credi (1,426 (411) (13,929
22,20¢ 19,00¢ (11,52¢
Deferred tax valuation allowan: (22,20 (19,009 11,52¢
$ — % — 3 —

A reconciliation between the amount of mpd income tax and the amount computed using tBe Statutory rate of 34% follows:

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Pre-tax loss $ (69,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,539

Loss at Statutory Ratt (20,107 (15,219 (83¢)

Research and Development Crel — (1,73¢) (1,49%)

State Taxe (4,237 (3,13)) (779

Other 70¢ 661 717
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and

Research & Development Tax Crec 1,42¢ 411 13,92¢

Change in Valuation Allowanc 22,20¢ 19,00¢ (11,526

Income tax (benefit) provisic $ — % — $ —

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@gaized based on temporary differences betweefirthecial reporting and tax basis of assets an
liabilities using future expected enacted rategaluation allowance is recorded against deferredssets if it is more likely than not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be wsli
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The principal components of the deferredassets and liabilities at December 31, 2012 &id 2respectively, are as follows:

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
(In thousands)

Gross Deferred Tax Asse

Net Operating Loss Carryforwar $ 67,72¢ $ 58,80:
Tax Credit Carryforward 20,69: 20,28t
Deferred Expense 43,22t 31,00z
Stoclk-based Compensatic 3,26¢ 3,18¢
Fixed Asset: 2,15¢ 2,02¢
Accrued Expenses and Otf 241 197
137,30° 115,49¢

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilitie
Other Acquired Intangible (4,48)) (4,87¢)
IPR&D Intangibles (4,667 (4,667)
(9,147 (9,539
Total Deferred Tax Assets and Liabiliti 128,16! 105,96(
Deferred Tax Assets Valuation Allowan (132,826 (110,62)
Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability $ (4,660 $ (4,661)

The net deferred tax liability of $4.7 ruh at December 31, 2012 and 2011 relates to thpdeary differences associated with the
IPR&D intangible assets acquired in the CuraGemu&égpn, which are not deductible for tax purposes

As of December 31, 2012, the Company heddhowing federal net operating loss ("NOL") odorwards:

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $33ilion was generated by the Company which exptrearious dates
starting in 2023 and going through 2028;

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $20tillion, net of expirations and utilization, wgsnerated by AVANT
which expire at various dates starting in 2018 gwidg through 2028. During the years ended, Dece®be?012 and 2011,
NOLs of $16.4 million and $14.8 million expiredspectively;

. Following the merger of the Company and AVANT, $Bfiillion was generated by the combined companyckvexpire at
various dates starting in 2028 and going througd22@nd

. Prior to its acquisition by the Company, $518.3liol was generated by CuraGen.

In general, an ownership change, as defiyeSection 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, te$wdm transactions increasing the
ownership of certain shareholders or public grdnghe stock of a corporation by more than 50 patiange points over a three-year period.
Such ownership changes can significantly limitahgunt of NOLs that may be utilized in future pdeoThe Company currently expects that
it is remote that the CuraGen NOLs may be utiliaad, as such, no related asset has
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been recorded for such losses. The Company hamyileted an analysis of losses generated by AVANWever, the Company believes i
remote that $60.8 million of the AVANT NOLs may bglized in future periods and there may be suligthlimitations on the Company's
ability to use the remaining NOLs of $40.4 millidfollowing the merger of the Company and AVANT, empany experienced changes in
ownership as defined by Section 382 in June 20@%m@tember 2009. Further, prior to the AVANT merdgke Company as a stand alone
company experienced a change in ownership in Oc2@@/. As a result of the ownership change in B&t®007, utilization of the Compan
NOLs prior to October 2007 is subject to an antiogtation of $4.5 million on $28.3 million of NOLgenerated before that date. As a rest
the ownership changes in June 2009 and Decemb#r #@de is an annual limitation amount of $6.0ionl on $67.7 million NOLs. Any
unused annual limitation may be carried over terlgiears, and the amount of the limitation may eurtekrtain circumstances, be subject to
adjustment if the fair value of the Company's resess are determined to be below or in excessedathbasis of such assets at the time of the
ownership change, and such unrealized loss origa@tognized during the five-year period after dhaership change.

Similar to the AVANT and CuraGen NOL cawogiards above, the Company believes that it ismmte likely than not that federal and
state research and development ("R&D") credits26f.& million and $14.4 million, respectively, wile utilized in the future periods. Further,
the Company's ability to use the state NOLs of appnately $99.2 million and the remaining fedenadlstate R&D credit carryforwards of
approximately $13.8 million and $10.2 million, resfively, may be substantially limited. These std@l_s and federal and state credits expire
at various dates starting in 2013 going throughl2@®e Company has not yet completed a study skthesdits to substantiate the amounts.
Until a study is completed, no amounts are beigggmted as an uncertain tax position.

Subsequent ownership changes, as definBddtion 382, could further limit the amount of nperating loss carryforwards and research
and development credits that can be utilized amyt@bffset future taxable income.

The Company applies the authoritative godgeon account for and disclosure of uncertainip@ome tax positions which requires the
Company to determine whether an income tax posiéfdche Company is more likely than not to be sast@é upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigationgasses, based on the technical merits of the poskor income tax positions meeting the more
likely than not threshold, the tax amount recogairethe financial statements is reduced to thgelsirbenefit that has a greater than fifty
perfect likelihood of being realized upon the ubit® settlement with the relevant taxing autho#tyDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, we had no
unrecognized tax benefits. A full valuation allowarhas been provided against our deferred taxsaasdtliabilities and, if an adjustment is
required, this adjustment would be offset by amusitijient to the valuation allowance. Thus, therelsvba no impact to the consolidated
balance sheet or statement of operations if arsadgnt were required.

Massachusetts, New Jersey and Connectietha three states in which the Company primaxilgrates or has operated and has income
tax nexus. The Company is not currently under eration by any other jurisdictions for any tax year.

The Company has evaluated the positivenagative evidence bearing upon the realizabilititohet deferred tax assets, which are
comprised principally of net operating loss carrwfards, capitalized R&D expenditures and R&D taeditr carryforwards. The Company has
determined that it is more
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(14) INCOME TAXES (Continued)

likely than not that it will not recognize the béiteof federal and state deferred tax assets asd,result, a full valuation allowance was
maintained at December 31, 2012 against the Congparydeferred tax assets.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012svemacted on January 2, 2013 under which the fedesgarch and development credit was
retroactively extended for amounts paid or incuaéidr December 31, 2011 through December 31, ZX&8 effects of the change in the tax
law will be recognized in the first quarter of 2QW&hich is the quarter in which the law was enacted

(15) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has facility and equipmentdeabat expire at various dates through 2017. Desfahese facility leases contain renewal
options, early termination provisions, and provisigchat escalate the base rent payments and relei@ompany to pay common area
maintenance costs ("CAM") during the lease terne Tlompany entered into a letter of credit faciifgh a national U.S. financial institution
which is collateralized by a security deposit toe teased facility in Phillipsburg, New Jersey. Tdwmpany recorded restricted cash related tc
this security deposit of $0.2 million to other assa the consolidated balance sheets at Decenih@032 and December 31, 2011.

The following obligations for base rent &&8M costs under facility and other non-cancelalperating leases as of December 31, 2012
do not include the exercise of renewal terms dyeéarmination provisions (in thousands):

2013 $ 2,59
2014 2,30:
2015 2,36%
2016 2,37¢
2017 1,221
Thereafte! —
Total minimum lease paymer $ 10,85(

The Company's total rent and CAM expensalidacility leases was $2.5 million for the yeanded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 201
(16) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan whichwvailable to substantially all employees. Untlerterms of the 401(k) Plan, participants
may elect to contribute up to 15% of their compé&nsaor the statutory prescribed limits. The Compaay make 50% matching
contributions on up to 4% of a participant's anraadéry. Benefit expense for the 401(k) Plan wag $dllion, $0.2 million and $0.2 million fi
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2&d@katively.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(17) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

2012 Q12012 Q22012 Q32012 Q42012
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 243 $ 200¢ $ 3,11: $ 3,64]
Net loss (13,51¢ (13,779 (15,027 (16,807
Basic and diluted net loss per
common shar (0.27) (0.23) (0.25) (0.27)
2011 Q12011 Q2 2011 Q32011 Q4 2011
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 251¢ $ 195 $ 2367 $ 243
Net loss (10,059 (10,23¢) (12,777 (12,737
Basic and diluted net loss per
common shar (0.31) (0.27) (0.27) (0.29)
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

As of December 31, 2012, we evaluated, thiehparticipation of our Chief Executive OfficardaChief Financial Officer, the effectiven:
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as ddfin Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 8esuExchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the "Exchange Act")). Based on that evaluatiom,@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officconcluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective at the reasonableaas= level as of December 31, 2012. Our disobosantrols and procedures are designe
provide reasonable assurance that information requo be disclosed in the reports that we filsuwsmit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within timegdsrspecified by the SEC's rules and forms, andstieh information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chiefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &gpropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovigiancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisind maintaining adequate internal control aerfinancial reporting. Internal control o\
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15§idal5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as the prodesgned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr, and effected by our board of directors, managnt and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofiaancial reporting and the preparation of anahcial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and includes those policies and procediras t

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inoealsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trengactions and dispositions of
assets;
. provide reasonable assurance that transactione@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures are baadg only in accordance
with the authorizations of management and directond

. provide reasonable assurance regarding the preventtitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of asst
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the paratipn of our management, including our Chief ExeeuOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, v
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofirernal control over financial reporting basedtloa framework provided imternal
Control—Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission. Based on this evalnati
our management concluded that our internal cootret financial reporting was effective as of Decem®l, 2012.
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The effectiveness of our internal contretiofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2012een audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfaiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répehich is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

There were no changes in our internal obiver financial reporting during the three monginsled December 31, 2012 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART 1l
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10lwe included in the definitive Proxy Statement émr 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
or the 2013 Proxy Statement, under "Informationd&edimg the Current Directors and Executive Officefr€elldex Therapeutic, Inc.,"
"Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coamde," "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics" arfte"Board of Directors and Its
Committees" and is incorporated herein by referetiche 2013 Proxy Statement is not filed with ®EEC within 120 days after the end of our
most recent fiscal year, we will provide such imi@tion by means of an amendment to this Annual ReoForm 10-K.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11wk included in the 2013 Proxy Statement undeetfutive Compensation,” and
"Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insideri€ipgtion," and is incorporated herein by referentéhe 2013 Proxy Statement is not fi
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of owstrrecent fiscal year, we will provide such infation by means of an amendment to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12Iwe included in the 2013 Proxy Statement undexctBity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensation IRfarmation” and is incorporated herein by refexe If the 2013 Proxy Statement is
not filed with the SEC within 120 days after thelaf our most recent fiscal year, we will providesl information by means of an amendmen
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13wk included in the 2013 Proxy Statement undée¢ton of Directors" and "Approval of
Related Person Transactions and Transactions weidt& Persons" and is incorporated herein byeaéer. If the 2013 Proxy Statement is not
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endaf most recent fiscal year, we will provide sutformation by means of an amendment to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14wk included in the 2013 Proxy Statement undedépendent Registered Public Accounting
Firm" and is incorporated herein by referencehd&f 2013 Proxy Statement is not filed with the SHEfbiw 120 days after the end of our most
recent fiscal year, we will provide such informatioy means of an amendment to this Annual RepoRarm 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A)  The following documents are filed as part of thisrR 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

The Financial Statements and Supplemeiiatg are included in Part Il Item 8 of this report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules are omitted since the requiririmation is not applicable or is not present ircamts sufficient to require submission of the
schedule, or because the information requireddsidted in the Consolidated Financial Statementdates thereto.

3) Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference tc
Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangemendguidation or Successic
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 8-K 2.1 10/22/07
October 19, 2007, by and among AVANT, Celldex (000-15006)
Merger Corporation, and Celldex Therapeutics,
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 28, 8-K 2.1 5/29/09
2009, by and among Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., (000-15006)
CuraGen Corporation and Cottrell Merger Sub,
Articles of Incorporation and E-Laws
3.1 Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-4 3.1 7/16/98
(333-59215)
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated S-4 3.1 7/16/98
Certificate of Incorporatio (333-59215)
3.2 Second Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated S-4 3.2 7/16/98
Certificate of Incorporatio (333-59215)
3.4 Third Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.1 5/10/02
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.E Fourth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.1 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.€ Fifth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.2 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.7 Sixth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.7 11/10/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.8 Amended and Restated By-Laws as of March 14, 10-K 35 3/18/08
2007 (00C-15006)
Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holc
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate S-3 4.17 4/5/10

(00C-15006)
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Incorporated by Reference tc

Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
4.2 Shareholder Rights Agreement dated November 5, 8-A 4.1 11/8/04
2004 (00C-15006)
4.2 Amendment No. 1 to Shareholder Rights Agreement  8-A/A 10.1  10/22/07
dated October 19, 20( (00C-15006)
4.4 Amendment No. 2 to Shareholder Rights Agreement  8-A/A 10.1 3/7/08
dated March 7, 200 (00C-15006)
4.5 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righ 8-A 3.1 11/8/04
a Series of Preferred Stock classifying and (000-15006)
designating the Series C-1 Junior Participating
Cumulative Preferred Sto«
Material Contract—Leases
10.1 Commercial Lease Agreement of May 1, 1996 10-Q/A 10.11  8/23/96
between the Company and Fourth Avenue Ventures (000-15006)
Limited Partnershij
10.z Extension of Lease Agreement of May 1, 1997 10-K 10.9  3/27/02
between the Company and DIV Needham 53 LLC  (000-15006)
(successor in interest to Fourth Avenue Ventures
Limited Partnership) dated as of August 23, 2
10.2 First Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-K 10.40 3/16/06
Company and DIV Needham 53 LLC dated (000-15006)
November 29, 200
*10.4 Lease Agreement, by and between the Company and 10-Q 10.1  4/30/04
the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency, (000-15006)
dated as of December 22, 2(
10.5 First Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts ~ 10-K/A 10.6  12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated March 17, 20C
10.€ Second Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-K 10.41 3/16/06
Company and the Massachusetts Development (000-15006)
Finance Agency dated as of November 4, 2
10.7 Third Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts 10-K/A 10.7  12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company  (000-15006)
dated December 20, 20
10.¢ Fifth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.8 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated October 3, 20(
10.¢ Sixth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.9 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company  (000-15006)
dated August 20, 20C
10.1C Seventh Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-Q 10.1 8/5/10

Company and the Massachusetts Development (000-15006)
Finance Agency dated as of June 22, 2
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Incorporated by Reference tc

Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
10.11 Lease Agreement dated as of October 21, 2005 k S-4 10.10 1/18/08
between Phillipsburg Associates, L.P. and the (333-148291)
Company.
10.1z First Amendment to Lease between Phillipsburg 10-Q/A 10.1  12/23/10
Associates, L.P. and the Company dated October 11(000-15006)
2010
10.1: Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment 10-Q/A 10.2 12/23/10
Agreement between Bank of America and the (000-15006)

Company dated October 11, 2C

Material Contract—License, Collaboration, Supply and Distribution Agment:

*10.14

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1%

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

*10.21

*10.22

*10.23

*10.24

10.2¢

License Agreement between the Company and 10-K 10.20  3/28/00
SmithKline Beecham PLC dated as of December 1, (000-15006)
1997

Amendment Agreement, dated January 9, 2003, 10-K/A 10.21  9/12/03
between the Company and SmithKline Beecham (00C-15006)

License and Clinical Trials Agreement, effectiveod 10-K/A 10.23 9/12/03
February 27, 1995, between the Company and the (000-15006)
James N. Gamble Institute of Medical Rese:

Amendment Agreement between Cincinnati 10-K/A 10.10 12/23/10
Children's Hospital Medical Center and the Company(000-15006)
dated November 17, 20(

License Agreement, dated as of November 25, 1988, 10-K/A 10.28 9/12/03
by and among The Johns Hopkins University, (000-15006)

Brigham and Women's Hospital and the Comg

Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2005, by 8-K 10.1  5/18/05
and between the Company and PRF Vaccine (000-15006)

Holdings LLC

Amendment Agreement to Purchase Agreement 8-K 10.1  3/15/06
between the Company and PRF Vaccine (000-15006)

Holdings LLC, dated as of March 14, 2C

Exclusive License Agreement dated February 1, 2003  S-4 10.1  1/18/08
by and between Thomas Jefferson University and thé333-148291)
Company

Amendment to License Agreement between Thomas 10-K/A 10.12 12/23/10
Jefferson University and the Company dated (000-15006)

March 27, 200¢

License Agreement dated as of November 1, 2005 by S-4 10.2  1/18/08

and between The Rockefeller University and the (333-148291)
Company

License Agreement dated September 1, 2006 by and  S-4 10.3  1/18/08
between Duke University and the Comp: (333-148291)
Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.5 12/23/10
University and the Company dated April 2, 2( (00C-15006)
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Incorporated by Reference tc
Form and Exhibit SEC
No Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date

*10.2€ License Agreement between Duke University, The 10-K/A 10.11 12/23/10
Johns Hopkins University and the Company dated (000-15006)
December 31, 20C

*10.27 Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.13 12/23/10
University, The Johns Hopkins University and the  (000-15006)
Company dated April 2, 20(

*10.28 Assignment and License Agreement, as amended, S-4 10.4  1/18/08
dated April 6, 2004 by and among Medarex, Inc.,  (333-148291)
GenPharm International, Inc. and the Comp

*10.2¢ Research and Commercialization Agreement, as S-4 10.5 1/18/08
amended, dated as of April 6, 2004 by and among (333-148291)
Medarex, Inc., GenPharm International, Inc. and the

Company

*10.3C Supply Agreement dated August 18, 2006 by and S-4 10.9  1/18/08
between the Company and Bios (333-148291)

*10.31 Research Collaboration and Commercialization 10-K 10.45  3/2/09

Agreement effective October 20, 2006 between the (000-15006)
Company and the Ludwig Institute for Cancer
Researcl

*10.32 Exclusive Patent and Know-How License Agreement  10-K 10.47  3/2/09
dated as of November 5, 2008 between the Company000-15006)
and the University of Southampt

*10.32 License and Assignment Agreement, between 10-K/A 10.1  12/23/10
Amgen Inc. and the Company dated March 16, - (00C-15006)

*10.34 Collaboration Agreement dated June 18, 2004 10-K 10.27 3/12/10
between Seattle Genetics and Cura (00C-15006)

*10.35 Second Restated Collaboration Agreement dated 10-K 10.28 3/12/10

April 12, 2004 and amended October 19, 2004 (000-15006)
between Abgenix Inc. and CuraG

10.3¢ Amgen Letter Agreement, by and between CuraGen  10-K 10.29 3/12/10
and Amgen Fremont, Inc. dated May 2, 2! (00C-15006)
*10.37 Transfer and Termination Agreement, dated as of 10-K 10.30 3/12/10
April 21, 2008 by and between TopoTarget A/S and (000-15006)
CuraGer
*10.38 License Agreement between Medarex and Company 10-Q/A 10.3 12/23/10
dated September 17, 20 (00C-15006)
10.3¢ Master Services Agreement dated March 29, 2010 by 10-Q 10.2  11/3/11

and between the Company and Prologue Research (000-15006)
International, Inc. (Prologue

10.4C Amendment to Master Services Agreement dated 10-Q 10.3 11/3/11
July 6, 2011 by and between the Company and (000-15006)
Novella Clinical Inc. (formerly known as Prologt
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Incorporated by Reference tc

Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
Material Contract—Stock Purchase, Financing and Credit Agreem
10.41 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of 8-K 10.1.1  1/6/11
December 30, 2010, by and among Celldex (000-15006)
Therapeutics, Inc., Celldex Research Corporatiah an
MidCap Financial, LLC
10.4z Promissory Note issued by Celldex Therapeutics, 8-K 10.1.z 1/6/11
and Celldex Research Corporation to MidCap (000-15006)
Financial, LLC.
10.4: Joinder and First Loan Modification Agreement, 10-K 10.53  3/9/11

dated as of March 7, 2011, by and among Celldex (000-15006)
Therapeutics, Inc., Celldex Research Corporation,

MidCap Funding V, LLC and General Electric

Capital Corporatior

10.4¢ Promissory Note issued by Celldex Therapeutics, 10-K 10.54  3/9/11
and Celldex Research Corporation to General E&¢  (000-15006)
Capital Corporatior

10.4t Second Loan Modification Agreement, dated as of 8-K 10.1 3/7/12
March 2, 2012, by and among Celldex (000-15006)
Therapeutics, Inc., Celldex Research Corporation,
MidCap Funding V, LLC and General Electric
Capital Corporatior

10.4¢ Sales Agreement, dated January 6, 2011, between 8-K 10.1.2  1/6/11
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and Cantor (000-15006)
Fitzgerald & Co

10.47 Amendment No. 1 to Sales Agreement, dated 8-K 10.1  9/24/12
January 6, 2011, between Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.(000-15006)
and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., dated September 20,

2012

Material Contract—Management Contracts and Compensatory P

1t10.4¢ 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended 8-K 10.1 6/14/12
and restate (00C-15006)

110.4¢ 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amende 10-K 10.35 3/12/10
restatec (00C-15006)

110.5( Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2 8-K 10.1  12/21/12
by and between the Company and Anthony S. (000-15006)
Marucci

t10.5. Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K 10.2  12/21/12
by and between the Company and Avery W. Ci (00C-15006)

110.5. Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K 10.3 12/21/12
by and between the Company and Thomas Davis  (00C-15006)

110.5: Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2 8-K 10.4 12/21/12
by and between the Company and Tibor Keler, P (00C-15006)

110.5¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K 10.5 12/21/12
by and between the Company and Ronald A. Pepin, (000-15006)
Ph.D.

110.5¢ Form of Stock Option Agreement 8-K 10.1  1/25/10

(00C-15006)
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Incorporated by Reference tc

Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
110.5¢ CuraGen 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, amended and 10-K 10.41 3/12/10
restatec (00C-15006)
110.57 Form of Restricted Stock Award 10-K 10.42 3/12/10
(00C-15006)
21.C List of Subsidiaries Filed
herewith
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Filed
Independent Registered Public Accounting F herewith
31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive ©¢dfi Filed
herewith
31.2 Certification of Senior Vice President and Chief Filed
Financial Officer herewith
32 Section 1350 Certifications Furnished
herewith

+101 XBRL Instance Documer
+10z XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

+10% XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

+104 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

+105 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

+10€ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

* Confidential treatment has been requested foricgptavisions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 22lpromulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

T Indicates a management contract or compensgléon contract or arrangement.

+ The XBRL information is being furnished and noedifor purposes of Section 18 of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 193¢
as amended, and is not incorporated by referertoaity registration statement under the Secutetof 1933, as
amended
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI
Date Anthony S. Marucc
March 8, 201: President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidny the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datéisated.

Signature Title. Date
/s ANTHONY S. MARUCCI President, Chief Executive Officer, and
Director March 8, 2013
Anthony S. Marucc (Principal Executive Officer
/sl AVERY W. CATLIN Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer
Avery W. Catlin (Principal Financial and Accounting March 8, 2013

Officer)

/s/ LARRY ELLBERGER Director, Chairman of the Board of

March 8, 2013

Larry Ellberger Directors
/sl HERBERT J. CONRAD
Director March 8, 2013
Herbert J. Conra
/sl GEORGE O. ELSTON
Director March 8, 2013
George O. Elsto
/sl HARRY H. PENNER, JR.
Director March 8, 2013
Harry H. Penner, J
/s/ TIMOTHY M. SHANNON, M.D.
Director March 8, 2013
Timothy M. Shannon, M.C
/s/ KAREN L. SHOOS
Director March 8, 2013

Karen L. Shoo!
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Exhibit 21.0
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name State of Incorporation
Celldex Research Corporati Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{l$s8. 333-182142, 333-151728, 333-
117602 and 333-162423) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 3589%and 333-185647) of Celldex Therapeutics,dhour report dated March 8, 2013
relating to the financial statements and the effeoess of internal control over financial repogtimhich appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 8, 2013
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony S. Marucci, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13:
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ovealfficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the @gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temaruation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of alezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiélat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
[, Avery W. Catlin, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13:
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ovealfficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the @gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temaruation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of alezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiélat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifiesspant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted aot$a Section 906 of the Sarbar@sley Aci
of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of CelldeéheTapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"), that, to hiswlealge, the Annual Report of the Company
on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, Z6H2"Form 10-K"), fully complies with the requiments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. §78m8u(d)) and that the information contained in stegort fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapons of the Company. This written statemebeisg furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Form 18-Kigned original of this statement has been pledito the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Séesiand Exchange Commission or its staff uponesgu

Date: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

This certification shall be not be deemfé@d” for any purpose, nor shall it be deemedédrxrorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Ac
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